# **Distribution Agreement**

In presenting this thesis or dissertation as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for an advanced degree from Emory University, I hereby grant to Emory University and its agents the non-exclusive license to archive, make accessible, and display my thesis or dissertation in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter known, including display on the world wide web. I understand that I may select some access restrictions as part of the online submission of this thesis or dissertation. I retain all ownership rights to the copyright of the thesis or dissertation. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis or dissertation.

Signature:

Mohammed Abdul Basit Khan

Date

Trends in coccidioidomycosis incidence in Arizona, 1998–2017:

Surveillance changes, weather, and land use

By

Mohammed Abdul Basit Khan, M.S.P.H. Doctor of Philosophy

Epidemiology

Anne C. Spaulding, M.D., M.P.H. Advisor

Heidi E. Brown, Ph.D., M.P.H. Committee Member

Timothy L. Lash, D.Sc., M.P.H. Committee Member

> Lance A. Waller, Ph.D. Committee Member

> > Accepted:

Lisa A. Tedesco, Ph.D. Dean of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies

Date

Trends in coccidioidomycosis incidence in Arizona, 1998–2017: Surveillance changes, weather, and land use

By

Mohammed Abdul Basit Khan M.S.P.H., Johns Hopkins University, 2010 B.A., University of California, Berkeley, 2008

Advisor: Anne C. Spaulding, M.D., M.P.H.

# An abstract of

A dissertation submitted to the Faculty of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies at Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Epidemiology

2020

## Abstract

Trends in coccidioidomycosis incidence in Arizona, 1998–2017: Surveillance changes, weather, and land use By Mohammed Abdul Basit Khan

Coccidioidomycosis is an infectious disease caused by inhalation of spores from *Coccidioides* spp., soil-dwelling fungi endemic in deserts of the Americas. Two-thirds of all cases reported in the United States occur among people living in three counties in central and southern Arizona. Since mandatory laboratory reporting began in 1997, rates of reported disease have increased five-fold. This dissertation examined the impact of surveillance changes on trends in reported coccidioidomycosis and assessed relationships between weather, land use change, and disease incidence.

Reporting and testing changes associated with the *Coccidioides* enzyme immunoassay at a commercial laboratory caused marked changes in case counts and complicate the interpretation of trends. I estimated bias-adjusted incidence trends in three Arizona counties using probabilistic bias analysis. Bias parameters were estimated from surveillance data and a validation study. Bias-adjusted rates of reported coccidioidomycosis in these three counties were 25% to 47% lower than observed rates. The adjusted average annual percent change in incidence ranged from 5% to 8%.

Weather-related phenomena are thought to influence the growth of *Coccidioides* and dispersal of spores. I estimated associations between environmental factors (precipitation, air temperature, wind speed, airborne particulate concentration) and incidence and attempted to address methodological issues (changes in surveillance, temporal aggregation of case counts, heterogeneity among reported cases) arising in modeling these relationships. I found positive correlations between one- to two-year lagged winter precipitation, preceding average temperature, and monthly incidence rate. Results were consistent across crude and bias-adjusted analyses and did not change meaningfully using seasonal rates and cases aged 65 years and older.

Residential development in native desert has been hypothesized to increase incidence. I examined the relationship between land development and 2017 census tract incidence. Land development was measured as proportion of structures built after 2010 and remotely sensed development of native desert. Bayesian spatially varying coefficient models were used to estimate associations between land development and incidence. Greater land development was weakly associated (RR 1.04 95%, CrI: 1.01, 1.07) with higher incidence.

Collectively, these studies advance the epidemiology of coccidioidomycosis by more accurately estimating incidence trends and informing efforts by public health agencies to understand coccidioidomycosis risk.

Trends in coccidioidomycosis incidence in Arizona, 1998–2017: Surveillance changes, weather, and land use

By

Mohammed Abdul Basit Khan M.S.P.H., Johns Hopkins University, 2010 B.A., University of California, Berkeley, 2008

Advisor: Anne C. Spaulding, M.D., M.P.H.

A dissertation submitted to the Faculty of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies at Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Epidemiology

2020

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I am deeply grateful to my dissertation committee for their constant support of this project. I could not have completed it without their patient stewardship. I want to thank Dr. Spaulding, my advisor, for her encouragement and help from even before I joined the program. I benefitted from the instruction and mentorship of many other faculty members in the Department of Epidemiology, all of whom were generous with their time and attention. The Epidemiology PhD Program Directors and ADAPs were always willing to lend a sympathetic ear and guide me through this process. My journey would have been much more difficult without my classmates at Emory. From coursework to brainstorming during the proposal and dissertation phases, their help and camaraderie was an invaluable component of my education. I also owe a huge debt of gratitude to colleagues and mentors at the Arizona Department of Health Services: Shane Brady, Laura Erhart, and Ken Komatsu. Their strong support and collaboration, manifested over many phone calls, long e-mails, and careful manuscript edits, was critical to this project.

Most importantly, I want to thank my family. My gracious in-laws have been understanding and supportive throughout the lengthy course of this work. My wonderful sisters each guided me in unique ways, problem solving and listening to my frustrations with affection and much-needed humor. My parents have always supported and encouraged all of my educational endeavors; I would be lost without them. Finally, I thank my wife Nida for her steadfast love and support.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER 1: BACKGROUND	1
CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW	28
CHAPTER 3: BIAS-ADJUSTED TRENDS IN REPORTED COCCIDIOIDOMYCOSIS INCIDENCE IN ARIZONA, 1998–2017	50
CHAPTER 4: METHODOLOGICAL ISSUES IN UNDERSTANDING THE RELATIONSH BETWEEN WEATHER AND COCCIDIOIDOMYCOSIS INCIDENCE IN ARIZONA	
CHAPTER 5: LAND DEVELOPMENT AND REPORTED COCCIDIOIDOMYCOSIS INCIDENCE IN CENTRAL AND SOUTHERN ARIZONA	110
CHAPTER 6: CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS	128
REFERENCES1	137

# LIST OF TABLES

Table 2-1. Summary of climate and coccidioidomycosis studies in Arizona
Table 3-S1. Missing data and imputation strategies by time period and analysis67
Table 3-S2. Bias parameter estimates from multi-laboratory study of <i>Coccidioides</i> EIA    reproducibility
Table 3-S3. Demographics of EIA+ only at Lab A before and after EIA test kit change69
Table 3-S4. Demographic stratum-specific prevalence of EIA only at Lab A before and after       EIA test kit change
Table 3-S5. Demographic stratum-specific test result pattern prevalence, June 2012–November    2012
Table 3-S6. Probability lab A was the testing laboratory given test result pattern, June 2012–       November 2012
Table 4-1. Description statistics for monthly coccidioidomycosis incidence and environmentalfactors in Maricopa and Pima counties, 1998 – 2017
Table 4-2. Correlations between for adjusted monthly coccidioidomycosis incidence and composite environmental variables in Maricopa and Pima counties, 1998 – 2017108
Table 5-1. Descriptive characteristics of included census tracts in Maricopa, Pima, and Pinal counties
Table 5-2. Adjusted incidence rate ratios for the associations between land developmentmeasures and reported coccidioidomycosis incidence in 2017
Table 5-S1 Unadjusted associations between potential confounders and census tract-specific       rate of reported coccidioidomycosis in 2017

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1-1. Life cycle of <i>Coccidioides</i> 2
Figure 1-2. Areas endemic for coccidioidomycosis
Figure 2-1. Seasonality of reported coccidioidomycosis in Arizona, 1998–2016
Figure 3-1. Reported coccidioidomycosis case counts and rates by county, 1998–201762
Figure 3-2a. Weekly reported coccidioidomycosis before and after Lab A reporting change by county, March–August 2009
Figure 3-2b. Weekly reported count of EIA IgM+ only at Lab A, EIA IgG+ only at Lab A, and other cases before and after the EIA test kit change, June 2012–March 2013
Figure 3-3a. Crude and median bias-adjusted rates and 95% uncertainty intervals by county Counterfactual (1)
Figure 3-3b. Crude and median bias-adjusted rates and 95% uncertainty intervals by county Counterfactual (2)
Figure 3-S1a. Percent EIA+ only at Lab A by age: Before EIA test kit change (June 2012– November 2012)
Figure 3-S1b. Percent EIA+ only at Lab A by age: Before EIA test kit change (November 2012– December 2017)
Figure 3-S2a. Crude and median bias-adjusted mean age and percent male, 1998–2017 - Counterfactual (1)
Figure 3-S2b. Crude and median bias-adjusted mean age and percent male, 2010–2017- Counterfactual (2)
Figure 4-1a. Correlation heat maps for adjusted coccidioidomycosis incidence by calendar month and 0–24-month lagged environmental factors in Maricopa County, 1998 – 2017
Figure 4-1b. Correlation heat maps for adjusted coccidioidomycosis incidence by calendar month and 0–24-month lagged environmental factors in Pima County, 1998 – 201790
Figure 4-2. Season-trend decomposition for adjusted monthly coccidioidomycosis incidence and environmental factors in Maricopa and Pima counties, 1998 – 2017
Figure 4-3. Predicted vs. observed adjusted coccidioidomycosis incidence in Maricopa and Pima counties, 2003 – 2017
Figure 4-S1. Cross-correlation plots for adjusted coccidioidomycosis incidence and environmental factors in Maricopa and Pima counties, 1998 – 2017
Figure 4-S2. Correlation heat maps for adjusted coccidioidomycosis incidence by meteorological season and 0–8-season lagged environmental factors in Maricopa and Pima counties, 1998 –
2017

Figure 4-S3a. Correlation heat maps for unadjusted coccidioidomycosis incidence by calendar month and 0–24-month lagged environmental factors in Maricopa County, 1998 – 2017
Figure 4-S3b. Correlation heat maps for unadjusted coccidioidomycosis incidence by calendar month and 0–24-month lagged environmental factors in Pima County, 1998 – 2017101
Figure 4-S4a. Correlation heat maps for coccidioidomycosis incidence among persons 65 years and older by calendar month and 0–24-month lagged environmental factors in Maricopa County, 1998 – 2017
Figure 4-S4b. Correlation heat maps for coccidioidomycosis incidence among persons 65 years and older by calendar month and 0–24-month lagged environmental factors in Pima County, 1998 – 2017
Figure 5-1. Directed acyclic graph for the relationship between land development and coccidioidomycosis incidence
Figure 5-2a–c. Choropleth maps of census tract rate of reported coccidioidomycosis and land development measures by quintile
Figure 5-S1. Choropleth map of census tract percent of the population aged 65 years or older by quintile, 2017
Figure 5-S2. Choropleth map of census tract percent of the population living below the federal poverty line by quintile, 2017
Figure 5-S3. Choropleth map of census tract percent of the population moved to present housing unit after 2010 by quintile, 2017

#### **CHAPTER 1: BACKGROUND**

#### **Biology of** *Coccidioides*

Coccidioidomycosis, also known as Valley fever, is an infectious disease caused by *Coccidioides* ('resembling Coccidia') spp., soil-dwelling fungi endemic to parts of the Americas. *C. immitis* and *C. posadasii* cause human and animal infections.<sup>1</sup> These fungi have a complex life cycle and can switch between saprobic and parasitic phases (Figure 1-1).<sup>2</sup> The presumed saprobic stage is primarily found in the environment. During this stage, the fungi produce divided hyphae one to two microns in diameter, which become cylindrical two by five micron structures called arthroconidia.<sup>3</sup> These structures are separated by "empty, degenerate cells" that are easily disrupted and released into the environment.<sup>3</sup> Arthroconidia can spread the fungus in the environment and have slow settling rates, allowing them to remain airborne for long periods of time.<sup>2</sup>

The parasitic form occurs inside the host. Infection has been documented in many different animal species, ranging from sea mammals to primates.<sup>3</sup> Infection occurs upon inhalation of airborne arthroconidia. The minimum infectious dose is unknown, but as few as 10 arthroconidia can cause infection in laboratory mice.<sup>3</sup> The arthroconidia, in response to cues in the host milieu such as  $CO_2$  levels and the activity of neutrophils, transforms into a larger multinucleate structure called a spherule.<sup>3</sup> Spherules internally subdivide and burst to release endospores, which can spread and infect surrounding tissue. The endospores grow into spherules, repeating the cycle of infection.<sup>2</sup>



Figure 1-1. Life cycle of Coccidioides

Source: Lewis ERG, Bowers JR, Barker BM (2015) Dust Devil: The Life and Times of the Fungus That Causes Valley Fever. PLOS Pathogens 11(5): e1004762. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1004762. Licensed under Creative Commons (CC) Attribution 4.0 International License.

The range and ecological niche of *Coccidioides* in the environment is unclear. Range and endemicity have primarily been defined through detection of infections or evidence of immunity in humans and domestic and wild animals (Figure 1-2). *Coccidioides* are found in the top 10–30 cm of sandy, porous soil<sup>4</sup> in deserts characterized by hot summers, mild winters, and 10–50 cm of annual rainfall.<sup>5</sup> The distribution of fungi in soil appears to be highly focal with most soil samples testing negative.<sup>6,7</sup> Determinants of its distribution in soil are not well-understood. The fungus requires moist soil to grow. In dry conditions, hyphae desiccate and mature into

arthroconidia. The organism does not appear to thrive in cultivated soil (i.e., agricultural land), possibly due to increased competition with other microbes.<sup>8</sup>

Some authors have speculated that rodents are the primary hosts of *Coccidioides*, but definitive evidence is lacking.<sup>9</sup> Comparative genetic analysis of *Coccidioides* and related fungi noted expansions for gene families (e.g., keratin degradation and toxin production) linked to survival in mammals and loss of genes for decomposition of plant tissue, suggesting adaptation to infect mammals.<sup>10</sup> Soils near rodent burrows have tested positive for *Coccidioides*<sup>2,11–13</sup> and wild rodents have tested positive for infection.<sup>12,14</sup> *Coccidioides* has also been recovered in the soil after burial of infected animal tissues.<sup>3</sup>

In Arizona, most cases of coccidioidomycosis are thought to be caused by *C. posadasii*, whereas *C. immitis* predominates in California.<sup>15</sup> *C. posadasii* was only recognized as a separate species in 2002 based on genetic analyses; the species are indistinguishable without genetic testing.<sup>16</sup> *C. immitis* has been found in the San Joaquin Valley of California, Utah, and eastern Washington state, while *C. posadasii* has been found in Arizona, New Mexico, western Texas, northern Mexico, and parts of Central and South America.<sup>2,17</sup> Differences in temperature and salt tolerance between species have been documented, but systematic differences in virulence by species have not been observed.<sup>2</sup> However, strain-specific variation in virulence and immune response has been shown in the laboratory.<sup>2</sup> Morphological variation by strain and species has also been documented in cultures.<sup>18</sup> Genetic sequencing studies have also revealed a complex, diverse population structure and identified signs of sexual reproduction and hybridization between species through an unknown mechanism.<sup>17,19</sup> *C. posadasii* appears to be the older species.<sup>17</sup>

Genetic studies are limited by a lack of environmental samples: methods to isolate and genetically characterize strains in soil and air have only been developed recently. Past analyses relied upon clinical isolates obtained from humans and animals or soil passed through mice.<sup>2</sup> Most clinical isolates have a unique genotype.<sup>20</sup> Recent studies have detected airborne *Coccidioides* DNA using air sampling<sup>21</sup> and found variation<sup>22</sup> in estimated arthroconidia concentration by location and season in the Phoenix metropolitan area.



Figure 1-2. Areas endemic for coccidioidomycosis Source: CDC<sup>23</sup>

# **Coccidioidomycosis in Humans**

# Clinical Course

*Coccidioides* were first found to infect humans by Alejandro Posadas, a medical intern who examined skin lesions in an Argentine soldier in Buenos Aires in 1892.<sup>24</sup> The pathogen was

initially thought to be a protozoan and assumed to cause lethal granulomatous disease. The first case in the United States was documented in California. Seminal studies of pathogenesis and epidemiology were conducted in the early twentieth century. A medical student at Stanford University was exposed to spores from a *Coccidioides* culture in the laboratory and became ill with pneumonia. His subsequent recovery and sputum culture suggested *Coccidioides* could cause non-lethal illness. Later studies in the 1930s and '40s established that, in addition to lethal, disseminated disease, *Coccidioides* caused San Joaquin Valley fever, a previously described syndrome, and that infection was associated with inhalation of dust.<sup>24</sup>

Much of our knowledge about the natural history of coccidioidomycosis comes from studies of U.S. military personnel in the San Joaquin Valley during World War II by Charles E. Smith et al.<sup>25</sup> Testing and examination of airmen revealed that 60% of infections were asymptomatic.<sup>26</sup> The remainder progress to respiratory illnesses with a broad spectrum ranging from influenza- or pneumonia-like febrile illness (symptoms include cough, chest pain, shortness of breath, night sweats, fatigue, arthralgias, myalgias, and rash, particularly erythema nodosum) and severe pneumonia to acute respiratory failure.<sup>27</sup> Smith et al. estimated that 25% of all infections were "clinically important" and severe enough to result in missing work.<sup>25</sup> The incubation period is estimated to be one to four weeks.<sup>28</sup> Most patients with acute primary pulmonary coccidioidomycosis recover without treatment within weeks or months.<sup>29,30</sup> However, even patients with mild disease may have fatigue or cough for up to six months.<sup>31</sup> Complications of pulmonary disease include pleural effusion and cavitary disease.<sup>29,30</sup> A small, unknown proportion of patients develop chronic pulmonary disease. Residual signs of infection (i.e., nodules, cavities) are frequently noted on chest radiography in recovered patients, even after asymptomatic infection.<sup>27</sup> Infection results in lasting immunity except when the cellular immune

response is already severely impaired (e.g., in AIDS patients or in organ transplant recipients).<sup>32</sup> Larger doses of arthroconidia may result in more severe respiratory illness.<sup>33</sup>

In less than one percent of infections, there is lymphatic or hematogenous spread to sites outside the thoracic cavity.<sup>34</sup> Dissemination generally occurs within months of infection, but infections years or even decades after exposure have been observed; preceding respiratory illness is often not noted or recalled.<sup>26</sup> Common sites of dissemination are the central nervous system, bones, joints, and skin, but infections have been documented in nearly all organ systems.<sup>30</sup> Impaired cellular immunity (e.g., due to HIV or immunosuppressive therapy, particularly for organ transplant), Black race, male sex, pregnancy, and possibly Filipino, Hispanic and American Indian race and ethnicity are risk factors for the spread of infection outside the thoracic cavity ('disseminated disease').<sup>34</sup> Other rare inherited immunogenetic defects have also been associated with severe disease.<sup>35</sup> Disseminated disease requires antifungal treatment, often prolonged. Coccidioidal meningitis is fatal without treatment and generally requires lifelong treatment.<sup>36</sup>

The immune response to coccidioidal infection is complex and not fully understood.<sup>1,32</sup> Early studies identified immune responses to tube precipitin (TP) antigen, composed of fungal cell wall polysaccharide, and complement fixation (CF) antigen, composed of fungal chitinase. Though weak cross-reactivity may occur, TP antigen predominantly reacts with immunoglobulin M (IgM) and CF antigen predominantly reacts with immunoglobulin G (IgG). TP antibodies develop earlier in illness than CF antibodies.<sup>37</sup> Ninety percent of patients with primary pulmonary coccidioidomycosis studied in the 1940s had detectable IgM antibody by week three of illness, and reactivity faded in 96% of patients by month seven.<sup>37</sup> IgG antibody appears later in the course of illness and can be quantitated and tracked to provide information about the severity and course of infection. <sup>37</sup> Both IgM and IgG antibodies can reappear and persist in disseminated or chronic infections. <sup>37</sup> Cellular immunity develops in most immunocompetent patients. A T-cell response, especially Th1 and Th17 cells, is required for immunity to develop.<sup>38</sup> The role of humoral immunity is unclear.<sup>39</sup> Reinfections have not been documented. Reactivation of a latent infection is possible in patients who become severely immunosuppressed (e.g., due to AIDS and antirejection therapy for organ transplant recipients).<sup>32</sup> Attempts to develop a human vaccine have been unsuccessful to date, although candidates have successfully protected laboratory animals from infection.<sup>38</sup>

Diagnosis of coccidioidomycosis is rarely possible without laboratory testing, which may include culture, histopathology, polymerase chain reaction, dermal hypersensitivity test, and/or serology.<sup>29</sup> Culture or histopathologic evidence of infection is diagnostic. The skin test, recently re-introduced to the U.S. market, elicits a delayed-type hypersensitivity reaction in response to the injection of an antigen. A response is associated with the development of durable immunity.<sup>37</sup> Antigen-based tests are also available,<sup>40</sup> though not widely used.<sup>30</sup> Serological tests include enzyme immunoassay (EIA), tube precipitin, latex agglutination, quantitative and qualitative immunodiffusion, and complement fixation. Serological tests detect the host immune response to infection in body fluids such as serum and cerebrospinal fluid. Detection of antibodies may indicate current infection (symptomatic and asymptomatic) or past infection or may be falsely positive (e.g., due to cross-reactivity to histoplasmosis or other illness).<sup>41</sup> Antibodies can also be detected in cerebrospinal fluid and other body fluids.<sup>37</sup> Asymptomatic infections can be detected primarily via the skin test, though a small proportion (~7%) of patients may also be seropositive.<sup>37</sup> Infection cannot be ruled out by seronegative test results alone.<sup>37</sup>

EIA kits are likely more sensitive than immunodiffusion, complement fixation, and tube precipitin<sup>37</sup> and may detect antibodies earlier in infection.<sup>42,43</sup> Some commercial EIA kits use proprietary antigens. Immunodiffusion and complement fixation are more labor intensive and time-consuming, and require more technical expertise than EIA.<sup>28,41</sup> The EIA involves spectrophotometric readings to measure optical density and interpreting the values based on cutoffs provided by the manufacturers.<sup>41</sup> A result can be interpreted as positive, indeterminate, or negative. In some reference laboratories (e.g., 'Lab A'), specimens are first tested by EIA and then, if positive, tested by immunodiffusion and complement fixation.<sup>44</sup>

## Epidemiology of Coccidioidomycosis in Arizona

The first case of coccidioidomycosis in Arizona was described in 1938.<sup>45</sup> In Arizona, coccidioidomycosis cases have been reported the Arizona Department of Health Services (ADHS) since the 1950's. It is one of the most frequently reported infectious diseases in Arizona, exceeded only by influenza, chlamydia, and gonorrhea. Approximately two-thirds of all nationally reported coccidioidomycosis cases between 1998 and 2017 occurred among Arizona residents.

#### Incidence

Estimating the incidence of coccidioidomycosis is challenging for several reasons. First, an unknown proportion of the population is immune due to previous infection with *Coccidioides* and is thus not at risk. It is also unknown whether this fraction has changed substantially over time. Second, surveillance changes, which are discussed in detail in Chapters 2 and 3, dramatically affected case counts and complicate the interpretation of trends. Case reports appear to have increased independently of surveillance changes as well. Finally, most infections are asymptomatic or mild, and patients with coccidioidomycosis may not seek care for their illness,

if any, and may not be tested for it.<sup>46</sup> Thus, the number of reported coccidioidomycosis cases underestimates the true number of incidence infections. The rate of reported disease also underestimates the true incidence rate because the entire population is assumed to be at risk. Contemporary prospective cohort studies of the risk of coccidioidomycosis in susceptible persons in endemic areas are lacking. Blair et al. estimated the one-year risk of infection in 210 healthcare system employees in 2012 and found that 11 (5%, 95% CI: 2%, 8%) had evidence of infection. Notably, this study used an in vitro lymphocyte-activation assay to measure cellular immunity to coccidioidomycosis to exclude immune persons and identify asymptomatic infection.<sup>47</sup>

Rates of reported disease in Arizona between 1990 and 2016 have ranged from 7 cases per 100,000 person-years (count: 191 cases) in 1990 to 248 cases per 100,000 person-years (count: 16,472 cases) in 2011. Surveillance changes, which are discussed in detail below, complicate the interpretation of trends. Case reports appear to have increased independently of surveillance changes as well. For example, rates increased between 2009 and 2012, when no documented surveillance changes occurred. The number of reported cases remained relatively constant in the 1980s (median case count 211 and range: 191 to 342).<sup>48</sup> Rates of reported disease in Arizona between 1990 and 2017 have ranged from 7 cases per 100,000 person-years (count: 191 cases) in 1990 to 248 cases per 100,000 person-years (count: 16,472 cases) in 2011. Between 1990 and 1995, the incidence rate increased from 7 per 100,000 person-years to 15 per 100,000 person-years.

Substantial interannual variability in reported incidence has been observed for decades. Annual epidemics of coccidioidomycosis have been reported in Arizona during the 1990s and 2000s.<sup>49–51</sup> The all-time highest number of case reports (16,472) was in 2011. In 2011, coccidioidomycosis was the second most frequently reported notifiable disease in Arizona.<sup>50</sup> Overall, demographic characteristics of cases reported during epidemic years are similar to those occurring in other years. Epidemics have occasionally had seasonal patterns that differ from nonepidemic years. In 2011, the late summer and winter peaks were relatively diminished. In 2015, case counts peaked in September, months before the usual December/January seasonal peak.<sup>45</sup> Hospitalization and mortality counts and rates do not always appear to increase in tandem with epidemics.<sup>50</sup> Underreporting and miscoding of underlying causes of death and discharge diagnoses may explain this discrepancy. Four outbreaks of coccidioidomycosis in Arizona have been reported in the literature.<sup>52</sup> Three of these reports are from the 1940s. The most recent outbreak was reported in 1992. Four members of the same family developed coccidioidomycosis four days after digging a pit on the Salt River Pima Indian tribal reservation; two individuals required hospitalization.<sup>53</sup> All reported outbreaks occurred in central and southern Arizona. Given the limited data available on reported cases and the high background rate of disease, it is possible that point-source outbreaks go undetected.

Seasonality of reports has long been observed in cases reported to ADHS. Reports generally peak in December with a second peak sometimes observed in the late summer. Reports reach a nadir in the late spring. Exceptions to this pattern include cases reported in 2011, when little seasonality was observed, and 2015, whereas cases peaked in September. Coccidioidomycosis cases at the University of Arizona student health clinic in Tucson similarly had two annual peaks.<sup>54</sup> Coccidioidomycosis hospitalizations at Williams Air Force Base in Maricopa County from 1952 to 1956 peaked in July and in the fall (October/November).<sup>55</sup>

A large number of persons (often referred to as 'snow birds') visit Arizona during the winter months due to the temperate climate. These individuals are less likely to be immune to infection as they often reside in areas where the disease is not endemic and are unlikely to have previously had coccidioidomycosis. Some of these individuals may have homes in Arizona and if they develop coccidioidomycosis, be reported as a resident case. Park et al. used home security data to estimate that there were 300,000 visitors between December and March annually between 1998 and 2001. They found that removing these individuals from the denominator did not meaningfully affect the seasonal pattern of incidence rates.

## Prevalence

The prevalence of coccidioidomycosis in Arizona is difficult to estimate since the infection is most often asymptomatic or mild. Several studies have estimated the prevalence of immunity (i.e., skin test reactivity) or antibodies. Most of these studies were conducted in the mid-twentieth century. Skin testing studies are complicated by the use of differing or nonstandardized antigens (e.g., coccidioidin vs. spherulin) and cross-reactivity with previous exposure to histoplasmosis.<sup>56</sup> Edwards and Palmer generated national county-specific estimates of the prevalence of skin test reactivity, which are the basis of the relative endemicity map in Figure 1-2. The sample consisted of U.S. Navy recruits at the San Diego Naval Training Center, students at universities in the Great Lakes region, and female nursing students in 10 U.S. cities. Subjects were tested between 1949 and 1951. Each subject provided a lifetime residential history at the time of testing. Prevalence estimates were calculated based on 48,676 White subjects aged 17–21 years (80% male Naval recruits) who had spent their entire lives in one county. Note that many Arizona counties had not been established at the time this study was conducted. Prevalence estimates were only published by category and ranged from 10-30% in the northern and westerns parts of the state to 50–70% in central and southern Arizona.<sup>57</sup>

In 1951, Emmet et al. skin tested 1,869 school children from schools in Phoenix with coccidioidin and found that 794 (42%) had positive results. Percent reactivity increased with age, ranging from 26% in 5–6 year old students and 60% in 11–12 year old students; there was no meaningful difference in reactivity between 11–12 year, 13–14, and 15–16 year old age groups. Reactivity did not differ by sex. All children with positive results and 228 students with negative results received chest x-rays; 13% and 14% had evidence of pulmonary calcification.<sup>58</sup>A subsequent study of 955 lifetime Arizona resident high school and college students found that 568 (59%) were reactive to the skin test, with variation by race (higher prevalence among non-Whites) and county of origin (higher prevalence in southern and central counties).<sup>59</sup>

In 1961, 8,401 children from 32 elementary and high schools in Maricopa County were tested with coccidioidin. Of these, 7,982 (95%) lived at least 80% of their lives in Maricopa County. Overall, 32% had positive skin test results. Children who were lifetime residents had were more likely to be reactive (37%) compared to non-lifetime residents (28%). Among lifetime residents, prevalence of immunity was 20% among five-year old students and 65% among 18-year old students. Prevalence did not vary by sex. There was large variation in reactivity by school (range: 19–83% in elementary schools and 46–84% in high schools among lifetime residents). There was no difference in reactivity by sex. However, reactivity varied by race as follows: American Indians had the highest percentage, followed by Hispanic, Black, and White. Subjects with reactivity to histoplasmin generally had larger diameter reactions due to coccidioidin, suggesting limited cross-reactivity.<sup>60</sup>

Dodge et al. conducted a skin testing survey of a stratified random sample of White households in Tucson between 1977 and 1979. All persons over three years old were tested with two antigens coccidioidin and spherulin. Subjects measured their own inducation, and a "spot comparison" of nurse and subjects' readings found good agreement. Among 1,639 tested subjects with results, 30–33% had a positive test result. Patients with a self-reported history of disease were much more likely to be reactive (57% vs. 27%) than patients with no history. Patients with a self-reported history of disease and an abnormal chest x-ray. Reactivity was highest in subjects aged 15 to 64 years (39–44%), followed by subjects under 15 (30–37%), and subjects over 54 years old (19–21%). Males had a slightly higher prevalence than females (30–35% vs. 29–32%). "Exposure history" was assessed as a weighted of time lived in Arizona, California, or areas of lesser endemicity; subjects who lived for longer periods of time in Arizona or California had a higher prevalence of reactivity.<sup>61</sup> Six years prior, these subjects were interviewed and 10% reported a history of coccidioidomycosis.<sup>62</sup>

Tabor et al. conducted an address-based telephone survey in Tucson between 2002 and 2003 and estimated that one-percent of residents had a self-reported history of physician diagnosed-coccidioidomycosis within the past ten years and symptom onset at the current residence. Twelve-percent had a household history of coccidioidomycosis. The validity of self-report is unknown and not assessed by this study.<sup>63</sup> In a follow-up analysis, the authors estimated a 1992–2003 period prevalence of 88 per 100,000 population, compared with 34 reported cases per 100,000 population.<sup>64</sup>

Population-based seroprevalence studies have not been conducted. In the abovementioned study of healthcare employees by Blair et al., 12% (95% CI: 9%, 16%) had evidence of immunity.<sup>47</sup> In a study of EIA test kit specificity using sera from healthy blood bank donors in Arizona (n=1,218), 5–7% were reactive to EIA IgM, IgG, or both and 3–4% were EIA IgG reactive alone, which is associated with recent or past infection.<sup>41</sup>

#### Spatial Distribution

Though cases are reported from all 15 counties in Arizona, 95% of these cases occur among residents in Maricopa, Pima, and Pinal counties, where 80% of the state's population resides. Rates of reported disease are also highest in these areas. It is unclear why rates are lower in some southern counties (e.g., Yuma County), where climate and elevation does not differ significantly from Maricopa, Pima, and Pinal counties. Nonetheless, all areas of the state are assumed to be endemic. Edwards and Palmer generated nationwide county-specific estimates of the prevalence of skin test reactivity as discussed above.<sup>57</sup> Prevalence estimates were only published by category and ranged from 10–30% in the northern and westerns parts of the state to 50–70% in central and southern Arizona.<sup>57</sup>

The spatial distribution of disease at sub-county scales is understudied and important as counties in Arizona are very large. In a skin testing survey of school children in Maricopa County, reactivity prevalence varied most by location of school; schools in the same area of the county had similar prevalence estimates. Urban schools had a lower prevalence (20%) than suburban (45%), and rural (53–63%) schools. Reactivity varied by area with only 10–12% of children 5–8 years old reactive in Central Phoenix.<sup>60</sup> A study of reported cases between 1998 and 2001 found that the highest age-adjusted ZIP code-level rates in Maricopa County were in the periphery of the Phoenix metropolitan area.<sup>65</sup> More recently, age-adjusted spatial scan statistic analysis of 2013–2015 reported cases in Maricopa, Pima, and Pinal counties identified three clusters of higher than expected incidence (rate ratio range: 1.22, 1.65) and two clusters of lower than expected incidence (rate ratio range: 0.68, 0.73).<sup>66</sup>

In 2007, ADHS requested assistance from the CDC to investigate two-fold higher ageadjusted incidence of reported cases in the northwest Phoenix metropolitan area. The subsequent investigation attributed this increase to greater testing and disease awareness. Healthcare providers in this area were more likely to attend coccidioidomycosis-specific continuing medical education and provide counseling to their patients. Reported cases living in this area were more likely to be tested earlier after symptom onset and with fewer reported symptoms. Tests ordered at a major reference laboratory were no more likely to be positive among patients living in this area compared with all other patients. Similarly, testing of remnant sera from a sample of patients living in this area and a comparison group from the rest of the metropolitan area found no difference in seropositivity. Finally, home security data revealed that approximately 20% of the population in this area were non-residents, perhaps inflating the numerator of the calculated incidence rate.<sup>67</sup>

Brown et al. examined the association between several areal characteristics and incidence for 2006–2009 cases in Arizona at the case residence, block group, tract, and ZIP code scales. Factors associated with incidence across scales included population over 65 (positively), median income (positively), soil organic carbon (negatively), medium and high density residential land (positively), pasture/hay land (negatively), and distance to desert (negatively). Associations with shrub/scrub land, cultivated crops, and distance to wetland varied in magnitude and/or direction by spatial scale.<sup>68</sup>

Risk factors for infection are not well understood. Identifying persons at risk for infection is difficult because establishing immunity requires skin testing, which is not currently licensed for use in asymptomatic patients and has unknown performance in this population. Patients with mild or asymptomatic infection are also difficult to enroll because they are unlikely to be seek care and be tested using the skin test or the serologic tests mentioned above. Thus, studies have mainly identified factors associated with increased risk of symptomatic or severe coccidioidomycosis.

## **Demographics**

Rates of reported coccidioidomycosis in Arizona vary substantially by demographic characteristics such age, sex, and location of residence. The rate of reported disease increases with age, with the highest rate occurring among adults 70 years and older.<sup>45</sup> The age distribution of reported cases has changed over time.<sup>69</sup> Some changes in mean age were temporally associated with surveillance changes (e.g., decline in 2009 and increase in 2012), but median age declined independently of surveillance changes as well.<sup>70</sup> Older adults may be at higher risk of infection, may experience more severe disease, or may be more likely to seek care and be tested. However, a study comparing manifestations of disease between older and younger patients found no significant differences in clinical presentation after controlling for immunosuppression.<sup>71</sup> Age-specific rates also vary over time: with minor exceptions (1998–2001), rates have increased most among older age groups.<sup>65</sup>

The relationship between sex and risk of pulmonary coccidioidomycosis is unclear. In Arizona, the sex distribution of cases has changed over time. Between 1998 and 2008, 56% of reported cases were male. However, 55% of cases were female between 2009 and 2012.<sup>50</sup> This change corresponds with one of the surveillance changes discussed in detail in Chapter 2. It is unknown whether the risk of infection varies by race or ethnicity in Arizona. Race and ethnicity are not routinely recorded (<30% of cases) in coccidioidomycosis case reports in Arizona. A population-based survey of Pima County residents found that participants who self-reported a history of coccidioidomycosis were more likely to be non-Hispanic Black (OR: 2.7).<sup>63</sup> Several studies have found increased risk of severe or disseminated disease among Black, Hispanic, and American Indian patients. Seitz et al. estimated that the rate of hospitalization for disseminated coccidioidomycosis in Arizona was 12-fold higher among Black persons and 21-fold higher among Hispanic persons as compared with White persons. This finding persisted when patients with ICD diagnosis codes for HIV or primary immune deficiency were excluded.<sup>72</sup> Studies have also documented higher rates of severe disease among American Indian populations in Arizona.<sup>73</sup> Few studies have examined the relationship between socioeconomic status and coccidioidomycosis. In the survey of Pima County residents, participants who reported a history of coccidioidomycosis had higher educational attainment than persons who did not: compared to respondents with a high school diploma, the odds of not having a high school diploma were 0.45 (95% CI: 0.21, 0.97) lower among cases than controls.<sup>63</sup>

### **Comorbidities**

Reported coccidioidomycosis cases have a higher prevalence of comorbidities than the general population. For some conditions (e.g., HIV infection), this likely reflects decreased immune function and increased risk of severe illness, while other comorbidities (e.g., congestive heart failure) may be associated with greater care seeking and testing in comorbid patients. Smoking, congestive heart failure, cancer, and corticosteroid therapy were associated with case status in a 1996–1997 case-control study of symptomatic coccidioidomycosis among Arizona adults over 60 years age, although confidence intervals were extremely wide.<sup>74</sup> Twenty percent of 2007–2008 reported cases interviewed as part of enhanced surveillance were immunocompromised at the time of illness and two-thirds had an underlying condition.<sup>75</sup> Reported cases also have an elevated rate of all-cause mortality and hospitalization in the year following illness (unpublished analysis by the author).

Several underlying conditions are associated with severe or disseminated disease. Disseminated coccidioidomycosis is an AIDS-defining condition,<sup>76</sup> and people living with HIV infection are at risk for severe disease. However, risk varies by CD4 T-lymphocyte count, which is consistent with the importance of cell-mediated immunity for control of this infection, and thus, viral suppression status. A study of 170 patients prior to the advent of highly-active antiretroviral therapy (HAART) estimated that 25% became ill with coccidioidomycosis during an average of 11 months of follow-up; AIDS diagnosis and CD4 count <250 cells/µL were associated with disease.<sup>77</sup> However, later studies conducted when HAART was available found substantially lower incidence.<sup>78</sup> Sunenshine et al. matched surveillance databases for HIV and coccidioidomycosis cases reported between 1992 and 2005. Of 23,704 coccidioidomycosis cases reported during the study period, 986 (4%) had HIV infection. However, among male cases less than fifty years old, the prevalence was 13%. They further estimated that 24% of deaths related to coccidioidomycosis occurred among patients with HIV infection.<sup>79</sup>

Iatrogenic immunosuppression is also a risk for severe disease. Risk likely varies by duration and intensity of therapy. Case series and small cohort studies from transplant programs in Arizona suggest that the risks of disease (5%–9% per year), dissemination, and death are high among solid organ transplant recipients. Patients are screened for infection and receive antifungal prophylaxis prior to induction based on a hypothesized risk of reactivation of previous infection. Contemporary protocols appear to have eliminated this risk, although further study is required. Findings among hematopoietic stem cell transplant recipients are similar. Another recently emerged risk factor for severe disease is biologic response modifying therapy. Several agents, particularly TNF- $\alpha$  inhibitors, appear to be associated with increased risk of infection and severe disease, although few studies have systematically evaluated this risk.<sup>78</sup>

Few studies have examined coccidioidomycosis among pregnant women in Arizona. Wack et al. reviewed medical records for women aged 15–45 years who had a positive *Coccidioides* laboratory result or an ICD-9 code for coccidioidomycosis as a discharge diagnosis at three healthcare facilities in Tucson in the early 1980s. Among 47,120 pregnancies, ten cases of coccidioidomycosis were identified, four of whom had a clinical diagnosis of coccidioidomycosis.<sup>80</sup>

## Migration

Relocation from a non-endemic area and time spent in an endemic area are associated with increased risk of infection. In a case-control study of coccidioidomycosis in adults 60+ years old, the median duration of residence in Arizona was 6.5 and 19.5 years among cases and controls, respectively. Twenty-five percent of cases were not full-time Arizona residents. Time lived in Arizona was inversely associated with risk of coccidioidomycosis as follows: <4 years OR 7.6 (95% CI: 2.8, 20.8); 4 – 12 years OR 4.7 (95% CI: 1.9, 11.5); 13 – 25 years OR 2.7 (95% CI: 1.1, 7.0). Risk declined approximately 5% per year lived in the state.<sup>74</sup> Ten- to fourteen-percent of interviewed cases reported 1998 and 2001 had lived in Arizona for less than one year.<sup>65</sup> In the 2007–2008 enhanced surveillance study, reported coccidioidomycosis cases had lived in Arizona for a median of 12 years while Arizona Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System (BRFSS) respondents had lived in Arizona for a median of 22 years.<sup>75</sup>

### Activities

Several occupational outbreaks of coccidioidomycosis have been reported in California, but none have been reported in Arizona. Most of these outbreaks have been in low- to moderateincidence counties as opposed to the endemic epicenters in the Central Valley.<sup>81</sup> Coccidioidomycosis is recognized as part of workers' compensation in California, but not in Arizona.<sup>82</sup> Enhanced surveillance investigations have found that 'white collar' workers were disproportionately represented among reported cases, although this may be explained by selection bias or access to care (unpublished). Many cases also report being retired.<sup>48</sup> Although high-quality studies are lacking, studies have reported mixed findings regarding an elevated risk of infection associated with activities involving exposure to or generation of airborne dust. In an interview study of 300 coccidioidomycosis cases in Maricopa County, 15% of cases who worked outside reported engaging in soil disturbing activity; 14% of cases reported no outdoor activities.<sup>83</sup> A longitudinal study of seroconversion among healthcare workers found that regular outdoor recreational walking was associated with an increased risk of infection.<sup>47</sup> The rates of coccidioidomycosis between 1998 and 2006 were 374 cases per 100,000 personyear (95% CI: 192, 639) among scholarship athletes at the University of Arizona as compared with 90 cases per 100,000 person-year (95% CI: 79, 103) students seen at the student health center. However, this may be related to time spent outdoors, care seeking (e.g., due to declines in athletic performance) or recent migration to Arizona.<sup>84</sup>

#### Clinical Characteristics of Reported Cases

Population-based data on the characteristics of reported cases are limited. Data are derived from enhanced surveillance studies conducted by the state or county health departments and single- or multi-center studies of patients seen at a specific facility or health system. An interview study of 493 cases reported in 2007–2008 noted a significant burden of disease among reported cases. Most patients were still symptomatic at interview, but among those who had recovered, the median duration of symptoms was 42 days. Commonly reported symptoms included fatigue (84%), cough (67%), dyspnea (59%), and fever (54%). Delays in diagnosis were common: the median time between seeking care and diagnosis was 23 days. Among employed patients, 74% missed work and a median of 14 days were missed due to work. Similarly, 75% of patients were unable to perform activities of daily living while ill for a median of 47 days.

percent of patients received at least one course of antibiotics, and 61% were prescribed antifungal medication. Given that only 58% of contacted cases were interviewed, selection bias is possible, and this sample may have been skewed towards severely ill patients.<sup>75</sup> Previous studies of reported cases have also found a substantial delay between symptom onset and diagnosis, long duration of symptoms, and high frequency of antibiotic prescription, antifungal treatment, and hospitalization.<sup>65,85,86</sup>

Donovan et al. assessed diagnostic delays among 276 coccidioidomycosis cases seen at a tertiary care center in Tucson. The median time between initial healthcare encounter and diagnosis was 23 days with 43% of patients having delays of one month or greater. Interestingly, diagnostic delays did not differ by disease type (acute pulmonary, chronic pulmonary, asymptomatic nodule, and disseminated infection).<sup>87</sup>

## *Hospitalization*

ADHS also conducts surveillance for hospitalizations with a primary discharge diagnosis of coccidioidomycosis among Arizona residents at non-federal healthcare facilities. Annual hospitalization counts between 2003 and 2012 ranged from 800 to 1,070 hospitalizations. Pinal County had the highest rate of hospitalizations in the state. Hospitalized patients were predominantly male with a median age of 52 years. The median length of stay was four days. Primary pulmonary coccidioidomycosis was the most common discharge diagnosis (68%). Approximately 40% of hospitalizations involved intensive care. Between 2003 and 2012, charges for hospitalizations with a primary diagnosis of coccidioidomycosis totaled \$636 million (2012 dollars). Medicare and Medicaid (the Arizona Healthcare Cost Containment System) were the most common expected sources of payment.<sup>88</sup>

#### Disseminated Disease

As coccidioidomycosis case reports lack clinical information, population-based data on the burden of disseminated disease are scant. Foley et al. requested medical records for all cases interviewed as part of 2007–2008 enhanced surveillance study. Records were received for 65% of patients, and of these, 26 (8%) had evidence of disseminated disease. Patients with disseminated disease were more likely to be male and Black, and have HIV infection. They were also more likely to require hospitalization and had a longer duration of symptoms.<sup>89</sup> Between 2000 and 2009, the average annual incidence rate of hospitalization associated with disseminated coccidioidomycosis was 4.8 per 100,000 person-years. Seitz et al. estimated that the rate of hospitalization for disseminated coccidioidomycosis in Arizona was 12-fold higher among African Americans and 21-fold higher among Hispanics as compared with Whites. This finding persisted when patients with diagnosis codes for HIV or primary immune deficiency were excluded.<sup>72</sup>

Coccidioidal meningitis is a particularly severe form of dissemination. Between 2008 and 2014, 623 patients were hospitalized with diagnosis codes for coccidioidal meningitis in Arizona. Readmission rates were particularly high in this group of patients: 35% of patients were readmitted at least once during the study period with a median time to readmission of 83 days. Sixty-one percent of these patients were admitted to the intensive care unit. Diabetes (23%) and HIV (20%) were frequently recorded underlying conditions. Admitting diagnoses also reflected severe complications of infection such as obstructive hydrocephalus.<sup>90</sup>

### Death

Death due to coccidioidomycosis is rare. Between 1990 and 2008, 1,010 decedents in Arizona had a cause of death code for coccidioidomycosis, an average age-adjusted mortality rate of 2.2 per 100,000 person-years.<sup>91</sup> Age and male sex (OR: 1.76, 95% CI: 1.38, 2.26) were

associated with coccidioidomycosis-associated mortality in a multivariable analysis. All racial/ethnic minorities also had higher mortality rates as compared with non-Hispanic Whites: Hispanic (OR: 2.10, 95% CI: 1.53, 2.88), African American (OR: 3.42, 95% CI: 2.55, 4.60), Asian (OR: 5.51, 95% CI: 2.82, 10.70), and Native American (OR: 2.18, 95% CI: 1.52, 3.12).<sup>73</sup> This analysis did not control for comorbidities. These studies assumed that causes of death were accurately recorded on death certificates. A subsequent capture-recapture study compared ascertainment of deaths by death certificates and hospital discharge data (i.e., in-hospital mortality). Coccidioidomycosis-associated deaths were underestimated seven-fold by death certificates as compared with the estimate derived from hospital discharge data and death certificates.<sup>92</sup>

#### Coccidioidomycosis and Community-acquired Pneumonia

Several studies have suggested that coccidioidomycosis is a common cause of community-acquired pneumonia (CAP) in Arizona, yet testing is relatively infrequent. In a prospective study, Valdivia et al. estimated the proportion of CAP due to coccidioidomycosis among adult outpatients seen at three facilities in Tucson in 2003–2004. CAP was defined as lower respiratory symptoms of less than one-month duration with either chest pain, exertional dyspnea, chest x-ray, multiple visits for their illness, or a CAP-associated antibiotic prescription. Patients with a history of coccidioidomycosis, less than one week spent in an endemic area, or another laboratory-confirmed diagnosis were excluded. Serological testing was conducted at two visits, a median of 18 days apart. Of 55 included patients, 29% (95% CI: 16, 44) had a positive test. Only 19 patients provided both serum specimens. The true proportion of patients with positive results may be higher if some of the remaining patients subsequently seroconverted.<sup>86</sup> A smaller study in Phoenix had similar findings: of 35 adult patients with pneumonia (including

pulmonary infiltrate) and prospectively collected paired sera available for testing, 17% (95% CI: 7%, 34%) had antibody seroconversion.<sup>93</sup>

Chang et al. estimated the proportion of CAP patients tested for coccidioidomycosis in a retrospective cohort assembled from two health systems in the Phoenix metropolitan area. Medical records for outpatients an ICD-9 discharge code pneumonia due to infection admitted in 2003 and 2004 were reviewed. Patients without a history of coccidioidomycosis and physician-diagnosed CAP who had not been hospitalized or been residents of a long-term care facility within 14 days of symptom onset were included in the study. In system A, only one of 66 patients was tested, while in system B, 11 (13%) of 87 patients were tested.<sup>85</sup> A 2004–2006 study of 125,000 patients with a diagnosis code for CAP among three million Medicaid enrollees found that only 4% of patients had *Coccidioides* serology or fungal culture ordered within 90 days of diagnosis.<sup>94</sup>

In response to these findings, efforts have been undertaken to increase the number of CAP patients tested for coccidioidomycosis. An educational intervention consisting of lectures and posters reminding physicians to test for coccidioidomycosis was implemented in two large emergency departments in Tucson between 2007 and 2008. The proportion of CAP patients tested for coccidioidomycosis increased from a pre-intervention level of 10% to 40% over one year.<sup>95</sup> However, only 3% of CAP patients presenting at emergency departments in Arizona in 2014 were tested for coccidioidomycosis, and there was substantial variation in testing across facilities and providers, even in the highly endemic counties.<sup>96</sup>

## Surveillance in Arizona

The first case of coccidioidomycosis in Arizona was described in 1938.<sup>45</sup> Clinicians began reporting cases of coccidioidomycosis in Arizona to the state health department in the

1950's.<sup>97</sup> In 1994, the state health department adopted the national case definition proposed by the Council of State and Territorial Epidemiologists. Before 1994, surveillance was based on clinical diagnosis and laboratory confirmation was not required.<sup>49</sup> In 1995, coccidioidomycosis became nationally notifiable in the southwest region.<sup>65</sup> In 1997, the state health department mandated laboratory reporting of all positive *Coccidioides* laboratory results and adopted a case definition requiring only laboratory confirmation to define a confirmed case.<sup>75,98</sup> Laboratory criteria were also modified from requiring a rise in *Coccidioides* IgG titer to a single positive *Coccidioides* IgG result. The national case definition adopted the latter criterion in 2008.<sup>98</sup> However, this laboratory-based definition of confirmed cases is unique to Arizona. An interview study of 493 cases reported in 2007–2008 found that 95% met the clinical criteria of the national case definition.<sup>75</sup>

Only name, age, gender, residential address, laboratory result(s), and reporting provider and/or testing laboratory are typically included in case reports to ADHS. In 2015, 99% of cases were reported by laboratories.<sup>45</sup> A surveillance evaluation of *Coccidioides* laboratory result reporting by the two largest reference laboratories in the state was conducted in 2008. Reports from the two laboratories were matched to state surveillance databases. The proportions of patients tested by each laboratory matching a surveillance record were 98% and 85%.<sup>95</sup> Since then, both laboratories have adopted electronic laboratory reporting and completeness of case and laboratory result reporting has likely improved. Surveillance changes, which are discussed in detail below, complicate the interpretation of trends. Case reports appear to have increased independently of surveillance changes as well. Box 1-1. Arizona Department of Health Services Coccidioidomycosis Case Definition<sup>99</sup> Clinical Description

Infection may be asymptomatic or may produce an acute or chronic disease. Although the disease initially resembles an influenza-like illness or pneumonia-like febrile illness primarily involving the bronchopulmonary system, dissemination can occur to multiple organ systems. An illness is typically characterized by one or more of the following:

- Influenza-like signs and symptoms, including fever, chest pain, cough, myalgia, arthralgia, headache
- Pneumonia or other pulmonary lesion, diagnosed by chest X-ray
- Rashes, including erythema nodosum or erythema multiforme
- Involvement of bones, joints, or skin by dissemination
- Meningitis
- Involvement of viscera and lymph nodes

#### Laboratory Criteria for Diagnosis

Laboratory-confirmed coccidioidomycosis requires at least one of the following:

- Cultural, histopathologic, or molecular evidence of presence of Coccidioides species, OR
- Immunologic evidence of infection
  - Serologic (testing of serum, cerebrospinal fluid (CSF), or other body fluid) by:
    - Detection of coccidioidal IgM by immunodiffusion, enzyme immunoassay (EIA), latex agglutination, or tube precipitin, OR
    - Detection of coccidioidal IgG by immunodiffusion, enzyme immunoassay (EIA), or complement fixation (for complement fixation, titers from blood)
must be  $\geq$  1:4; for immunodiffusion or when the specimen is CSF, any titer is considered positive).

 Coccidioidal skin test conversion from negative to positive after the onset of clinical signs and symptoms.

Case Classification

Confirmed - A case that is laboratory confirmed.

### **CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW**

### **Surveillance Changes**

Surveillance changes are a major challenge to understanding trends in coccidioidomycosis incidence. Clinicians began reporting cases of coccidioidomycosis in Arizona to the state health department in 1954.<sup>100</sup> In 1994, the state health department adopted the national case definition proposed by the Council of State and Territorial Epidemiologists. Before 1994, surveillance was based on clinical diagnosis, and laboratory confirmation was not required.<sup>49</sup> In 1997, the state health department mandated laboratory reporting of all positive *Coccidioides* laboratory results and adopted a case definition requiring only laboratory confirmation to define a confirmed case.<sup>75,98</sup> Laboratory criteria were also modified from requiring a rise in *Coccidioides* IgG titer to a single positive *Coccidioides* IgG result. The national case definition adopted the latter criterion in 2008.<sup>98</sup> Until 2019, this laboratory-based definition of confirmed cases was unique to Arizona.<sup>101</sup> An interview study of 493 cases reported in 2007–2008 found that 95% met the clinical criteria of the national case definition.<sup>75</sup>

In June 2009, a large commercial reference laboratory ('Lab A') in Arizona began reporting all positive *Coccidioides* enzyme immunoassay (EIA) results without positive confirmatory tests to the state health department. During this time, Lab A reported 40–60% of cases reported to the state health department. Prior to this point, Lab A reported only results for EIA IgM and/or IgG positive patients who were also positive by immunodiffusion. State reporting rules required reporting of all positive EIA results; the 2008 revision of the national case definition specified that an isolated EIA positive result fulfills laboratory criteria for defining a confirmed case. Simultaneously, Lab A began reporting all positive EIA results to providers with a statement stating that specimens positive only on EIA might be false positives. On November 26<sup>th</sup>, 2012, Lab A switched from the Premier *Coccidioides* EIA produced by

Meridian Biosciences to the Omega *Coccidioides* antibody EIA produced by Immuno-Mycologics (IMMY). Case counts increased 214% from 2008 to 2009 and decreased 55% from 2012 to 2013. The 2009 change was also associated with a shift in age and sex distributions towards younger, female patients.<sup>97</sup> The impact of these changes on healthcare provider behavior (i.e., the likelihood of a patient being tested) is unknown.

The Premier *Coccidioides* EIA produced by Meridian Biosciences has been in use for over 15 years. Microwells are coated with purified TP and CF antigens in the same well.<sup>41</sup> The reported sensitivity (Se) and specificity (Sp) of the assay were 92% and 97% for IgG, and 74% and 96% for IgM, and 97% and 94% in combination (i.e., if IgM and/or IgG positive), respectively.<sup>43,102,103</sup> The assay cross-reacts with serum from patients with histoplasmosis, but this disease is rare and not reportable in Arizona.<sup>104</sup> This assay requires a wash step.<sup>105</sup> At Lab A, the Meridian assay was performed with an automated wash step. The Omega *Coccidioides* antibody EIA produced by IMMY has separate microwells for IgM and IgG ascertainment and uses recombinant and natural antigens.<sup>41</sup> This assay has a reported combined IgM and IgG Se and Sp of 94.1% and 98.7% compared to complement fixation.<sup>41</sup>

While the *Coccidioides* EIA is likely more sensitive than other tests, reports in the literature have questioned the specificity of results.<sup>106,107</sup> Assessment of EIA performance is complicated by several factors: the assay used; the method by which the assay is performed; study inclusion and exclusion criteria, especially the reason for testing and its implications for the prevalence of disease in the study sample; the use of control sera collected from people residing in areas where the infection is endemic; the lack of a clear diagnostic gold standard; and the small sample size of some studies.

Several studies have evaluated the real-world performance of the *Coccidioides* EIA and described the clinical characteristics of patients with positive EIA results and no other positive tests. Blair et al. reviewed medical records for 405 patients with positive Meridian Coccidioides EIA results seen at their institution to assess the significance of EIA IgM positive, IgG negative results. Twenty-eight patients had a positive EIA IgM test and a negative EIA IgG test. Of these, 24 had a concurrent positive immunodiffusion or complement fixation test or a subsequent positive EIA IgG and the remaining four had a positive culture or biopsy. Thus, they concluded that all of these patients had coccidioidomycosis and that none had false positive EIA results.<sup>108</sup> A subsequent expanded study by these authors of 102 patients with at least one EIA IgM positive/IgG negative set of results found that 22% (n=22) did not have a coccidioidomycosis diagnosis. Fifty-nine percent (n=60) of these patients were tested to evaluate coccidioidomycosis-compatible symptoms (i.e., diagnostic evaluation) and 90% of patients in this subgroup had confirmed or probable coccidioidomycosis. Twenty eight percent (n=29) of the overall sample were tested for screening purposes and of this subset, only 45% had confirmed or probable illness. However, 17% (n=5 of 29) of these patients later became IgG positive. Patients in these studies were tested using the Meridian EIA kit run with an automated wash step.<sup>109</sup>

Oubsuntia et al. tested 1,682 serum specimens submitted to their reference laboratory as part of routine clinical testing in a highly endemic area (Kern County, California) using the Meridian EIA, immunodiffusion, and immunodiffusion with concentrated serum. Only EIA IgM results were provided. Of the 15% of specimens with positive or indeterminate EIA IgM results, 44% were positive by one or both immunodiffusion modalities. EIA IgM absorbance values for specimens that were concentrated immunodiffusion negative overlapped with positive samples. Further results for this study could not be located.<sup>110</sup>

Kuberski et al. reviewed records for 17 patients with positive EIA IgM and negative EIA IgG test results. Upon chart review, only three "may have had coccidioidomycosis." However, no inclusion or exclusion criteria were defined, and it is unclear if patients had additional serologic testing.<sup>106</sup> Crum et al. reviewed records for all patients with positive Meridian *Coccidioides* EIA results seen at their facility in San Diego, California between 1994 and 2002. Of 223 patients, 48 (22%) had isolated positive EIA IgM results. None of these patients were diagnosed with coccidioidomycosis; diagnoses included upper respiratory infection, asymptomatic "surveillance testing", and community-acquired pneumonia. Patients with isolated IgM results were more likely to be immunosuppressed.<sup>107</sup> Petein et al. reviewed all serologic test results from Lab A and another commercial laboratory between February 2008 and February 2009. They identified 94 of 1,445 sets of tests in which EIA IgM and/or IgG was positive EIA IgM test only. Upon review of medical records, 97% of these 94 patients had symptoms consistent with coccidioidomycosis.<sup>111</sup>

Lindsley et al. evaluated the specificity of the two EIA kits using 534 serum specimens collected from people living in Puerto Rico who had not traveled outside of Puerto Rico in the 14 days prior to serum collection and 1,218 serum specimens from a northwest Phoenix blood bank. Serum from EIA positive specimens were concentrated and tested with immunodiffusion. This study found no significant difference in EIA reactivity between the Meridian and IMMY assays for sera from Puerto Rico (i.e., non-endemic controls). However, fewer Phoenix serum specimens were IgM reactive for the IMMY assay than the Meridian assay (1.1% vs. 2.4%). IgG

reactivity was similar (3.2 vs. 3.6%). For both assays, the proportion of specimens that were IgG positive was greater among the Phoenix sample compared with the Puerto Rico sample. IgM reactivity in the Puerto Rico sample likely represents false-positive results, possibly due to cross-reactivity. However, IgM and IgG reactivity in the Phoenix sample may represent past infection or current asymptomatic infection. Concentration yielded additional positive results in the Phoenix sample only; a greater proportion of Meridian-positive (IgM or IgG) sera were subsequently positive on post-concentration immunodiffusion. Immunodiffusion reactivity only after concentration suggests very low levels of antibodies.<sup>41</sup>

A recent study conducted at a tertiary care center in the Phoenix metropolitan area examined the sensitivity and specificity of both EIA kits using a composite gold standard.<sup>112</sup> The gold standard reflected varying levels of diagnostic certainty ranging from confirmed (culture or histopathology indicative of coccidioidal infection) and highly probable (compatible symptoms, radiographic findings, and positive complement fixation and/or immunodiffusion) to probable (compatible symptoms or radiographic findings and positive complement fixation and/or immunodiffusion). Coccidioidomycosis negative patients lacked compatible symptoms and radiographic findings, but could have positive complement fixation and/or immunodiffusion results. There were 49 composite positive patients and 152 negative patients with remnant sera available for testing. Indications (e.g., diagnostic vs. screening) for initial testing were unknown. Indeterminate EIA results were considered to be positive. Of note, the authors compared automated vs. manual runs of the Meridian EIA and found no meaningful differences in results. Results from automated runs are discussed here. Combined IgM and IgG sensitivity was slightly lower for the IMMY kit: 83.7% (95% CI: 70.3, 92.7 for the Meridian kit) vs. 73.5% (95% CI: 58.9, 85.1 for the IMMY kit). Combined specificity was higher for the IMMY kit: 68.4% (95%

CI: 60.4, 75.7 for the Meridian kit) vs. 82.2% (95% CI: 75.2, 88.0 for the IMMY kit). However, performance varied by antibody. Sensitivity for IgM antibody was substantially lower for the IMMY kit (34.7%, 95% CI: 21.7, 49.6) compared with the Meridian kit (57.1%, 95% CI: 42.2, 71.2) while specificity was higher (85.5%, 95% CI: 78.9, 90.7 for the IMMY kit vs. 70.4%, 95% CI: 62.5, 77.5 for the Meridian kit). Results were more similar for the IgG antibody. Sensitivity was higher for the Meridian kit (69.4%, 95% CI: 54.6, 81.7) as compared with the IMMY kit (53.1% 95% CI: 38.3, 67.5). However, specificity did not differ substantially (95.4% vs. 96.7% for the Meridian and IMMY kits, respectively).

A study by Khan et al. compared the performance of these two kits at Lab A and two other reference laboratories. Sera from 150 clinically confirmed coccidioidomycosis cases and 50 controls (CDC employees from non-endemic areas) were tested by both assays at all three laboratories. Percent agreement was highest for IMMY EIA IgM (90%) and lowest for Meridian EIA IgM (67%). Specificity of combined EIA IgM and IgG result for IMMY ranged from 98–100%. Specificity of the Meridian EIA was 100% at the other two reference laboratories, but only 74% at Lab A.<sup>113</sup> This comparison of results by the Meridian assay at Lab A using the automated wash step procedure and the IMMY assay will be used in Aim 1.

### Weather

The study of weather and coccidioidomycosis is motivated by several goals: 1) to understand the ecological relationship between climate and *Coccidioides* growth; 2) to quantify the relationship between weather and risk of coccidioidomycosis; and 3) to predict disease incidence and mitigate risk (i.e., an early warning system to warn the general public). Although (3) would have the greatest public health impact, studies have primarily focused on (2). Climate change has also heightened interest in prediction of future coccidioidomycosis risk and possible expansion of endemic areas.

Environmental factors, particularly climate, have long been thought to be associated with the growth of *Coccidioides* and dispersal of arthroconidia. Factors hypothesized to affect growth and dispersal include precipitation, temperature, relative humidity, dust storms, soil characteristics (moisture, salinity and concentration of other trace elements, organic matter, pH), competing soil microbes, rodent activity, Paleo-Indian archaeologic sites, vegetation, and the presence of desert washes and stream beds or banks.<sup>8</sup>

Water plays a central role in the lifecycle of *Coccidioides*. Moisture is required for the fungus to grow. Soil samples taken during the end of the wet season in the San Joaquin Valley in California were more likely to test positive for *Coccidioides* than those sampled at the end of the dry season.<sup>114</sup> Samples were most likely to test positive six weeks after rainfall.<sup>115</sup> Similarly, in Arizona, positive samples were more likely to have been collected following the summer rains.<sup>6</sup> However, very wet conditions may allow other organisms in the soil to outcompete it, which may explain why *Coccidioides* is found in arid environments.<sup>8,116</sup> Moisture may also decrease the ability of arthroconidia to become airborne.<sup>3</sup> Thus, precipitation may affect both *Coccidioides* growth and dispersal: too little rainfall and growth may not occur, too much and competitors may inhibit growth. The relationship between precipitation and soil moisture is determined not only by total rainfall, but also temperature, vapor pressure, evaporation, runoff, and soil characteristics.<sup>8</sup> Precipitation may affect the concentration of salts at varying soil depths; increased salinity (e.g., of borate salts) was associated with enhanced growth and survival of cultures in laboratory studies. An extensive soil sampling study of the same area in the San Joaquin Valley conducted over eight years found that soluble salt concentration was correlated

with *C. immitis* detection.<sup>114</sup> Lacy and Swatek observed that growth of the mycelium in soil required 56–90% relative humidity for several weeks.<sup>7</sup>

Precipitation in southern and central Arizona is bimodal, occurring in the winter and spring and in the late summer (July – September) as the North American monsoon. Summers are hot and dry.<sup>8</sup> Precipitation during the late summer may vary substantially across space and time due to thunderstorms. Winter precipitation events last longer than summer storms, which are characterized by bursts of rain. The El Niño-Southern Oscillation is one of the drivers of interannual variability in precipitation in the Southwest.<sup>117</sup> In Arizona, an El Niño is associated with a higher likelihood of above average precipitation between October and March.<sup>118</sup>

Precipitation has been the most widely studied potential determinant of coccidioidomycosis incidence. Hugenholtz found zero to weak positive correlation between semimonthly rainfall (range: 0.02–0.16) and case count.<sup>55</sup> Kolivras and Comrie examined the relationship between minimum, maximum and mean monthly precipitation and deviation from mean monthly percent of annual total cases reported in 1948–1972 and 1980–1998 in Pima County. Standardized coefficients ranged from -0.524 (1-year lagged November-December precipitation and March incidence anomaly) to 0.568 (2-year lagged February-March precipitation and March incidence anomaly).<sup>117</sup> Comrie found that one-year lagged May-July precipitation was associated (standardized coefficient range: 0.45, 0.73) with increased incidence in subsequent seasons (monsoon, fall, and winter) between 1992 and 2003 in Pima County. Other relationships varied by season and are difficult to interpret.<sup>119</sup>

Park et al. 2005 found that cumulative rainfall during the previous seven months (RR 0.86 95% CI: 0.81, 0.91), and cumulative rainfall during previous two months divided by cumulative rainfall during previous seven months (RR 0.55 95% CI: 0.68, 0.93) were inversely

associated with monthly incidence rate in Maricopa County between 1998 and 2001.<sup>65</sup> Tamerius and Comrie found consistent relationships between precipitation and incidence by county: October-December precipitation was associated with a 0.01 (95% -0.01, 0.03) increase in mean reporting delay-adjusted August-March incidence rate while August-March precipitation was associated with a -0.01 to -0.005 (95% CI -0.01, 0.03 and -0.02, 0.01) decrease in incidence rate.<sup>120</sup> Tong et al. reported negative correlations (range: -0.10, -0.45) between annual and seasonal (spring, early spring, prior winter) precipitation anomaly (deviation from 1990–2010 mean) and incidence rates in Maricopa and Pima counties.<sup>121</sup> Gorris et al. found that four-month lagged mean monthly precipitation was correlated with incidence rates in Arizona (R=0.68) in the bivariate analysis, but only two-month lagged precipitation (-0.17) was significant in the multivariable model.<sup>122,123</sup> Kolivras and Comrie and Park et al. also examined the relationship between drought severity, as measured by the Palmer Z Index and the Palmer Drought Severity Index (PDSI), and incidence. No associations were found.<sup>65,117</sup>

Studies have also examined direct and indirect measures of soil moisture, possibly a more relevant determinant of fungal growth than rainfall alone. Stacy et al. examined the relationship between normalized difference vegetation index (NDVI), a remotely sensed measure of vegetation density and indirect measure of soil moisture, and incidence in Maricopa, Pima, and Pinal counties between 1995 and 2006. The relationship between concurrent and lagged seasonal NDVI and grouped incidence was highly variable and inconsistent across counties.<sup>124</sup> Two studies have used remotely sensed soil moisture measures. Coopersmith et al. found that mean soil moisture at 5 cm during May–July was inversely correlated (correlation coefficient range: - 0.55, -0.45) with January–May monthly incidence in Maricopa, Pima, and Pima between 2000

and 2014.<sup>125</sup> Gorris et al. did find that one-month lagged soil moisture (-0.19) and NDVI (-0.28) were negatively correlated with monthly incidence anomaly between 1990 and 2014.<sup>122,123</sup>

Temperature may be an independent driver of the lifecycle. High temperatures may "sterilize" the surface of the soil and inhibit competing organisms.<sup>8</sup> Coccidioides may be better adapted to surviving these temperatures.<sup>6,115,126</sup> In the laboratory, C. immitis arthroconidia were viable for six months at a broad range of temperatures and relative humidity levels.<sup>127</sup> The relationship between temperature and incidence has also been examined by several studies. Hugenholtz found that mean monthly temperature and number of cases per month at Williams Air Force Base between 1943 and 1956 were highly correlated  $(R^2 0.73)$ .<sup>55</sup> Kolivras and Comrie found distinct relationships between minimum, maximum, and mean monthly temperature and incidence anomaly. Temperature (lagged 0.5–3.5 years) was associated with incidence anomaly for all months. Standardized coefficients ranged from -0.608 (one-year lagged July-September temperature and July incidence anomaly) to 0.632 (concurrent May-September temperature and October incidence anomaly).<sup>117</sup> The variation in lags and groupings by month complicates interpretation of their findings. Park et al. found that average temperature during the previous three months was associated (RR 1.012 95% CI 1.007, 1.020) with monthly incidence in Maricopa County.<sup>65</sup> Gorris et al. found that four-month lagged temperature was correlated (R=0.54) with incidence rates in the bivariate analysis, but not the multivariable model.<sup>122,123</sup> Tamerius and Comrie found no significant correlation between surface temperature and reported incidence.<sup>120</sup>

*Coccidioides* arthroconidia are spread by aerosolization and have a relatively low settling rate.<sup>3</sup> Outbreaks of coccidioidomycosis have occurred in association with wind and other natural soil disturbances. In 1977, a large dust storm in Central California deposited soil from highly

endemic areas to parts of northern California; an increase in infections was observed several weeks later.<sup>128</sup> In 1994, a landslide caused by the Northridge earthquake produced large dust clouds and resulted in 203 excess cases in Ventura County, California.<sup>129</sup> Dust control measures undertaken in the 1940s at Army bases in central California were associated with a decrease in incidence.<sup>130</sup> Notably, the annual number of dust storms in the Southwest has increased over time, possibly driven by changes in sea surface temperatures in Pacific Ocean and the Pacific Decadal Oscillation.<sup>131</sup>

Several studies have sought to use measures of dust concentration to approximate density of airborne arthroconidia. Hugenholtz found positive correlations (range: 0.47–0.67) between the number days with dust storms of over one-hour duration and monthly case count at Williams Air Force Base between 1943 and 1956.<sup>55</sup> Park et al. found that the concentration of airborne particles of 10 microns or less in diameter (PM10) was associated (RR 1.015, 95% CI 1.007, 1.024) with monthly coccidioidomycosis incidence in Maricopa County between 1998 and 2001.<sup>65</sup> Comrie found that concurrent PM10 was positively associated with reporting delay adjusted mean May-July (standardized coefficient 0.75) and January-April (standardized coefficient 0.44) incidence rate in Pima County.<sup>119</sup> Tong et al. examined the correlation between annual number of dust storms in the southwestern U.S. and 2001–2011 reported incidence. Dust storms were identified using a previously developed method based on ground aerosol observations and differentiation of manmade and natural dust sources by elemental composition.<sup>131</sup> Dust storms were correlated with incidence in Maricopa and Pima counties (R=0.51 and 0.41, respectively). However, PM10 and PM2.5 were all negatively correlated with incidence.<sup>121</sup> Gorris et al. found weak correlation (R=0.23) between remotely sensed one-month lagged mean monthly surface dust concentration and monthly incidence in Arizona.<sup>122,123</sup> Three

studies have examined the relationship between wind speed and vector and incidence: Tamerius and Comrie (monthly and seasonal mean wind speed and vector),<sup>120</sup> Park et al.(monthly and previous two month mean wind speed),<sup>65</sup> and Kolivras and Comrie (monthly mean wind speed).<sup>117</sup> No associations were found between incidence and wind speed and vector.

An environmental link is also supported by the seasonality of human infections. Seasonality of reports has long been observed in cases reported to ADHS (Figure 2-1). Reports generally peak in December with a second peak sometimes observed in the late summer. Reports reach a nadir in the late spring. Exceptions to this pattern include cases reported in 2011, when little seasonality was observed, and 2015, whereas cases peaked in September. Coccidioidomycosis cases at the University of Arizona student health clinic in Tucson similarly had two annual peaks.<sup>54</sup> Coccidioidomycosis hospitalizations at Williams Air Force Base in Maricopa County from 1952 to 1956 peaked in July and in the fall (October/November).<sup>55</sup>



Figure 2-1. Seasonality of reported coccidioidomycosis in Arizona, 1998-2016

This seasonality motivates the study of the relationship between climate and incidence. As discussed above, numerous studies have quantitatively examined the relationship between weather and the incidence of reported coccidioidomycosis in California and Arizona. Relationships have not been studied in Mexico, Central and South America. Table 2-1 summarizes results from studies of weather and coccidioidomycosis in Arizona. Results are difficult to compare because of differences in the study periods, data sources, and transformations applied to predictor (e.g., seasonal means) and outcome (e.g., reporting delay adjustment) variables. Only Brown et al. adjusted for explicitly adjusted for surveillance changes.<sup>132</sup> Comrie and Glueck explored the impact of adjusting for reporting delay (using a 3-month running mean of onset-to-report time vs. a 1 month-offset) and found that lack of adjustment did not affect the main results of their analysis, though variance explained decreased for two of four seasonal models.<sup>133</sup> Box 2 summarizes key methodological issues for these studies.

In summary, studies have found associations of varying magnitudes between precipitation, temperature, PM10, dust storm frequency, season, and soil moisture and incidence. Other factors examined for which no significant relationship has been observed were dew point temperature<sup>117</sup>, relative humidity, vapor pressure deficit, and solar radiation heat units.<sup>120</sup> The timing and magnitude of effects are inconsistent across studies. Several studies point to a relationship between lagged precipitation (or soil moisture), temperature, and incidence, although lags vary between four months and three years and by geographic region. Box 2-1. Methodological Issues for Weather and Coccidioidomycosis Studies

- Incidence is an indirect measure of *Coccidioides* growth and spore dispersal
  - Growth in the natural environment is not measured
  - o Arthroconidia concentration has not been measured
  - Not all strains may be virulent or equally affected by climate factors
- Lack of biological evidence to support lagged relationships
- Surveillance changes
- Delay between exposure and case report (variability in delay, lack of symptom onset dates)
- Unexplained long-term linear increase in incidence
- Population denominators include immune individuals
- Sample size of annually/seasonally grouped analyses
- Choice of transformations of incidence and weather variables
- No out-of-sample tests of models

Study	Study Period	Study Area	Predictors	Outcome	Methods	Major Findings
Brown et al. (2014)	1995–2013	Maricopa	Seasonal total precipitation	Linear detrended monthly and seasonal "exposure" rate calculated by subtracting incubation period and median onset to diagnosis time from enhanced surveillance study. Two seasonal groupings.	Adjusted for 2009– 2012 change in surveillance by standardization. Regression coefficients from Tamerius and Comrie (2011) applied.	Tamerius and Comrie (2011) model predictions did not match observed case counts in 1998, 2008–2010.
Comrie (2005)	1992–2003	Pima	Seasonal PM10 and total precipitation	Mean onset-to- diagnosis and onset-to-report lag times were calculated for each individual month in the record. Grouped into four seasons defined by maxima and minima of each variable.	Linear regression with predictors concurrent PM10 and concurrent and lagged precipitation. Seasons modeled separately.	Concurrent PM10 associated with rates in winter and foresummer (May–July). Previous foresummer's precipitation associated with increased incidence in 3/4 seasons. R <sup>2</sup> highest for foresummer and winter.

Table 2-1. Summary of climate and coccidioidomycosis studies in Arizona

Comrie and Glueck (2007)	1992–2005	Pima	Seasonal PM10 and total precipitation	Same as Comrie (2005)	Same as Comrie (2005)	Nearly identical to Comrie (2005)
Coopersmith et al. (2017)	2000–2014	Maricopa, Pima, Pinal (combined)	Mean monthly satellite- derived soil moisture at 5cm. Grouped into 3-month periods.	Linear detrended rate of reported cases per month.	Correlation analysis of lagged soil moisture and incidence.	Preceding May– July (foresummer) mean soil moisture inversely associated with Jan–May monthly incidence.
Gorris et al. (2017)	1990–2015	Maricopa, Pima, Pinal (combined)	Surface temperature, precipitation soil moisture up to 10 cm, NDVI surface dust concentration.	Monthly incidence anomaly (reported case count – study period mean for each month)	Correlation between lagged and concurrent predictors and incidence. Linear and non-linear regression	Incidence anomalies negatively correlated with precipitation (- 0.17) and soil moisture (-0.19) anomalies in the previous 1–2 months, positively correlated with surface dust (0.23) in the previous month, and negatively correlated with same month NDVI (-0.28).

Hugenholtz et al. (1957)	1952–1956	Maricopa County (Williams Air Force Base)	Precipitation, temperature, and dust storms.	Monthly hospital admissions	Correlation analysis.	High incidence months were associated with lower rainfall. Incidence was most strongly correlated with temperature and dust storms.
Kolivras and Comrie (2003)	1948–1972, 1980– 1998	Pima	Monthly mean, min, max temperature, dew point temperature, precipitation, Palmer Drought Severity Index (PDSI), mean wind speed.	Monthly percent of annual total reported cases. Deviation from mean monthly percent of annual total calculated for each month.	Bivariate correlation analysis of 1–24-month lagged predictors and outcome. Linear regression models for each month.	Differing results by month, but most models included 1–2- year lagged variable. Winter temperature and precipitation included in several models. R <sup>2</sup> range 0.21– 0.61.
Park et al. (2005)	1998–2001	Maricopa	Palmer Z index, PDSI, PM10, mean wind velocity (concurrent and previous 2 months), average temperature (previous three	Monthly reported case count.	Poisson regression. Modeling strategy unclear.	Final model included mean temperature during previous 3 months (positive), mean PM10 (positive), cumulative rainfall during previous 7 months

			months), average dust, rainfall (previous 3 months), cumulative rainfall (previous 7 months), total rainfall previous 2 months/total rainfall previous 7 months.			(negative), cumulative rainfall during previous 2 months/cumulati ve rainfall during previous 7 months (negative).
Stacy et al. (2013)	1995–2006	Maricopa, Pima, Pinal	Seasonal normalized difference vegetation index (NDVI)	Linear detrended seasonal incidence rate. Subtracted 14-day incubation period and diagnosis delay offset calculated by polynomial fit to time series of average monthly offsets. Four seasonal groupings.	Bivariate correlation for concurrent and 1- to 48-month lagged NDVI and exposure rate. Stepwise multivariable linear regression with leave-one-out cross-validation. Each season modeled separately.	Winter precipitation results in moist soils in the early spring and is correlated with grouped seasonal incidence up to a year later. Strength and direction of relationships varied widely across seasons.

Tamerius and Comrie (2011)	1995–2006	Maricopa, Pima	Monthly and seasonal temperature, relative humidity, wind speed, mean wind speed vector, vapor pressure deficit, precipitation, solar radiation, heat units, PM10.	Linear detrended monthly and seasonal "exposure" rate calculated by subtracting incubation period and median onset to diagnosis time from enhanced surveillance study. Two seasonal groupings.	Autocorrelation analysis to create seasonal groupings. Bivariate correlation analysis of predictors. Linear regression model: preceding Oct–Mar precipitation and concurrent Sep– Mar precipitation to estimate Aug– Mar exposure rate.	Variance of exposure rates increased over time. Antecedent precipitation positively and concurrent precipitation negatively correlated with seasonal exposure rate.
Tong et al. (2017)	2001–2011	Maricopa, Pima (combined)	Annual number of dust storms, PM10, PM2.5, precipitation anomaly.	Annual rate of reported cases.	Bivariate correlation analysis.	Dust storms were positively correlated with incidence (R=0.41-0.51)

## Land Development

Anthropogenic soil disturbance has long been associated with coccidioidomycosis, particularly point-source outbreaks. An early description of coccidioidomycosis was an outbreak among a group of students who dug a rattlesnake out of a ground squirrel burrow in Kern County, California.<sup>24,28</sup> Half (n=25) of all outbreaks reported in the literature were linked to occupational land disturbance (e.g. construction, archaeology, military field exercises).<sup>52</sup> Central and southern Arizona have undergone rapid urbanization and population growth during the last 30 years. The population of the Phoenix metropolitan area (most of Maricopa County and part of Pinal County) increased 87% between 1990 and 2010.<sup>134</sup> While urban expansion in the early twentieth century used primarily core agricultural lands, growth since 1975 has consumed native desert land. Peripheral expansion has profoundly altered natural systems and brought populations closer to areas where desert soils are being disturbed.<sup>135</sup>

Several studies have examined the relationship between land development and coccidioidomycosis in Arizona. Blair et al. compared the one-year risk of coccidioidomycosis in employees at a healthcare facility adjacent to a construction site with workers at another campus located elsewhere in the Phoenix metropolitan area. As the coccidioidal skin test was unavailable, an in vitro lymphocyte-activation assay was used to measure cellular immunity to coccidioidomycosis, allowing the detection of asymptomatic infections. Contrary to their hypothesis of increased risk of infection at the site adjacent to construction and excavation of native desert soil, the investigators found a higher risk of infection at the control site. They hypothesized that the focal distribution of fungi (no soil sampling was conducted), false negative tests, and/or dust suppression measures may explain their unexpected results.<sup>47</sup>

Park et al. mapped 1998–2001 age-adjusted incidence rate in Maricopa County and noted high rates in areas undergoing construction and development along the periphery of metropolitan Phoenix. There was no association between monthly coccidioidomycosis case reports and number of building permits issued in Maricopa County between 1998 and 2001, though issue dates of building permits likely do not coincide with construction and soil excavation.<sup>65</sup> Moreover, building permits are issued for a variety of activities, not all of which involve soil excavation. The analysis did not account for the location for which the permit was issued (e.g., native desert area vs developed land) and the location of incident case reports.

Pianalto et al. examined the relationship between construction-related soil disturbance, which was estimated from a model of fugitive dust emissions from remote sensing data, and lagged incidence between 1995 and 2006 in Pima County. At the county-level, annual construction-related disturbance and lagged incidence were highly correlated (Spearman's rank order correlation: 0.81). This study also examined the correlation between ZIP code-level incidence and soil disturbance. Analyzed by ZIP code, there was modest correlation (adjusted  $R^2=0.48$ ) between total incidence during the entire study period and disturbance in ZIP codes at the periphery of Tucson and no correlation at inner or core Tucson ZIP codes.<sup>136</sup>

Coccidioidomycosis reports have increased over time in Antelope Valley, an area north of Los Angeles abutting the hyperendemic area in California. Rapid, suburban expansion has been hypothesized to contribute to increasing incidence. Colson et al. examined the correlation between 2000–2015 coccidioidomycosis incidence and land disturbance in this area. The area experienced rapid development of housing and renewable energy projects. Coccidioidomycosis incidence increased 13-fold between 2000 and 2015. Acres of land disturbed for solar, wind, and agricultural use was correlated with incidence ( $R^2 = 0.62$ ); in the multivariable model, land disturbance was the only significant predictor, although the magnitude of the effect was extremely small ( $\beta = 0.00040$ ).<sup>137</sup> Guevara et al. found that the number of reported new

residential buildings in Antelope Valley was correlated ( $R^2 = 0.85$ ) with coccidioidomycosis incidence rate in Los Angeles County between 1996 and 2007; construction outside of Antelope Valley was not strongly correlated with incidence. While construction has decreased since 2005, incidence rates have not consistently declined since then. In Los Angeles County as a whole, cases residing in endemic health districts were more likely to report exposures associated with outdoor exposure (being in sight of construction and earth excavation, dust storm, outdoor recreational vehicles, any outdoor recreation, outdoor activity with dirt) than cases in nonendemic districts.<sup>138</sup>

The choice of spatial scale and unit of aggregation can have a significant impact on spatial risk assessment. Brown et al. examined the association between several areal characteristics and incidence for 2006–2009 cases in Arizona at the case residence, block group, tract, and ZIP code scales. Factors associated with incidence across scales included population over 65 (positive), median income (positive), soil organic carbon (negative), medium and high density residential land (positive), pasture/hay land (negative), and distance to desert (negative). Associations with shrub/scrub land, cultivated crops, and distance to wetland varied in magnitude and/or direction by spatial scale.<sup>68</sup>

# CHAPTER 3: BIAS-ADJUSTED TRENDS IN REPORTED COCCIDIOIDOMYCOSIS INCIDENCE IN ARIZONA, 1998–2017

## Background

Coccidioidomycosis is an infectious disease caused by inhalation of spores produced by *Coccidioides* species, fungi endemic to desert soils of the Americas.<sup>1</sup> Nearly two-thirds of all cases reported in the United States between 1998 and 2017 occurred among people living in Arizona. Since the State mandated laboratory reporting of positive *Coccidioides* laboratory test results in 1997, rates of reported disease have increased five-fold.<sup>97</sup> It is one of the most frequently reported infectious diseases in Arizona. Rates of reported coccidioidomycosis between 1998 and 2017 ranged from 30 cases per 100,000 person-years (1,556 cases) in 1998 to 255 cases per 100,000 person-years (16,472 cases) in 2011.<sup>139</sup> The causes of this increase are poorly understood.

Surveillance changes are a major challenge to understanding trends in coccidioidomycosis incidence. Clinicians began reporting cases of coccidioidomycosis to the Arizona Department of Health Services (ADHS) in the 1930s.<sup>97</sup> In 1994, the state health department adopted the national case definition proposed by the Council of State and Territorial Epidemiologists; before 1994, surveillance was based on clinical diagnosis, and laboratory confirmation was not required.<sup>49</sup> In 1997, the state health department mandated laboratory reporting of all positive *Coccidioides* laboratory results and adopted a case definition requiring only laboratory confirmation to define a confirmed case.<sup>75</sup> This laboratory-based definition of confirmed cases was unique to Arizona until 2018.<sup>101</sup> An interview study of laboratory-confirmed cases reported in 2007–2008 found that 95% met the clinical criteria of the national case definition.<sup>75</sup>

Lab A, a large commercial reference laboratory in Arizona, offers several serological tests for coccidioidomycosis including a panel with the *Coccidioides* enzyme immunoassay (EIA) and reflex to immunodiffusion and complement fixation, both of which are less sensitive and more specific tests. In June 2009, Lab A began reporting all positive EIA results without positive confirmatory test at the request of the state health department. Before this, Lab A only reported results for EIA IgM and/or IgG positive patients who were also positive by immunodiffusion and/or complement fixation. Other laboratories reported all positive results. In November of 2012, Lab A switched from the Premier *Coccidioides* EIA produced by Meridian Biosciences to the Omega *Coccidioides* antibody EIA produced by Immuno-Mycologics. Lab A continued to report EIA results without confirmatory tests after the test kit change. Case counts increased 129% between 2008 and 2009 and decreased 59% between 2012 and 2013. Concurrent with the 2009 change, the demographics of reported cases also shifted towards a higher proportion of female cases and lower mean age.

A multi-laboratory study of EIA reproducibility in which 150 cases and 50 controls were tested using the Meridian Biosciences and Immuno-Mycologics *Coccidioides* EIA kits at Lab A and two other reference laboratories found lower specificity and percent agreement with the Meridian Biosciences kit as performed at Lab A.<sup>113</sup> As Lab A most often performed tests as a serology panel, patients with false positive Meridian EIA results would then be tested by immunodiffusion and complement fixation. Thus, cases defined by EIA alone or combinations of EIA, immunodiffusion and/or complement fixation at Lab A between June 2009 and November 2012 might have been more likely to be false positive cases.

We adjusted reported case counts for potential biases associated with these surveillance changes and estimated bias-adjusted trends in reported coccidioidomycosis incidence in Arizona between 1998 and 2017.

### Methods

We obtained records of laboratory-confirmed coccidioidomycosis between 1998 and 2017 from the state health department's communicable disease surveillance system. We restricted our analysis to the three largest counties in Arizona (Maricopa, Pima, and Pinal counties) where 80% of the state's population resides and 95% of reported coccidioidomycosis cases in the state occur.<sup>97</sup> To adjust for potential biases associated with the 2009 reporting change and the 2012 test kit change, we estimated two counterfactual scenarios: (1) case counts had Lab A not reported positive EIA results lacking confirmatory test results (i.e., case counts in the absence of the 2009 reporting change) and (2) reported case counts had Lab A used the Immuno-Mycologics EIA kit between the 2009 reporting change and the 2012 test kit change. Our goal was to create consistent time series for cases reported between 1998 and 2017 and between June 2009 (the reporting change) and 2017.

Missing and incomplete data due to evolving informatics systems and data collection practices complicate estimation of these counterfactuals for the entire period of interest. Between June 2009 and March 2011, laboratory test result and testing laboratory name was not consistently recorded and cannot be reliably identified for all cases (n=21,342). Between March 2011 and June 2012 (n=20,434 cases reported), testing laboratory information was not available for 6,463 (31.6%) cases, and laboratory test results could not be determined for 1,996 (9.8%) of cases. Data quality improved in later years with only 859 (2.3%) of 36,763 cases missing test result or testing laboratory information between June 2012 and December 2012.

For counterfactual scenario (1), we removed all cases that had positive EIA results performed at Lab A and no other positive Coccidioides laboratory test result (hereafter 'EIA positive only at Lab A'). However, this could not be determined for all cases due to the missing data problems summarized above. Thus, we imputed EIA positive only at Lab A status for cases with missing data using a multi-step process. First, we estimated the proportion of cases that were EIA positive only at Lab A within twelve demographic strata defined by case's county of residence, sex, and age (dichotomized at age 65 years). We then sampled from stratum-specific triangular distributions parameterized with the stratum-specific estimate and the lower and upper limits of the associated 95% confidence interval as the mode, minimum, and maximum, respectively. Finally, we performed a Bernoulli trial to determine whether each case was EIA positive only at Lab A using the stratum-specific proportion sampled in the previous step. As the prevalence of EIA positive only at Lab A status might have differed before and after the EIA test kit change, we calculated separate stratum-specific proportions from cases reported before and after the test kit change that had no missing data. For cases with known laboratory test results, but unknown testing laboratory, we estimated the probability of the testing laboratory being Lab A among EIA positive only cases. We similarly sampled this probability from a triangular distribution and then conducted a Bernoulli trial to determine EIA positive only at Lab A status. Cases with missing demographic information (n=497, 0.6%) were assumed to not be EIA positive only at Lab A.

For counterfactual scenario (2), we removed cases with positive test results from Lab A alone between June 2009 and November 2012 (i.e., when the Meridian test kit was in use) that would have tested negative using the Immuno-Mycologics assay. We estimated the proportion of Meridian EIA IgM positive only, EIA IgG positive only, EIA IgM and IgG positive only, and

EIA and immunodiffusion positive cases that had negative Immuno-Mycologics assay results using data from the previously mentioned multi-laboratory study reproducibility study.<sup>113</sup> Determination of laboratory test result pattern for cases with missing data also required imputation. We estimated stratum-specific proportions for each laboratory test result pattern and constructed and sampled from triangular distributions as described above. To assign one of five states (the four test result patterns or other) to each case with missing data, we constructed a stratum-specific categorical distribution based on the proportions drawn from the triangular distribution and then sampled from it. Cases missing testing laboratory information alone or demographic information were treated as above. The imputation procedure is detailed in Table 3-S1.

Sampling was repeated 10,000 times for each counterfactual scenario. For each simulation, we summed counts by year and calculated incidence rates and annual percent change in incidence rate. We also calculated the percent of cases that were male and the mean age in each simulation. These measures were summarized across simulations using medians and 95% uncertainty intervals (i.e., the range defined by the 2.5<sup>th</sup> and 97.5<sup>th</sup> percentiles). Separate analyses were performed for each county. Population denominators were obtained from the U.S. Census Bureau's county intercensal estimates.<sup>140</sup> All analyses were performed in SAS version 9.4 (SAS Institute, Cary, NC).

#### Results

There were 114,224 coccidioidomycosis cases reported in Maricopa, Pima, and Pinal counties between 1998 and 2017. Total annual case counts ranged from 1,451 in 1998 to 15,655 in 2011. The overall incidence rate ranged from 37.3 cases per 100,000 person-years in 1998 to 298.6 cases per 100,000 person-years in 2011. Cases counts were consistently highest in

Maricopa County, Arizona's most populous county. Although county-specific rates were more variable over time, annual rates were most often highest in Maricopa County, followed by Pinal County and Pima County, respectively. Rates for all three counties increased dramatically between 2008 and 2009 and decreased between 2012 and 2013 (Figure 3-1). Reported cases were predominantly male (range: 51–59%) before 2009. The percent of cases that were male declined between 2009 and 2012 (range: 47–48%) and then increased after 2012 (range: 50–54%). Mean age also varied by year and sex. Between 1998 and 2008, mean age ranged from 49 to 53 years and was higher among females. Mean age declined for both males and females between 2009 and 2012, but was higher among males. After 2012, mean age increased linearly for both sexes, reaching a maximum in 2017 (Figure 3-S2a).

The 2009 reporting change coincided with an immediate two- to three-fold increase in case counts for all counties (Figure 3-2a). The EIA test kit change occurred in late November 2012. In contrast to the 2009 report change, case counts decreased across all counties in subsequent weeks after the test kit change. The test kit change was also accompanied by a decline in the proportion of cases that were EIA IgM positive only at Lab A from an average of 41.7% in the 23 weeks prior to the change to an average of 12.8% in the remainder of the study period. However, changes of similar magnitude were not observed for the proportion EIA IgG positive only at Lab A (10.2% before vs. 16.6% after test kit change). Although a sharp decline in reported case counts was observed in late December and early January, the proportion EIA only at Lab A did not decline during this period (Figure 3-2b).

Demographic characteristics of reported cases by laboratory characteristics were available between June 2012 and December 2017. Demographic characteristics of cases that were EIA positive only at Lab A varied before and after the EIA test kit change (June 2012 and November 2012 and December 2012 and December 2017, respectively). EIA positive only at Lab A cases were more likely to be residents of Pima County (9.5% vs. 12.3%) and Pinal County (6.7% vs. 8.6%) after the test kit change. The percentage male changed marginally (Appendix Table 3-S3). The relationship between EIA positive only at Lab A and age also varied across these two time period. Older cases were less likely to be EIA positive only at Lab A before the test kit change, but this relationship reversed after the test kit change (Figure 3-S1a).

Imputation parameters utilized in scenario (1) for cases with missing laboratory name and/or test result are summarized in Table 3-S4. Before the test kit change, EIA positive only cases were predominantly reported by Lab A (89%; 95% CI: 88%, 90%) and all of the key subtypes of EIA positive cases were also primarily reported by Lab A. Median and 95% uncertainty intervals of bias-adjusted case counts and rates for counterfactual scenario (1) are shown in Figure 3-3a. Counterfactual estimates for 2009–2017 were lower than observed values; 95% uncertainty intervals did not overlap with observed values for any county. Counterfactual rates were 20-59%, 15-38%, and 26-49% lower for Maricopa County, Pima County, and Pinal County, respectively. The magnitude of the adjustment was higher before the test kit change for all three counties. Consistent with observed rates, adjusted rates peaked in 2011 and then declined. However, adjusted rates were more similar across counties than observed rates. The observed average annual percent change in incidence rate was 12.3%, 8.8%, and 8.8% for Maricopa County, Pima County, and Pinal County, respectively. The bias-adjusted average annual percent change in incidence was 7.8% (95% UI: 7.7%, 7.9%), 6.5% (95% UI: 6.4%, 6.5%), and 5.4% (95% UI: 5.0%, 6.1%) for Maricopa County, Pima County, and Pinal County, respectively. Counterfactual estimates of annual demographic characteristics were substantially different from observed values. The mean bias-adjusted percentage male cases was 14.6% higher between 2009 and 2017 than observed. The bias-adjusted mean age was higher than the observed mean age between 2009 and 2013, but lower in 2014, 2015, and 2017 (Figure 3-S2a).

Imputation parameters utilized in scenario (2) for cases with missing laboratory name and/or test result are summarized in Tables 3-S5 and 3-S6. Median and 95% uncertainty intervals of bias-adjusted case counts and rates for counterfactual scenario (2) are shown in Figure 3-3b. Counterfactual estimates for 2009–2012 were also lower than observed values. While 95% uncertainty intervals did not overlap with observed values, intervals were wider than estimates from counterfactual scenario (1), reflecting greater uncertainty. Counterfactual rates were 37% to 47%, 25% to 37%, and 37% to 47% lower for Maricopa County, Pima County, and Pinal County, respectively. Consistent with observed rates and counterfactual scenario (1), adjusted rates peaked in 2011 and then declined with the exception of Pinal County for which the adjusted 2011 rate was similar to the observed 2017 rate (120.9 in 2011 and 121.0 in 2017). The observed average annual percent change in incidence rates between 2011 and 2017 was -4.2%, -2.7%, and 1.8% for Maricopa County, Pima County, and Pinal County, respectively. The bias-adjusted average annual percent change in incidence was -1.8%, 0.3%, and 5.6% for Maricopa County, Pima County, and Pinal County, respectively; however, uncertainty intervals for these estimates included zero. Unlike counterfactual scenario (1), the counterfactual estimates of annual demographic characteristics for scenario (2) were only marginally different from observed values. The bias-adjusted percent of male cases was 1.7% to 2.8% higher than the observed values between 2010 and 2012. The bias-adjusted mean age was higher than the observed mean age between 2010 and 2012, although 95% uncertainty intervals overlapped with observed values (Figure 3-2b).

## Discussion

We estimated bias-adjusted trends in reported coccidioidomycosis incidence in the three largest Arizona counties, where a majority of coccidioidomycosis cases occur. Accurate trend estimates require consistent surveillance, which we approximated by using probabilistic removal of cases that would not have been reporting (1) if the 2009 reporting change had not occurred and (2) if Lab A had used the IMMY EIA kit between 2009 and 2017. Bias-adjusted counts of reported coccidioidomycosis cases in these three counties were substantially lower than observed case counts in both counterfactual scenarios. While the degree of adjustment varied by scenario, year, and county, we found that neither surveillance change altered the overall directions of observed trends in reported coccidioidomycosis incidence. Thus, we provide further evidence that rates of reported coccidioidomycosis increased between 1998 and 2017.

After adjustment for the 2009 reporting change, the bias-adjusted average annual percent change in incidence rate between 1998 and 2017 ranged from 5.4% to 7.8%, indicating increasing incidence. Bias-adjusted rates between 2009 and 2012 were elevated, and record high rates of reported cases in 2011 persisted after bias adjustment. However, the large observed increase in reported cases in 2015 was not seen across all counties in the bias-adjusted time series. Cases reported during this particular increase might have been disproportionately EIA positive only at Lab A. While the 2011 peak might be associated with natural phenomena (e.g., fungal activity), the inconsistency of the 2015 increase across counties alludes to a different mechanism, perhaps related to testing or careseeking. Adjusting for the 2012 test kit change also attenuated rates between 2010 and 2012. Notably, there was considerably more uncertainty in the bias-adjusted 2010–2017 time series than the 1998–2017 series due to the imprecise bias parameter estimates used in the former analysis. Differences in the effect of adjustment across

counties might reflect Lab A's market share and catchment areas during the period in question rather than differences in patient or case characteristics.

Adjustment for surveillance changes also affected the demographic composition of reported cases. Adjustment for the 2009 reporting change substantially increased the proportion of male cases and the mean age. There were only minor differences in case demographics after adjustment for the 2012 test kit change. This suggests that use of the Meridian EIA test kit at Lab A was associated with more positive test results among younger and female patients. The mechanisms behind these associations between EIA positive only at Lab A and age and sex are unclear and require further exploration. The Meridian test kit had higher sensitivity and lower specificity than the IMMY kit as performed at Lab A<sup>113</sup>, but it is unknown whether test kit performance differ by sex and age. While male sex is associated with severe coccidioidomycosis<sup>28</sup>, whether antibody levels and kinetics vary by sex is unknown. Age alone does not appear to be associated with severity of disease after adjustment for comorbidities.<sup>71</sup> A simpler explanation could be that tested younger or female patients are less likely to have coccidioidomycosis than tested older or male patients; a test with lower specificity would thus generate more false positive results among younger or female patients and consequently alter the demographics of reported cases as observed. Future studies should use reference laboratory data to compare the demographics of patients who tested EIA negative vs. positive with either test kit to support or refute this hypothesis.

We could not address some possible effects of the 2009 reporting change. Simultaneous with the change in reporting to the state health department, Lab A began reporting all positive EIA results to providers with a statement stating that isolated positive EIA results should be confirmed by immunodiffusion. Before this change, providers were shown a negative

interpretation if the EIA test was negative or the EIA test was positive and the reflex immunodiffusion test was negative and a positive interpretation when both the EIA test and reflex immunodiffusion tests were positive. The impact of this change on healthcare provider behavior (e.g., the likelihood of a future patient being tested) is unknown. Before the 2009 reporting change, Lab A used an alternative cut-off value to interpret the Meridian Biosciences EIA test. An absorbance value of 0.150 or higher was reflexed to testing with the immunodiffusion and complement fixation tests. Meridian Biosciences defines an absorbance value of less than 0.150 as negative, 0.150 to 0.199 as indeterminate, and 0.200 as positive. Simultaneous with the 2009 reporting change, Lab A raised the threshold for reflex to further testing to 0.200; this is consistent with the manufacturer's interpretation guidance. Thus, more patients were likely tested with the immunodiffusion and complement fixation tests before the 2009 reporting change. Finally, our adjustment for the 2012 test kit change relied upon a multilaboratory validation study of the Meridian and IMMY EIA test kits using serum from 50 controls (CDC employees from a non-endemic area) and 150 cases from Kern County, California, another highly endemic area. It is possible that these cases and controls might not be representative of patients tested in these three counties between 2009 and 2012.

Our study highlights the tension between increasing the sensitivity of coccidioidomycosis surveillance and maintaining consistency for trend analysis. Improved case ascertainment would yield more accurate estimates of disease burden. Yet this analysis necessarily underestimates the true incidence of coccidioidomycosis in Arizona: an unknown proportion of removed cases likely had coccidioidomycosis and would have met the CSTE case definition for coccidioidomycosis. While some reports<sup>43,106,107</sup> cast doubt on the specificity of the EIA, particularly isolated IgM positive results, several studies have found excellent

specificity<sup>41,102,103,108,109,111</sup> and lower than expected sensitivity.<sup>112,113</sup> Overall, studies of the EIA's performance are difficult to interpret because of differences in testing laboratory, clinical characteristics of included patients, prevalence of disease in the study population, reasons for testing, use of endemic vs. non-endemic control sera, timing of testing in relation to the serologic response, and the lack of a clear diagnostic gold standard.

New and emerging diagnostics for coccidioidomycosis such as the recently introduced lateral flow assay<sup>141</sup> are likely to affect the sensitivity and specificity of surveillance. Public health agencies can anticipate and prepare for these changes by planning to conduct studies to assess their impact and estimate bias parameters to maintain consistent time series of reported case counts. The introduction of novel diagnostic tests and changes in surveillance are not unique to coccidioidomycosis. Increased use of culture-independent assays for enteric<sup>142</sup> and respiratory pathogens and modernization of public health informatics infrastructure poses challenges for infectious disease surveillance in the U.S. Our analysis provides a case study for the application of flexible methods to adjust time series of other reportable conditions for changes in testing and reporting in the setting of missing data.



Figure 3-1. Reported coccidioidomycosis case counts and rates by county, 1998–2017


Figure 3-2a. Weekly reported coccidioidomycosis before and after Lab A reporting change by county, March–August 2009

Figure 3-2b. Weekly reported count of EIA IgM+ only at Lab A, EIA IgG+ only at Lab A, and other cases before and after the EIA test kit change, June 2012–March 2013



\*Black line indicates surveillance change



Figure 3-3a. Crude and median bias-adjusted rates and 95% uncertainty intervals by county -- Counterfactual (1)

Figure 3-3b. Crude and median bias-adjusted rates and 95% uncertainty intervals by county -- Counterfactual (2)





Figure 3-S1a. Percent EIA+ only at Lab A by age: Before EIA test kit change (June 2012–November 2012)

Figure 3-S1b. Percent EIA+ only at Lab A by age: Before EIA test kit change (November 2012– December 2017)





Figure 3-S2a. Crude and median bias-adjusted mean age and percent male, 1998-2017 - Counterfactual (1)

Figure 3-S2b. Crude and median bias-adjusted mean age and percent male, 2010–2017-Counterfactual (2)



Time Period	N	Missing Data	Counterfactual (1)	Counterfactual (2)
Time Teriou	19	Wilssing Data	Imputation Strategy	Imputation Strategy
June 2009 – February 2011	21,342	Test result and testing laboratory information are missing for all cases. Demographic data are missing for 389 (1.8%) cases.	<ol> <li>Using June 2012 – November 2012 cases with no missing data, estimate p(lab A &amp; EIA+ only) by county, age, and gender stratum and 95% confidence interval</li> <li>Draw stratum- specific p(lab A &amp; EIA+ only) from a triangular distribution with the estimate from (1), lower limit of the confidence interval, and upper limit of the confidence interval as mode, minimum and maximum, respectively.</li> <li>Assign lab A &amp; EIA+ only status to each case using a Bernoulli distribution parameterized with the value drawn in (2).</li> </ol>	<ol> <li>Using June 2012 – November 2012 cases with no missing data, estimate five parameters [p(lab A &amp; EIA+ IgM only), p(lab A &amp; EIA+ IgG only), p(lab A &amp; EIA+ IgG only), p(lab A &amp; EIA+ IgG only), p(lab A &amp; EIA and immunodiffusion+ only), p(other test result pattern)] by county, age, and gender stratum and 95% confidence interval</li> <li>Draw stratum-specific parameters from a triangular distribution with the estimate from (1), lower limit of the confidence interval, and upper limit of the confidence interval as mode, minimum and maximum, respectively.</li> <li>Sum values drawn from (2). Create proper probabilities from values drawn from (2) by dividing each value by the calculated sum. Assign test result pattern status to each case using a categorical distribution parameterized with the probabilities calculated in (3).</li> </ol>
March 2011 – June 2012	20,434	Testing laboratory information is missing for 6,463 (31.6%) cases with a test result pattern of interest. Test result and	For cases missing testing laboratory only: 1. Using June 2012 – November 2012 cases with no missing data, estimate p(lab A EIA+ only) and 95% confidence interval.	For cases missing testing laboratory only: 1.Using June 2012 – November 2012 cases with no missing data, estimate p(lab A test result pattern) and 95%

Table 3-S1. Missing data and imputation strategies by time period and analysis

		testing laboratory information is missing for 1,996 (9.8%) cases. Demographic data are missing for 108 (0.5%) cases.	<ul> <li>2. Draw p(lab A EIA+ only) from a triangular distribution with the estimate from (1), lower limit of the confidence interval, and upper limit of the confidence interval as mode, minimum and maximum, respectively.</li> <li>3. Assign lab A status to each EIA+ only case using a Bernoulli distribution parameterized with the value drawn in (2). For cases missing test result and testing laboratory information, apply the same strategy as June 2009–February 2011.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>confidence intervals.</li> <li>2. Draw p(lab A test result pattern) from a triangular distribution with the estimate from (1), lower limit of the confidence interval, and upper limit of the confidence interval as mode, minimum and maximum, respectively.</li> <li>3. Assign lab A status to each case with the corresponding test result pattern using a Bernoulli distribution parameterized with the value drawn in (2).</li> <li>For cases missing test result and testing laboratory information, apply the same strategy as June 2009-February 2011.</li> </ul>
June 2012 – December 2017	36,763	Test result and testing laboratory information are missing for 859 (2.3%) cases. No missing demographic data.	If the case was reported before November 2012 test kit change, apply the same strategy as June 2009–February 2011. If the case was reported after the test kit change, apply the same strategy as above except estimate p(lab A & EIA+ only) by county, age, and gender stratum using November 2012 – December 2017 cases with no missing data.	If the case was reported before November 2012 test kit change, apply the same strategy as June 2009-February 2011. If the case was reported after the test kit change, apply the same strategy as above except estimate the five parameters by county, age, and gender stratum using November 2012 – December 2017 cases with no missing data.

Test Result Pattern	Total (n)	% negative on IMMY assay	
	_	n (%)	95% CI
Meridian EIA IgM and IgG positive	13	9 (69%)	(44%, 94%)
Meridian EIA IgM positive only	15	8 (53%)	(28%, 79%)
Meridian EIA IgG positive only	12	12 (100%)	(73%, 100%)
Meridian EIA and immunodiffusion positive	43	7 (16%)	(7%, 31%)
Meridian EIA and complement fixation positive	1	0 (0%)	
Meridian EIA, immunodiffusion, and complement fixation positive	47	1 (2%)	(0%, 11%)

Table 3-S2. Bias parameter estimates from multi-laboratory study of *Coccidioides* EIA reproducibility<sup>113</sup>

Table 3-S3. Demographics of EIA+ only at Lab A before and after EIA test kit change

	Before EIA test kit change (June 2012- November 2012)	After EIA test kit change (November 2012-December 2017)	
	N=4,372	N=31,215	
	EIA+ only at Lab A	EIA+ only at Lab A	
	N=2,476 (56.6%)	N=9,604 (30.8%)	
Male	825 (33.3%)	3,519 (36.6%)	
County of residence			
Maricopa	2,073 (83.7%)	7,590 (79.0%)	
Pima	236 (9.5%)	1,184 (12.3%)	
Pina	167 (6.7%)	830 (8.6%)	

Table 3-S4. Demographic stratum-specific prevalence of EIA only at Lab A before and after EIA
test kit change

Stratum -	P(Lab A & EIA+ only)		
	Before EIA test kit change	After EIA test kit change	
Maricopa, female, age <65	0.70 (0.68, 0.72)	0.38 (0.37, 0.40)	
Maricopa, female, age $\geq 65$	0.57 (0.52, 0.62)	0.45 (0.43, 0.46)	
Maricopa, male, age < 65	0.51 (0.48, 0.54)	0.21 (0.20, 0.22)	
Maricopa, male, age $\geq 65$	0.42 (0.36, 0.47)	0.31 (0.29, 0.33)	

0.51 (0.45, 0.57)	0.27 (0.25, 0.29)
0.41 (0.29, 0.53)	0.24 (0.21, 0.27)
0.31 (0.25, 0.38)	0.20 (0.18, 0.22)
0.13 (0.06, 0.20)	0.16 (0.14, 0.19)
0.76 (0.69, 0.84)	0.40 (0.37, 0.43)
0.47 (0.30, 0.64)	0.39 (0.34, 0.44)
0.39 (0.29, 0.49)	0.23 (0.20, 0.25)
0.46 (0.30, 0.62)	0.27 (0.23, 0.31)
	0.41 (0.29, 0.53) 0.31 (0.25, 0.38) 0.13 (0.06, 0.20) 0.76 (0.69, 0.84) 0.47 (0.30, 0.64) 0.39 (0.29, 0.49)

 Table 3-S5. Demographic stratum-specific test result pattern prevalence, June 2012–November

 2012

Stratum	P(Lab A & EIA IgM+ only) (95% CI)	P(Lab A & EIA IgG+ only) (95% CI)	
Maricopa, female, age < 65	0.60 (0.58, 0.63)	0.06 (0.05, 0.07)	
Maricopa, female, age $\geq 65$	0.33 (0.28, 0.38)	0.19 (0.15, 0.22)	
Maricopa, male, age < 65	0.35 (0.32, 0.38)	0.11 (0.09, 0.13)	
Maricopa, male, age $\geq 65$	0.18 (0.13, 0.22)	0.20 (0.15, 0.24)	
Pima, female, age <65	0.41 (0.35, 0.46)	0.06 (0.03, 0.09)	
Pima, female, age $\geq 65$	0.29 (0.17, 0.40)	0.11 (0.03, 0.19)	
Pima, male, age < 65	0.19 (0.13, 0.25)	0.08 (0.04, 0.11)	
Pima, male, age $\geq 65$	0.06 (0.01, 0.11)	0.06 (0.01, 0.11)	
Pinal, female, age <65	0.61 (0.52, 0.69)	0.10 (0.05, 0.16)	
Pinal, female, age $\geq 65$	0.34 (0.18, 0.51)	0.09 (0, 0.19)	
Pinal, male, age < 65	0.24 (0.16, 0.33)	0.10 (0.04, 0.16)	
Pinal, male, age $\geq 65$	0.18 (0.06, 0.3)	0.21 (0.08, 0.33)	

Stratum	P(Lab A & EIA IgM/IgG+ only) (95% CI)	P(Lab A & EIA/immunodiffusion+ only) (95% CI)
Maricopa, female, age < 65	0.036 (0.03, 0.045)	0.05 (0.04, 0.06)
Maricopa, female, age $\geq 65$	0.05 (0.03, 0.07)	0.06 (0.04, 0.09)
Maricopa, male, age < 65	0.05 (0.03, 0.06)	0.11 (0.09, 0.13)
Maricopa, male, age $\geq 65$	0.04 (0.02, 0.06)	0.11 (0.07, 0.14)
Pima, female, age <65	0.05 (0.02, 0.07)	0.11 (0.07, 0.14)
Pima, female, age $\geq 65$	0.02 (0, 0.05)	0.06 (0, 0.12)
Pima, male, age < 65	0.05 (0.02, 0.08)	0.08 (0.04, 0.12)
Pima, male, age $\geq 65$	0	0.08 (0.02, 0.13)
Pinal, female, age <65	0.06 (0.02, 0.09)	0.07 (0.03, 0.12)
Pinal, female, age $\geq 65$	0.03 (0, 0.09)	0.19 (0.05, 0.32)
Pinal, male, age < 65	0.05 (0.01, 0.10)	0.18 (0.10, 0.26)

0.15 (0.04, 0.27)

Stratum	P(other) (95% CI)
Maricopa, female, age < 65	0.25 (0.23, 0.27)
Maricopa, female, age $\geq 65$	0.37 (0.32, 0.42)
Maricopa, male, age $< 65$ Maricopa, male, age $\ge 65$	0.38 (0.35, 0.41) 0.47 (0.42, 0.53)
Pima, female, age <65	0.38 (0.32, 0.44)
Pima, female, age $\geq 65$	0.52 (0.40, 0.65)
Pima, male, age < 65	0.61 (0.53, 0.68)
Pima, male, age $\geq 65$	0.80 (0.71, 0.88)
Pinal, female, age <65	0.17 (0.10, 0.23)
Pinal, female, age $\geq 65$	0.34 (0.18, 0.51)
Pinal, male, age < 65	0.43 (0.33, 0.53)
Pinal, male, age $\geq 65$	0.38 (0.23, 0.54)

Table 3-S6. Probability lab A was the testing laboratory given test result pattern, June 2012–November 2012

Test Result Pattern	Estimate (95% CI)
EIA IgM+ only	0.92 (0.90, 0.93)
EIA IgG+ only	0.83 (0.79, 0.86)
EIA IgM/IgG+ only	0.79 (0.73, 0.84)
EIA/immunodiffusion + only	1 (0.99, 1)

# CHAPTER 4: METHODOLOGICAL ISSUES IN UNDERSTANDING THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN WEATHER AND COCCIDIOIDOMYCOSIS INCIDENCE IN ARIZONA

# Background

Coccidioidomycosis is an infectious disease caused by *Coccidioides* species, fungi found in the southwestern United States and other desert regions of the Americas.<sup>1</sup> Inhalation of spores produced by these organisms results in infection ranging in severity from asymptomatic to lethal disseminated disease.<sup>2</sup> Nearly two-thirds of all cases reported between 1998 and 2017 in the United States occurred in Arizona. Rates of reported disease increased five-fold during this time period.<sup>45</sup> In addition to this long-term trend, annual epidemics of coccidioidomycosis display distinct seasonality and vary dramatically in magnitude. Though the causes of these patterns are unclear, weather is frequently cited as a driver of coccidioidomycosis incidence.<sup>143</sup>

Our understanding of the behavior of these organisms in the environment is limited. Climate has long been thought to govern *Coccidioides* growth and dispersal of spores. This is supported by the biology and distribution of these organisms. Factors hypothesized to affect the fungus include precipitation, temperature, relative humidity, dust storms, soil characteristics (moisture, salinity and concentration of other trace elements, organic matter, pH), competing soil microbes, small mammal activity, vegetation, and the presence of desert washes and stream beds or banks.<sup>8</sup> Water plays a central role in the lifecycle of *Coccidioides* as moisture is required for the fungus to grow. However, their presence appears to be exclusive to deserts, suggesting that hot summers and mild winters might also be necessary for fungal growth and propagation.<sup>8,117</sup>

A link to climate is also supported by the seasonality of human infections, which has been observed in Arizona since the 1950s.<sup>55</sup> This seasonality motivates quantitative studies of the relationship between weather and the incidence of reported coccidioidomycosis in Arizona. Numerous studies have found associations of varying magnitudes between precipitation, temperature, concentration of airborne particles 2.5-10 microns in diameter (PM<sub>10</sub>), dust storm frequency, soil moisture, and incidence. While the timing and magnitude of effects are inconsistent across studies, several studies point to a relationship between lagged precipitation (or soil moisture), temperature, and incidence.<sup>120</sup>

Studies to date have primarily sought to understand the ecological relationship between weather and *Coccidioides* growth and dispersal using human cases as an indirect measure of fungal activity.<sup>8,119</sup> Results are difficult to interpret across studies due to methodological differences including temporal aggregation (e.g., month vs. season) and the subjective nature of the variable selection process for multivariable modeling. For example, associations with precipitation at lags between four months and three years have been reported in the literature. Moreover, reported incidence data are complicated by changes in changes in public health surveillance for coccidioidomycosis, which are mostly unaddressed by the literature, and heterogeneity of disease presentation. Finally, model evaluation in published studies focused on the proportion of variance explained (i.e.,  $R^2$ ) or n-fold cross-validated error, neither of which resemble how a useful predictive model would be prospectively implemented and tested in practice.

We developed models of weather and coccidioidomycosis incidence in two Arizona counties and attempted to address key methodological issues arising in modeling the relationships between weather and coccidioidomycosis.

# Methods

We obtained monthly counts of coccidioidomycosis cases reported to the Arizona Department of Health Services between 1998 and 2017 among Maricopa County and Pima County residents. We restricted our analysis to Maricopa County and Pima County because data on environmental variables were consistently available for these areas and previous studies found differing seasonality of incidence by county.<sup>120</sup> Together, these two jurisdictions account for 80% of the state's population and 95% of reported coccidioidomycosis cases during this timeframe. Changes in laboratory reporting and testing practices have substantially influenced case counts between 2009 and 2017 (Chapter 3). To create a consistent time series for analysis, we adjusted June 2009 through 2017 weekly counts by removing cases that would not have been reported in the reporting scheme that was in place between 1998 and May 2009. We could not identify all of these cases with certainty due to missing data. Thus, we used Monte Carlo simulation to probabilistically remove cases based on their demographic characteristics and reporting timeframe and estimated the mean weekly bias-adjusted case count from 10,000 simulations. These methods and results have been described elsewhere (Chapter 3). County population denominators were obtained from the U.S. Census Bureau's intercensal estimates and used to calculate monthly incidence rates in person-months.<sup>140</sup>

Environmental variables include total precipitation (centimeters), average air temperature (degrees Celsius), average wind speed (meters/second), average wind vector direction (degree), and concentration of airborne particles 2.5–10 microns in diameter (PM<sub>10</sub>; micrograms/m<sup>3</sup>). Weather data were obtained from the Arizona Meteorological Network.<sup>144</sup> PM<sub>10</sub> data were obtained from the Environmental Protection Agency.<sup>145</sup> For all variables, we only included stations in the study area that were continuously active between 1996 and 2017 and averaged daily measures across stations to compute a monthly mean (or sum in the case of total precipitation). Invalid (e.g., implausible or flagged values) daily measures were discarded.

We described the distributions of incidence rates and environmental variables using descriptive statistics, graphical methods (e.g., time series plots and box-and-whisker plots),

autocorrelation analysis, and additive seasonal and trend decomposition using LOESS.<sup>146</sup> We then examined relationships between environmental variables and monthly incidence rate in each county using multiple methods. To describe concurrent and lagged relationships, we calculated and plotted cross-correlation functions between incidence and each environmental variable. We then constructed bivariate Pearson correlation coefficient heat maps by calendar month to identify more complex lagged relationships. We used these results to guide the creation of additional variables to summarize incidence-weather relationships (e.g., average of previous year December and January total precipitation) and calculated Pearson correlation coefficients for these composite variables as well. Finally, we examined whether different factors affected the seasonality of incidence rate and/or interannual variation in incidence. We used additive seasonal and trend decomposition using LOESS with a 12-month smoothing window and plotted (i) the seasonal cycle of incidence and each environmental factor.

We incorporated several analyses to explore and address methodological issues:

- Temporal aggregation of incidence We compared results from bivariate analyses using monthly vs. meteorological seasonal average incidence rate.
- Changes in surveillance We compared results from descriptive and bivariate analyses using the unadjusted vs. adjusted monthly incidence rate.
- Heterogeneity among reported cases As reported cases are heterogeneous with respect to time between exposure and positive laboratory test report, we repeated the bivariate analysis using counts of cases aged 65 years and older only. This age group might be more homogeneous with respect to access to healthcare due to Medicare and prevalence of

comorbidities, both likely determinants of timing of careseeking and probability of being tested, and has the highest age group-specific incidence rate in Arizona.

For multivariable models, we selected predictors based on the magnitude of correlation with incidence rate and consistency of lagged relationships across the abovementioned exploratory methods. We modeled the log of the monthly incidence rate using linear regression. Model evaluation was based on cross-validated performance. To simulate prospective runs of prediction models, we used rolling origin cross-validation. This method has been suggested for evaluating forecasting models of time series.<sup>146</sup> The procedure for cross-validation was as follows: for the one-month horizon prediction models, (1) train a model based on 1998–2002 case counts, (2) predict January 2003 incidence and (3) compare to observed incidence to calculate performance metrics. This was process was repeated by 'rolling' forward in time: training using 1998–January 2003 observed case counts, prediction of February 2003 incidence, and so on. We report performance metrics averaged across all one-step-ahead predictions. Model covariates also included time (months since January 1998) and calendar month. Metrics for assessment of model performance included root mean squared error, mean absolute error, and mean absolute percentage error.

All analyses were conducted separately for Maricopa County and Pima County. Analyses were conducted in SAS version 9.4 (SAS Institute, Cary, NC) and R version 3.5.2.<sup>147</sup>

## Results

There were 89,822 and 17,523 cases reported between 1998 and 2017 in Maricopa and Pima counties, respectively. To create a consistent time series, we removed cases that would have not have been reported prior to June 2009. These cases were only *Coccidioides* enzyme immunoassay positive at a major commercial laboratory and lacked additional positive test

results. After bias adjustment for this surveillance change, 60,073 and 14,076 cases remained for each county. Of these, 16,014 (26.7%) and 4,179 (29.7%) were aged 65 years and older. In Maricopa County, unadjusted monthly incidence rates ranged from 0.89 cases per 100,000 person-months to 35.6 cases per 100,000 person-months with a mean and median of 9.84 and 7.46, respectively. Adjusted rates were lower (mean: 6.69 cases per 100,000 person-months) and less variable (standard deviation: 3.22 vs. 7.50) than unadjusted rates. Adjusted rates for persons 65 years and older were higher (mean: 14.47) than overall unadjusted and adjusted rates. Monthly rates were lower in Pima County; unadjusted monthly incidence rates ranged from 0.81 cases per 100,000 person-months to 20.34 cases per 100,000 person-months with a mean and median of 7.59 and 4.05, respectively. Adjusted rates were also lower (mean: 6.15 cases per 100,000 person-months) and less variable (standard deviation: 2.66 vs. 4.05). Adjusted rates for persons 65 years and older were also higher (mean: 11.48) than overall unadjusted and adjusted rates (Table 4-1).

Unadjusted monthly rates increased linearly until 2009 after which rates increased dramatically and were elevated through 2012. Bias-adjusted rates had similar trends, although 2009–2012 rates were lower compared to unadjusted rates. Rates declined in 2012. Seasonality of monthly incidence rates differed between counties. In both counties, mean monthly incidence rates were highest in winter and lowest in spring, with a much smaller peak in late summer. However, peak Pima County rates were similar while in Maricopa County the winter peak was substantially higher than the summer peak. For both counties, December incidence rates were more variable than other months. In Maricopa County alone, 2009–2012 seasonality differed from other years, even after adjustment for surveillance changes. Overall, seasonality did not differ substantially between the adjusted and unadjusted series. Additive seasonal and trend

decomposition using LOESS supported these observations regarding long-term trends and seasonality.

Autocorrelation and partial autocorrelation functions of up to 24-month lags provided further evidence of an annual seasonal cycle and differences across counties, with moderate differences before and after adjustment. For Maricopa County, there was strong first-order autocorrelation (0.70) and weaker autocorrelation with observations 11 to 12 months prior (0.24 and 0.17) for the adjusted time series. In the unadjusted series, the strength of first-order autocorrelation was greater (0.88), stronger second-order autocorrelation (0.32 vs. 0.14) and similar autocorrelation with observations 11 to 12 months prior (0.22 and 0.06). For Pima County, first-order autocorrelation was moderate (0.52), and there was weak autocorrelation at other lags (two, five, 11, and 12). The unadjusted series had stronger autocorrelation at similar lags. Weak negative autocorrelation (-0.18 and -0.16 for Maricopa and Pima counties, respectively) with observations 13 months prior also supported a 12-month cycle.

Of the four environmental variables we examined, total precipitation was the most variable over time and across counties (Table 4-1). In Maricopa County, the average monthly total precipitation between 1996 and 2017 was 1.49 cm (standard deviation: 1.77 cm, range: 0–9.67 cm). Total precipitation has complex seasonality with peaks in late summer (mean: 2.57–2.70 cm) and late winter or early spring i.e., January through March (mean: 2.05–2.39 cm), and a three-month nadir before the late summer peak (mean: 0.28–0.47 cm). Late winter precipitation was the most variable across study period. Annual total precipitation was highest in 2004 (26.51 cm) and lowest in 2012 (13.67 cm), with no indication of a long-term increase or decrease during the study period. In Pima County, the average monthly total precipitation between 1996 and 2017 was 2.27 cm (standard deviation: 2.82 cm, range: 0–16.64 cm). Monthly total precipitation

typically peaked in July (mean: 6.68 cm) with a preceding two- to three-month nadir (mean: 0.23–1.26 cm). As in Maricopa County, there was no consistent long-term trend in annual total precipitation, but it was less variable in Pima County. Years of increased and decreased precipitation coincided with Maricopa County for some years (e.g., 2006, 2008, 2009).

Average PM<sub>10</sub> concentrations were higher in Maricopa County (34.05 µg/cm<sup>3</sup>) than Pima County (28.96 µg/cm<sup>3</sup>). PM<sub>10</sub> concentration in Maricopa County declined over the study period, but was stable in Pima County. In addition to these long-term trends, there was considerable variability in average monthly PM<sub>10</sub> concentration by year and evidence of seasonality. In both counties, PM<sub>10</sub> concentrations were bimodal with peaks in May or June and November. Average temperature (degrees Celsius) was higher in Maricopa County than Pima County (21.2° vs. 20.2°). In both counties, there was an increase in average annual temperature during the last three years of the study period. Average wind speed (m/s) was similar across both counties (1.71 m/s and 1.82 m/s in Maricopa and Pima counties, respectively). Average wind speed gradually increased from a nadir in December to a peak in June. In Maricopa County, average wind vector direction gradually changed from south-easterly (149.30°) in January to south-westerly (209.00°) in June. In Pima County, average wind vector direction gradually changed from south-westerly (205.15°) in January to southerly (180.26°) in August.

We examined concurrent and up to 24-month lagged relationships between environmental factors (total precipitation, average temperature, average wind speed, and average  $PM_{10}$ ) and adjusted and unadjusted monthly and adjusted seasonal coccidioidomycosis incidence rate. We limit our results to the adjusted monthly and seasonal series because correlations with unadjusted incidence and incidence among persons aged 65 years and older were largely similar (Figures 4-S3a–4b). Since bivariate relationships were similar, we did not pursue multivariable modeling for these series.

As precipitation varied most between years, it was more likely than other factors to have caused interannual variation in coccidioidomycosis epidemics. In Maricopa County, the correlation heat map displayed negative correlations between monthly incidence rate and same year January–February, previous year March, September–November, and May–June, and 1.5- to two-year lagged July–September precipitation. There were positive correlations between incidence and preceding December, one- to two-year lagged December-January precipitation (Figure 4-1a). In the cross-correlation analysis, monthly incidence rate was negatively correlated with total precipitation lagged one to eight months with two successive increases and decreases in the strength of the correlation (peaks: -0.26 and -0.20) (Figure 4-S1). This was followed by two successive increases and decreases of positive correlations between 14- and 18-month lagged precipitation and incidence after which correlations were again negative at 19 months. Comparing seasonally-adjusted trends in precipitation and incidence, periods of elevated precipitation appear to be followed by increases in incidence when there are concurrent declines in precipitation (Figure 4-2). In the seasonal analysis, seasonal average incidence rates were positively correlated (range: 0.19, 0.47) with average winter precipitation three to six seasons (i.e., 9–18 months) prior. Concurrent and/or one- to two-season lagged precipitation was negatively correlated (range: -0.18, -0.56) with subsequent seasonal incidence (Figure 4-S2).

In Pima County, there were negative correlations between previous year March, May, and December–January total precipitation and incidence in the heat map analysis. We observed positive relationships between 1.5 to two-year September, previous year October, June, and February–March total precipitation and incidence (Figure 4-1b). In the cross-correlation analysis, a sinusoidal pattern of alternating positive and negative correlations was observed. The strongest negative correlation was at two months prior (-0.25), while the strongest positive correlation was at eleven months prior (0.18) (Figure 4-S1). Comparing long-term trends in precipitation and incidence, we again observe that periods of elevated precipitation followed by coinciding declines appear to be followed by increases in incidence (Figure 4-2). In the seasonal analysis, preceding winter precipitation was positively correlated with subsequent fall (0.40) and winter (0.19) incidence. There were negative correlations (range: -0.15, -0.46) between concurrent and one- to three-season lagged precipitation and seasonal average incidence rate (Figure 4-S2).

In heat map analysis of average temperature and monthly incidence in Maricopa County, previous year March to May (range: -0.17, -0.46) and preceding January (range: -0.13, -0.38) average temperature was inversely associated with incidence, and preceding July–August and 1.5 to two-year lagged July average temperature were positively associated (range: 0.22, 0.63) with incidence (Figure 4-1a). In the seasonal analysis, preceding and/or previous year winter temperature was inversely associated with incidence and summer temperatures were positively associated with incidence (Figure 4-S2). We did not observe consistent patterns in the comparison between long-term trends in average monthly temperature and incidence (Figure 4-2). In Pima County, one- to six-month lagged and preceding June–July average temperatures were positively associated with incidence, and few correlations were negative (Figure 4-1b). There was no evident temporal trend in average temperature (Figure 4-2). In the seasonal analysis, correlations were again largely positive, although previous year winter and fall temperatures were inversely associated with incidence (Figure 4-S2).

In heat map analysis of average wind speed and incidence in Maricopa County, previous year May to August and December through February average wind speed were negatively correlated with incidence. Previous year March to April, April to May, and 1.5- to two-year lagged September to November were positively associated with incidence (Figure 41a). In the seasonal analysis, spring and summer incidence were inversely associated with the previous summer wind speed (range: -0.57, -0.43) and incidence in all seasons was associated with previous year's summer wind speed (i.e., 5 to 7 seasons prior). Positive correlations were observed with winter incidence and previous year's fall wind speed and spring wind speed and spring and summer incidence (Figure 4-S2). Increases and decreases in average wind speed coincided with same-direction changes in incidence between 2003 and 2016 (Figure 4-2). In Pima County, previous year February was negatively correlated with incidence (Figure 4-1b). In the seasonal analysis, there were negative correlations between lagged wind speed and incidence for most months and lags (Figure 4-S2). The strongest negative correlations were for the previous year's winter. There was no meaningful change in average wind speed in Pima County (Figure 4-2).

Associations with  $PM_{10}$  and incidence also varied by county. In Maricopa County, one- to two-year lagged June through October and previous year April to May  $PM_{10}$  were negatively associated with incidence (range: -0.11, -0.64) in the heat map analysis (Figure 4-1a). There were positive correlations (range: 0.20, 0.30) between preceding February through March  $PM_{10}$  and incidence. In the seasonal analysis, there were negative correlations between two- to eight-season lagged  $PM_{10}$  and incidence (Figure 4-S2). In the trend analysis, there was some support for a relationship between concurrent  $PM_{10}$  and incidence. In Pima County, correlations with  $PM_{10}$ were mostly zero or weakly positive in the heat map analysis with the exception of negative correlations between incidence and one- to two-year lagged May through September and previous year December through February  $PM_{10}$  (Figure 4-1b). Trends in  $PM_{10}$  grossly followed incidence rate trends (Figure 4-2).

Based on these results, we created nineteen (seven total precipitation; four average temperature; five average wind speed; three average  $PM_{10}$ ) and twelve (seven total precipitation; two average temperature; one average wind speed; two average  $PM_{10}$ ) additional weather-related variables for Maricopa and Pima counties, respectively, summarizing the observed relationships. Pearson correlation coefficients for these composite variables and monthly incidence rates are listed in Table 4-2. We selected the following predictors for inclusion in multivariable linear regression models of log monthly incidence rate based on the strongest positive and negative correlations for each environmental variable: one- to two-year lagged December-January and 1.5- to two-year lagged July–September average total precipitation; preceding January and 1.5 to two-year lagged July average temperature; previous year May to August average wind speed; and one- to two-year lagged June through October PM<sub>10</sub> for Maricopa County and previous year March and previous year December–January average total precipitation; preceding June–July average temperature; previous year February average wind speed; and one- to two-year lagged May through September PM<sub>10</sub> for Pima County. The PM<sub>10</sub> variable was eliminated from the model for Maricopa County because it was highly correlated with one- to two-year lagged December–January total precipitation. Figure 4-3 displays predicted versus observed values of monthly incidence rates between 2003 and 2017 for Maricopa and Pima counties by model. For Maricopa County, the performance of the linear regression model was as follows: root mean square error 3.4; mean absolute error 2.5; and mean absolute percentage error 37.0% Performance was better in Pima County: root mean square error 2.8; mean absolute error 2.2; and mean absolute percentage error 36.1%.

# Discussion

We used a variety of methods to identify relationships between environmental factors and coccidioidomycosis incidence in Arizona. We included 20 years of incidence data from Maricopa and Pima counties, which report among the highest numbers of confirmed coccidioidomycosis cases in the U.S. As in previous studies<sup>120</sup>, we found evidence of an annual seasonal cycle for incidence with differences in seasonality across counties. We used season-trend decomposition to identify seasonally-adjusted long-term trends in climate and PM<sub>10</sub> and found approximate concordance, or evidence of a more complex relationship, between incidence and total precipitation, average wind speed, and PM<sub>10</sub>. Consistent with previous work<sup>8.65,117,119,123</sup>, we observed positive correlations between one- to two-year lagged winter precipitation and subsequent monthly incidence rate. Previous studies have reported a suppressive effect of antecedent or concurrent (i.e., fall or winter) precipitation on incidnece.<sup>65,120,121,123</sup> We found negative correlations between previous year September to November and 1.5- to two-year lagged July-September precipitation.

We also found positive correlations between 1.5- to two-year and preceding late summer average temperature and incidence in both counties. Findings in the literature are more mixed, with some studies reporting positive correlations with 3- to 4-month lagged average temperature and incidence<sup>65,122</sup> while others found no correlation<sup>120</sup> or negative correlations between summer temperature and incidence anomalies.<sup>117</sup> In contrast to previous studies reporting no relationships<sup>65,117,120</sup>, we found weak negative and positive correlation between precious year (e.g., April to May) average wind speed and incidence in Maricopa County and a stronger negative correlation between previous year February average wind speed and incidence in Pima County. Finally, we found mostly negative correlations between spring and summer to fall PM<sub>10</sub> and incidence. This was also reported by Tong et al., and may reflect the anthropogenic components of  $PM_{10}$  as opposed to soil borne dust.<sup>121</sup> Previous studies have found positive correlations between dust storms or  $PM_{10}$  and incidence.<sup>65,119,122</sup>

We also constructed multivariable models of coccidioidomycosis incidence and weather in both counties. We constructed composite variables to summarize weather-incidence relationships and evaluated model prediction of monthly incidence rate. Model performance was suboptimal, particularly after 2011. Few studies have attempted to predict coccidioidomycosis incidence. Previous analyses by Zender and Talamantes used linear and autoregressive moving average regression models to predict incidence in Kern County, California and found that models including lagged incidence could more accurately predict incidence than models including weather-related variables. The addition of environmental variables had minimal effect on model accuracy.<sup>148–150</sup>

We attempted to address several methodological concerns in the weather and coccidioidomycosis literature. Contrary to our hypothesis, we found that adjusting for surveillance changes did not meaningfully affect relationships between incidence and weather. Surveillance changes only applied to nine of 20 years of incidence data, and the potential bias introduced by them may not be substantially time-varying. Similarly, restricting the incidence time series to cases aged 65 years and older did not alter conclusions from bivariate analyses. We hypothesized that cases in this age group might be more similar with respect to time between exposure and case report. Although age is associated with comorbidities and comorbidities are determinants of disease severity<sup>71</sup>, disease presentation and careseeking among older adults might be more variable than we had assumed.

We also sought to understand the influence of methodological choices on weatherincidence analysis. We compared season- and month-level aggregation of incidence and weather data and found that seasonal analyses were largely concordant with monthly analysis. Weatherrelated predictors are highly correlated, making variable selection and model development a challenge. Finally, while we attempted to simulate prospective evaluation of model performance, we used data on confirmed cases that had been processed to remove duplicates and cases without positive laboratory test results from high specificity tests (e.g., immunodiffusion, culture). Although case reports are routinely processed and cleaned, model performance might be worse using data collected in real-time.

As previous authors have observed, case reports are a coarse measure of fungal activity and risk of infection. In addition to the approximately 40% of infections that are asymptomatic, an unknown proportion are not detected or even medically attended. Coccidioidomycosis also has a relatively long incubation period of one to three weeks.<sup>28</sup> Enhanced surveillance of reported cases in Arizona found that time between symptom onset and report was also lengthy and varied substantially across patients.<sup>75</sup> Previous studies have adjusted for time to report by subtracting a single value from case report dates, which does not account for heterogeneity, and sensitivity analyses suggest that single-value adjustment does not substantially affect estimated associations between climate and incidence.<sup>133</sup>

Several features of the study period might have also contributed to difficulty in accurate forecasting. Despite our adjustment for surveillance changes, reported case counts exhibited differing temporal dynamics after 2009 as compared with earlier years. While these years coincide with changes in laboratory testing and reporting, it is likely that other factors also contributed to these differences. These phenomena might be related to careseeking and testing, in-migration of susceptible persons, and/or unknown environmental factors, none of which were included in our models. It is also possible that our environmental measures were not measured at the appropriate spatial scales. The distribution of *Coccidioides* in soil appears to be highly focal and irregular<sup>2,151</sup>, and a recent air sampling study found unexplained spatiotemporal heterogeneity.<sup>22</sup> Thus, total precipitation, for example, across an entire county does not capture variability in sub-meter scale soil moisture, temperature, and small mammal behavior. Similarly, we used PM<sub>10</sub> as a crude proxy for arthroconidia density, though it includes particulates from a variety of natural and anthropogenic sources.<sup>131</sup> Small-scale field studies of *Coccidioides* in the soil and air would facilitate our understanding of these dynamics and development of better measures of relevant environmental drivers of fungal activity.

While weather likely influences *Coccidioides* distribution and growth, the inherent stochasticity of natural systems, including climate and *Coccidioides* ecology, might limit our ability to predict incidence at useful time horizons and with acceptable accuracy. Forecasting models might be strengthened by incorporating measures of careseeking and testing from local healthcare providers and reference laboratories. At the time of this analysis, long-term time series of these variables were unavailable. Direct measurement of airborne arthroconidia would allow for inferences about contemporaneous risk of infection and alert public health authorities and the healthcare system of later increases in the number of patients with coccidioidomycosis. Since there are no measures to prevent infection in endemic areas, this strategy might be as actionable as an accurate prediction model and allow for the collection of long-term data on fungal activity, potentially providing insights into the ecology of *Coccidioides*.

87





**Total Precipitation** 











#### **Total Precipitation**

N D





# 

Figure 4-2. Season-trend decomposition for adjusted monthly coccidioidomycosis incidence and environmental factors in Maricopa and Pima counties, 1998 - 2017





# Maricopa County

Pima County



Figure 4-3. Predicted vs. observed adjusted coccidioidomycosis incidence in Maricopa and Pima counties, 2003 – 2017

Figure 4-S1. Cross-correlation plots for adjusted coccidioidomycosis incidence and environmental factors in Maricopa and Pima counties, 1998 – 2017





Pima County









Lag

Pima County

Figure 4-S2. Correlation heat maps for adjusted coccidioidomycosis incidence by meteorological season and 0–8-season lagged environmental factors in Maricopa and Pima counties, 1998 - 2017



### Average Wind Speed



Average PM<sub>10</sub>





Fall Winter

Spring Summer Fall Winter

Average PM<sub>10</sub>

0

-2

-1

-3

-5

-4

-7

-8

-6




Average Temperature



Average Wind Speed







#### **Total Precipitation**



Average Temperature



Average Wind Speed



Average PM<sub>10</sub>







Average Temperature









Average PM<sub>10</sub>







J A S O N D



Table 4-1. Description statistics for monthly coccidioidomycosis incidence and environmental factors in Maricopa and Pima counties, 1998 - 2017

	Maricopa			
	Mean (SD)	Median (IQR)	Range	
Incidence rate				
(cases per 100,000 person-months)				
Unadjusted incidence rate	9.84 (7.50)	7.46 (4.88, 11.98)	0.89, 35.59	
Bias-adjusted incidence rate	6.69 (3.23)	6.02 (4.50, 8.37)	0.89, 17.39	
Bias-adjusted incidence rate - 65+ years only	14.47 (7.55)	13.10 (9.15, 18.33)	1.95, 39.56	
Environmental factors				
Average total precipitation (cm)	1.40 (1.77)	0.88 (0.15, 2.29)	0.00, 9.67	
Average temperature (°C)	21.18 (8.05)	20.62 (13.70, 29.24)	8.11, 34.20	
Average wind speed (m/s)	1.71 (0.28)	1.73 (1.47, 1.95)	0.98, 2.45	
Average $PM_{10}$ (micrograms/m <sup>3</sup> )	34.05 (9.80)	32.60 (26.51, 40.23)	16.56, 63.55	
	Pima			
	Mean (SD)	Median (IQR)	Range	
Incidence rate				
(cases per 100,000 person-months)				
Unadjusted incidence rate	7.59 (4.05)	6.85 (4.57, 9.99)	0.81, 20.34	
Bias-adjusted incidence rate	6.15 (2.66)	6.13 (4.31, 7.85)	0.81, 14.23	
Bias-adjusted incidence rate - 65+ years only	11.48 (5.56)	11.40 (7.06, 15.51)	0.85, 27.98	
Environmental factors				
Average total precipitation (cm)	2.29 (2.82)	1.19 (0.20, 3.54)	0.00, 16.64	
Average temperature (°C)	20.23 (7.69)	20.16 (13.27, 27.92)	6.51, 31.77	
Average wind speed (m/s)	1.82 (0.33)	1.84 (1.58, 2.08)	1.01, 2.76	
Average $PM_{10}$ (micrograms/m <sup>3</sup> )	28.96 (7.57)	27.58 (23.37, 33.75)	10.51, 57.96	

composite environmental variables in Maricopa and Pima counties, 1998 – 2017 Pearson Correlat		
Environmental Variable	Coefficient	
Maricopa County		
Total Precipitation		
one- to two-year lagged December–January	0.46	
preceding December	0.24	
previous year May–June	0.05	
preceding January-February	-0.07	
previous year September–November	-0.26	
previous year March	-0.27	
1.5- to two-year lagged July–September	-0.27	
Average Temperature		
1.5 to two-year lagged July	0.28	
preceding July–August	0.24	
previous year March–May	-0.20	
preceding January	-0.26	
Average Wind Speed		
1.5- to two-year lagged September–November	0.14	
previous year April–May	0.10	
previous year March–April	0.10	
preceding December-February	-0.22	
previous year May–August	-0.26	
Average PM10		
preceding February–March	-0.17	
previous year April–May	-0.33	
one- to two-year lagged June–October	-0.40	
Pima County		
Total Precipitation		
previous year March	-0.29	
1.5 to two-year September	-0.15	
previous year October	-0.12	
previous year June	-0.22	
previous year February–March	-0.18	
previous year May	0.12	
previous year December–January	0.20	
Average Temperature		
preceding June–July	0.35	
one- to six-month lagged	0.18	
Average Wind Speed		
previous year February	-0.51	

Table 4-2. Correlations between for adjusted monthly coccidioidomycosis incidence and composite environmental variables in Maricopa and Pima counties, 1998 - 2017

<u>Average PM10</u>	
previous year December–February	-0.09
one- to two-year lagged May-September	0.23

# CHAPTER 5: LAND DEVELOPMENT AND REPORTED COCCIDIOIDOMYCOSIS INCIDENCE IN CENTRAL AND SOUTHERN ARIZONA

## Background

Coccidioidomycosis is an infectious disease caused by inhalation of spores produced by *Coccidioides* spp., fungi endemic to desert soils of the Americas.<sup>1</sup> Nearly two-thirds of all cases reported in the United States between 1998 and 2017 occurred among people living in Arizona. Since Arizona mandated laboratory reporting of *Coccidioides* test results in 1997, rates of reported disease have increased five-fold.<sup>97</sup> Possible explanations for this increase include surveillance changes, climate change, in-migration of susceptible persons, and increased disturbance of desert soils (e.g., dust storms and construction).<sup>28</sup>

Anthropogenic soil disturbance has long been associated with coccidioidomycosis, particularly point-source outbreaks. Half of all outbreaks reported in the literature were linked to occupational land disturbance (e.g. construction, archaeological digs, military field exercises).<sup>52</sup> The relationship between soil disturbance and ongoing incidence outside of outbreaks is less clear. Central and southern Arizona have undergone rapid urbanization and population growth during the last 20 years: the population of the Phoenix metropolitan area increased 87% between 1990 and 2010.<sup>134</sup> While urban expansion in the early twentieth century used primarily core agricultural lands, growth since 1975 has consumed native desert land. This peripheral expansion has brought populations closer to areas where desert soils are being disturbed.<sup>135</sup> However, the distribution of *Coccidioides* in soil is highly focal,<sup>126</sup> so it is plausible that the risk of infection also varies across space. Soil disturbance of native desert soils may not increase the risk of infection in all areas or the effect of disturbance may vary in magnitude across space.

We hypothesized that greater land development, measured as proportion of structures built recently and change in land cover from native desert to developed land, increased the risk of coccidioidomycosis and that this relationship varied across the endemic area. We estimated the association between land development and census tract-specific reported coccidioidomycosis incidence in 2017 in Arizona's three most populated counties: Maricopa, Pima, and Pinal counties.

#### Methods

#### Data Sources

Records for confirmed coccidioidomycosis cases in 2017 were obtained from the Arizona Department of Health Services. Addresses for patients residing in Maricopa, Pima, and Pinal counties were geocoded using Centrus software (Pitney Bowes, Inc., Stamford, CT). These counties encompass the Phoenix and Tucson metropolitan areas, where 82% of the state's population and 95% of coccidioidomycosis cases reported in Arizona reside. Annual census tract-specific counts of reported coccidioidomycosis were calculated based on addresses that could be geocoded to the census tract-level or better.

Population denominators and sociodemographic covariates were obtained from the American Community Survey (2013–2017 five-year estimates). We selected potential confounders based on the conceptual model in Figure 5-1. These included the percent of the population 65 years of age and older (older age), the percent of the population living below the federal poverty line (socioeconomic status), and the percent of primary respondents that moved into the present housing unit after 2010 (a proxy measure for in-migration). In a sensitivity analysis, we measured in-migration using the percent of tract population moved from a different state or abroad in the past year. Rates of reported coccidioidomycosis are consistently highest among older age groups,<sup>97</sup> possibly due to higher prevalence of co-morbidities and greater careseeking.<sup>71</sup> Migrants from non-endemic areas are at risk for coccidioidomycosis due to lack of immunity.<sup>5</sup> While data on socioeconomic status and risk of coccidioidomycosis are scarce, income level is strongly associated with place of residence due to economic segregation.<sup>152</sup> Additionally, we hypothesized that careseeking and the probability of being tested for and diagnosed with coccidioidomycosis vary by socioeconomic status. The distributions of these factors are uneven across the study area and might be associated with areas where land development occurred, particularly for in-migration.

We measured land development in two ways: (1) the percent of structures built after 2010 as recorded by the American Community Survey and (2) remotely sensed land cover change. Key land cover types (barren, shrub/scrub, developed open space, developed low intensity, developed medium intensity, developed high intensity) at 30m by 30m resolution were obtained from the 2016 National Land Cover Database.<sup>153</sup> We calculated remotely sensed land cover change as the percent of all pixels in a given tract that were classified as barren or shrub/scrub in 2013 and became any category of developed land in 2016. The 2013 vintage TIGER/Line® shapefiles for census tracts in Maricopa, Pima, and Pinal counties were obtained from the U.S. Census Bureau.<sup>154</sup>

## Analysis

We limited our analysis to populated tracts with non-missing sociodemographic variables. We characterized the spatial distribution of reported cases, land cover and land cover change, and key sociodemographic covariates using exploratory spatial data analysis. A first-order queen contiguity spatial weight matrix was used for all analyses. We used choropleth maps to visualize spatial structure and qualitatively assess relationships between variables. Univariate and bivariate Moran's I, a measure of global spatial autocorrelation, were calculated to assess the presence of spatial autocorrelation and spatial correlation between variables.<sup>155</sup>

We hypothesized that the relationship between land development and incidence might be location-specific due to the focal distribution of the fungus in soil. Thus, we modeled the relationship between land development and census tract-specific incidence rate using Bayesian spatially varying coefficient models. This type of model allowed for the effect of land development to vary across the study area.<sup>156</sup> Models were specified as follows:

Equation 1.1.  $Y_i \sim \beta_0 + b_{0i} + (\beta_{1+}b_{1i})X_1 + \beta X$ 

where  $Y_i$  is the tract-specific case count in 2017, parameterized with a Poisson distribution,  $b_{0i}$  is the tract-specific random intercept,  $\beta_1$  is the overall effect of land development,  $b_{1i}$  is the tractspecific random effect of land development, and  $\beta$  is a vector of the fixed effects of potential confounders **X**. The random intercept incorporated a spatial convolution prior (i.e., a component structured by spatial adjacency and a spatially unstructured component) as in the Besag-York-Mollié model.<sup>157</sup> The random effect of land development incorporated a conditionally autoregressive, spatially structured component. This formulation incorporates spatial smoothing to estimate local effects by borrowing information from neighboring areas.<sup>158</sup> Both random effects were specified with log-gamma priors as per software package defaults.

Spatial models without the land development random effect and covariate fixed effects were used to generate smoothed rates for mapping purposes. Tract population in 2017 was included as an offset term. We used Integrated Nested Laplace Approximation to estimate the posterior distribution and marginal posterior distributions for all parameters using the R-INLA package.<sup>159</sup> Effects were estimated per one standard deviation increase in land development measure. Parameter distributions were summarized using posterior medians and 95% credible intervals. Estimated incidence rate ratios were calculated from the marginal posterior medians of the fixed and random effects of each land development measure. We assessed model fit using the

Deviance Information Criterion. Analyses were performed in GeoDa<sup>160</sup>, ArcGIS (ESRI, Inc., Redlands, CA), SAS v9.4 (SAS Institute, Inc., Cary, NC), and R (R Core Team, 2019). **Results** 

There were 6,573 confirmed coccidioidomycosis cases reported in Maricopa, Pima, and Pinal counties in 2017. Of these 5,790 (88%) had address information that could be geocoded to the census-tract level or better. Cases with incomplete address information (n=783) and cases with geocodable addresses did not differ meaningfully by gender (51% vs. 49% male). The proportion of geocoded cases varied by reported county of residence: Maricopa County (89%), Pima County (86%), and Pinal County (81%). Mean age did not differ meaningfully by geocoding status (53.7 vs. 54.2 years among excluded and geocoded cases, respectively). Among 1,229 populated census tracts in the study area, 1,225 (99.7%) had complete sociodemographic covariate data; four tracts were missing the percent of the population that moved after 2010, the percent of structures built after 2010, and/or the percent of the population living below the federal poverty line.

Table 5-1 includes a description of census tract characteristics. Included census tracts ranged in land area from 0.3 to 4,731.2 km<sup>2</sup> (median: 2.6 km<sup>2</sup>). A median of four cases (interquartile range: 2, 6; range: 0, 43) were reported per census tract. No cases were reported in 84 (7%) tracts. The mean percent of the tract population aged 65 years or older was 17%. The mean percent of the tract population living below the federal poverty line was 17% and ranged from 0% to 70%. The mean percent of primary respondents who moved into their present housing unit after 2010 was 54%. Across the entire study area, a majority (75%) of land cover was classified as shrub/scrub. At the tract-level, the mean percent of areas that were classified as shrub/scrub and barren land were 2% and 7%, respectively. By tract and across the study area,

the most common category of developed land cover was "developed, low intensity" (mean percent of tract area: 31%). Between 2013 and 2016, a mean of 1.5% of tract areas changed land cover categories (median: 0.3%; IQR: 0.1%, 1.1%); there was no land cover change in 142 (12%) tracts. The mean percent of tract area that changed from shrub/scrub or barren during this time period was 0.27% (median: 0%; IQR: 0.0%, 0.12%). Change from barren to developed land was more common than change from shrub/scrub to developed land (mean: 0.26% vs. 0.008%). The mean percent of tract structures built after 2010 was 3.3%.

Tract-level incidence rates were non-uniform across the study area. Figure 5-2a displays spatially smoothed incidence rates by census tract. The estimated median incidence rate was 91 reported cases per 100,000 person-years (IQR: 73, 117). Smoothed rates were highest in tracts along the periphery of the Phoenix metropolitan area (Maricopa County), particularly the northern and southeastern edges, and the northern, northeastern, and southwestern edges of the Tucson metropolitan area (Pima County). Urban cores (e.g., Central Phoenix) and large rural tracts had lower rates. The Moran's I statistic for the raw tract incidence rate was 0.20, indicating positive spatial autocorrelation of incidence. Land development measures were also distributed unevenly across the study area (Figures 5-2b–2c). The percent of structures built after 2010 was lowest in the urban core tracts of both metropolitan areas and higher in suburban and peri-urban tracts of the Phoenix metropolitan area and the northern and southern extremes of the Tucson metropolitan area. Tracts with higher percent of tract area that changed from barren or shrub/scrub to developed formed a ring around both metropolitan areas; several tracts in Pinal County also had higher than average remotely sensed land development. Remotely sensed land development between 2013 and 2016 appeared to be more concentrated and focal than the

percent of structures built after 2010. Spatial distributions of potential confounders are summarized in Supplemental Figures 5-S1–S4.

In the bivariate analysis, the bivariate Moran's I for raw incidence rate and land development were 0.04 for the percent of structures built after 2010 and 0.05 for the 2013 to 2016 percent change from barren or shrub/scrub to developed, indicating zero-to-negligible positive spatial correlation. Among sociodemographic covariates, the bivariate Moran's I statistic for raw rate and the percent of the tract population 65 years or older was strongest (0.23), followed by the percent below poverty (-0.16), and the percent moved after 2010 (-0.03).

Results from spatially varying coefficient models are summarized in Table 5-2. A standard deviation increase in remotely sensed land development was associated with a 1.07-fold higher incidence rate (95% CrI: 1.01, 1.07). A standard deviation increase in the percent of structures built after 2010 was associated with a 1.07-fold higher incidence rate (95% CrI: 1.03, 1.10). Tract-specific estimates for both land development measures showed near-zero variability across census tracts. Unadjusted and adjusted associations between land development measures and incidence rates did not differ substantially (not shown). Results from the sensitivity analysis measuring in-migration using the percent moved from a different state or abroad in the past year were similar.

## Discussion

In this study of census tract-level land development and coccidioidomycosis incidence, we found a weak association between greater land development and higher rate of reported coccidioidomycosis. Contrary to our hypothesis, the relationship between land development and incidence rate did not vary across space. Tract-specific rates of reported coccidioidomycosis varied substantially across the study area. Rates were spatially correlated with the percent of the population 65 years and older and inversely associated with the percent living below the poverty line. While there was measurable land cover change in the majority of tracts between 2013 and 2016, conversion of barren or shrub/scrub land to developed land occurred in only approximately half of all tracts.

Several studies have examined the relationship between land development and coccidioidomycosis in Arizona. Blair et al. compared the one-year risk of coccidioidomycosis in employees at a healthcare facility adjacent to a construction site with workers at another facility located elsewhere in the Phoenix metropolitan area. An in vitro lymphocyte-activation assay was used to measure cellular immunity to coccidioidomycosis, allowing for measurement of asymptomatic infections. Contrary to their hypothesis of increased risk of infection at the site adjacent to construction and excavation of native desert soil, the author found a higher risk of infection at the control site.<sup>47</sup> Park et al. mapped 1998–2001 age-adjusted incidence rate in Maricopa County and noted high rates in areas undergoing construction and development along the periphery of metropolitan Phoenix. There was no association between monthly coccidioidomycosis case reports and number of building permits issued in Maricopa County between 1998 and 2001.<sup>65</sup> However, issue dates of building permits do not necessarily coincide with construction and soil excavation. Building permits are also issued for a variety of activities, not all of which involve soil excavation. This analysis did not account for the location for which the permit was issued (e.g., native desert area vs developed land) and the location of incident case reports. Finally, Pianalto et al. examined the relationship between construction-related soil disturbance, which was estimated from fugitive dust emissions estimated from remote sensing data, and lagged incidence between 1995 and 2006 in Pima County. At the county-level, annual construction-related disturbance and lagged incidence were highly correlated. Analyzed by ZIP

code, there was modest correlation between total incidence during the entire study period and disturbance in ZIP codes at the periphery of Tucson and no correlation at inner or core Tucson metropolitan area ZIP codes.<sup>161</sup>

Rapid suburban expansion has been hypothesized to contribute to increasing reports of coccidioidomycosis in Antelope Valley, an area north of Los Angeles abutting the hyperendemic area in California. Colson et al. examined the correlation between 2000 and 2015 coccidioidomycosis incidence and land disturbance in this area. Land disturbance was significantly associated with incidence, although the magnitude of the adjusted effect was very small.<sup>137</sup> Guevara et al. found that the number of reported new residential buildings in Antelope Valley was correlated with coccidioidomycosis incidence rate in Los Angeles County between 1996 and 2007; construction outside of Antelope Valley was not strongly correlated with incidence. While construction has decreased since 2005, incidence rates have not consistently declined since then.<sup>138</sup>

This ecologic study has several limitations. We used a year of incident case reports as a proxy for risk of infection, and results cannot be extrapolated to individual-level risk. Additionally, cases were aggregated to their census tract's centroid. The choice of spatial scale and unit of aggregation can have a significant impact on estimates. Brown et al. examined the association between several areal characteristics and incidence for 2006–2009 cases in Arizona at the case residence, block group, tract, and ZIP code scales. Factors associated with incidence across scales included population 65 years or older, median income, soil organic carbon, medium and high intensity developed, pasture/hay, and distance to desert. However, associations with shrub/scrub land, cultivated crops, and distance to wetland varied in magnitude and/or direction by spatial scale.<sup>68</sup> The spatial distribution of *Coccidioides* growth sites might exhibit variability

118

at a scale much smaller than the 30-meter resolution of LandSat imagery.<sup>162</sup> Thus, risk of infection likely varies at smaller spatial scales than a census tract. We were unable to model incidence at scales below the census tract due to the lack of population sociodemographic data at these levels for intercensal years. The temporal resolution of our land development measures and incidence estimates may also have been too coarse to capture short-term increases in cases associated with nearby soil disturbance.

We attempted to control for in-migration of susceptible persons and differences in census tract demographic composition. However, we ignored uncertainty in American Community Survey estimates and assumed estimates from surveys continuously conducted between 2013 and 2017 accurately represented the population in 2017. Methods to incorporate sampling error in spatial Bayesian hierarchical models are not readily available. Imprecise or erroneous confounder measurement might result in incomplete or absent control for confounding.

Overall, we observed marked heterogeneity in census tract incidence rate of coccidioidomycosis. However, the determinants of this spatial distribution remain unclear. Fine-scale measurement of fungal activity—for example, using recent advances in detection of airborne *Coccidioides*<sup>21</sup>—would improve our understanding of the effect of soil disturbance on risk of infection. Longitudinal studies incorporating such improved measures and multiple years of incidence data might help elucidate the relationship between land development and incidence.

Figure 5-1. Directed acyclic graph for the relationship between land development and coccidioidomycosis incidence



Figure 5-2a–c. Choropleth maps of census tract rate of reported coccidioidomycosis and land development measures by quintile



(a) Spatially smoothed rate of reported coccidioidomycosis in 2017

(b) Census tract-specific percent of land area changed from shrub/scrub in 2013 to developed land in 2016





(c) Census tract-specific percent of structures built after 2010

Figure 5-S1. Choropleth map of census tract percent of the population aged 65 years or older by quintile, 2017



Figure 5-S2. Choropleth map of census tract percent of the population living below the federal poverty line by quintile, 2017



Figure 5-S3. Choropleth map of census tract percent of the population moved to present housing unit after 2010 by quintile, 2017



	Mean (SD)	Median (IQR)
Land area $(km^2)$	4.7 (3.0)	2.6 (2.0–5.6)
Population	4,538 (1,977)	4,302 (3,118– 5,593)
% 65+ years old	16.5 (15.7)	11.7 (7.7–18.5)
% living below the federal poverty line	16.6 (13.1)	12.5 (6.4–24.6)
% moved into present unit after 2000	82.0 (11.6)	53.0 (74.2–90.8)
% moved into present unit after 2010	53.5 (14.0)	53.1 (44.0-62.8)
% moved from different state or abroad in the past year	4.3 (3.5)	3.5 (1.8–5.9)
Incidence		
Reported coccidioidomycosis cases	4.7 (4.2)	4 (2–6)
Spatially smoothed incidence rate (per 100,000 person- years)	104.2 (59.4)	91.1 (73.0–117.4)
Land Cover		
% developed, open space (2016)	25.0 (15.0)	25.0 (12.1–36.3)
% developed, low intensity (2016)	31.0 (17.3)	32.2 (17.8–43.9)
% developed, medium intensity (2016)	12.7 (13.7)	7.5 (2.6–18.6)
% developed, high intensity (2016)	5.4 (10.7)	1.1 (0.1–6.1)
% shrub/scrub (2016)	1.6 (8.9)	0 (0–0)
% barren (2016)	7.1 (15.6)	0.5 (0-4.2)
% change in land cover category, 2001 to 2016	13.4 (17.5)	6.4 (2.8–15.5)
% change in land cover category, 2011 to 2016	1.2 (2.6)	0.3 (0.1–1.1)
% change in land cover category, 2013 to 2016	1.5 (2.5)	0.3 (0.1–1.1)
Land Development		
% structures built after 2000	27.1 (29.2)	14.0 (5.1–39.7)
% structures built after 2010	3.3 (6.1)	1.0 (0-3.7)
% shrub/scrub in 2013 developed in 2016	0.008 (0.062)	0 (0–0)
% barren in 2013 developed in 2016	0.259 (0.854)	0 (0-0.118)
% barren or shrub/scrub in 2013 developed in 2016	0.266 (0.872)	0 (0-0.122)

Table 5-1. Descriptive characteristics of included census tracts in Maricopa, Pima, and Pinal counties

Table 5-2. Adjusted incidence rate ratios for the associations between land development measures and reported coccidioidomycosis incidence in 2017

	Adjusted*		Sensitivity Analysis**			
	Fixed effect ( $\beta_1$ )	Tract-specific estimate	DIC	Fixed effect ( $\beta_1$ )	Tract-specific estimate	DIC
	Median rate ratio (95% CrI)	Median rate ratio range	DIC	Median rate ratio (95% CrI)	Median rate ratio range	DIC
% barren or shrub/scrub in 2013 to developed in 2016	1.04 (1.00, 1.07)	1.03, 1.04	5,459	1.04 (1.00, 1.07)	1.04, 1.04	5,462
% structures built after 2010	1.07 (1.03, 1.10)	1.07, 1.07	5,455	1.07 (1.04, 1.11)	1.07, 1.07	5,457

Abbreviations: CrI - credibility interval

\*Adjusted for percent below poverty line, percent 65 years or older, and percent moved into present unit after 2010

\*\*Adjusted for percent below poverty line, percent 65 years or older, and percent moved from different state or abroad in the past year

	Median rate ratio (95% CrI)
% 65+ years old	1.02 (1.02, 1.02)
% living below the federal poverty line	0.98 (0.98, 0.98)
% moved into present unit after 2010	0.99 (0.99, 0.99)
% moved from different state or abroad in the past year	1.03 (1.01, 1.04)

Table 5-S1 Unadjusted associations between potential confounders and census tract-specific rate of reported coccidioidomycosis in 2017

### **CHAPTER 6: CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS**

Collectively, the studies in this dissertation add several novel findings to the literature on coccidioidomycosis epidemiology. I examined the possible roles of surveillance changes, weather, and land use in explaining trends in coccidioidomycosis incidence in Arizona. To date, studies of coccidioidomycosis have largely ignored changes in surveillance methodology. These changes have hindered our understanding of the disease not only in Arizona, but also nationally, given that a majority of case reports occur among Arizona residents. In Chapter 3, I used probabilistic bias analysis to estimate trends in coccidioidomycosis incidence in Maricopa and Pima counties. I created annual bias-adjusted estimates of reported confirmed case counts. On average, incidence rates increased between 1998 and 2017, even after adjustment for surveillance changes. Notably, rates remained elevated between 2009 and 2012. Changes in the age and sex distribution of reported cases were partly attenuated for by bias adjustment.

These estimates may serve as a baseline against which future increases in case reports could be compared. Estimates could also be used by other researchers and public health agencies for future studies of coccidioidomycosis incidence. This analysis could serve as a model for analysis of infectious disease incidence trends when surveillance methods have not been consistent over time. Changes in diagnostics and electronic disease surveillance systems are common and have affected surveillance for other infectious diseases (e.g., the introduction of culture-independent tests for foodborne diseases<sup>142</sup>). Other methods such as Bayesian hierarchical modeling<sup>163</sup> to adjust for surveillance changes are more complex and not as accessible to health department staff.

New and emerging diagnostics for coccidioidomycosis such as the recently introduced lateral flow assay<sup>141</sup> are likely to affect the sensitivity and specificity of surveillance. Public health agencies can anticipate and prepare for these changes by planning to conduct studies to

assess their impact and maintain consistent time series of reported case counts. Surveillance informatics systems should allow for the prospective collection of reporting laboratory, ordering provider and test type for each quantitative and/or qualitative test result as part of routine surveillance (e.g., via electronic laboratory reporting) in an analyzable fashion. Surveillance would also benefit from routine surveys of reporting laboratories to ascertain which tests and test kits are being currently being utilized. As surveillance for coccidioidomycosis is laboratorybased in Arizona and California, laboratory characteristics of reported cases should be routinely analyzed and monitored for changes over time. Telephone-based interviews of random samples of cases ('enhanced surveillance') are often conducted by state and local health departments<sup>164</sup> including in Arizona<sup>75</sup>, to better understand patient characteristics and disease burden. Sampling for these studies should be stratified by laboratory characteristics to allow for more efficient study of variation in patient characteristics (e.g., disease severity, time to careseeking and testing) by laboratory test results. Previous enhanced surveillance studies<sup>75</sup> have validated Arizona's laboratory-based case definition by assessing what proportion of cases met the clinical criteria of the national case definition (i.e., the positive predictive value of a laboratory-only case definition). Estimating the positive predictive value by laboratory characteristic (e.g., isolated EIA positive vs. EIA positive with positive immunodiffusion) could help refine the case definition and improve the specificity of surveillance.

Health agencies should consider partnerships with reference laboratories and local healthcare systems to routinely collect measures of careseeking and testing for coccidioidomycosis. Crucially, these data could include patients who test negative for the disease, providing further insight into testing practices and more specifically, the potential impact of decreases in surveillance specificity. These partnerships would provide a platform from which to design and conduct validation studies, such as the EIA reproducibility study<sup>113</sup> used in Chapter 3, and generate estimates for bias adjustment in the event of a surveillance change.

In Chapter 4, I used the bias-adjusted estimates from Chapter 3 to analyze the relationships between weather and coccidioidomycosis incidence in Maricopa and Pima counties. Seasonally-adjusted long-term trends in incidence were visually concordant with trends in total precipitation, average wind speed, and PM<sub>10</sub>. Lagged winter precipitation and late summer average temperature were positively correlated with subsequent incidence in both counties. These findings are consistent with previous studies in Arizona. Correlations with lagged average wind speed and incidence have not been previously reported. Lagged  $PM_{10}$  was negatively correlated with incidence. I also examined and attempted to address methodologic issues with the literature on the environment and coccidioidomycosis. In addition to utilizing one of the longest time series of coccidioidomycosis incidence analyzed to date, I compared results using routine and bias-adjusted case counts; previous studies have used data affected by surveillance changes without adjusting for potential biases. Additionally, few studies have used multiple analytical methods on a single dataset and thus, results are difficult to interpret and compare across studies. However, the findings from this study suggesting that bias adjustment may not be necessary for future studies. I also found that aggregating case reports and environmental variables into meteorological seasons produced concordant results with analyses at the monthly level.

Multivariable prediction models did not produce high accuracy one-month-ahead forecasts of monthly coccidioidomycosis incidence rate in either county. However, accurate forecasts would require models that explain an exceptionally high proportion of variance in incidence. To date, this has not been achieved by any of the previous quantitative studies relating weather to coccidioidomycosis incidence. Forecasting might be inherently limited by stochasticity of weather, the heterogeneity of case reports, particularly variation in time from exposure to report, and incomplete ascertainment of infections. Instead of forecasting, public health agencies might benefit from an aberration detection approach. This would involve defining the average coccidioidomycosis season and developing quantitative thresholds to define meaningful departures from the baseline. Detecting a severe season during the earlier months of the annual increase in incidence could guide the timing of public health messaging for the general public and healthcare providers.

Recent advances in detection of *Coccidioides*<sup>21</sup> DNA in air samples allow for more advanced studies of *Coccidioides* ecology and the exposure biology of coccidioidomycosis in endemic areas. Preliminary proof-of-concept air sampling studies have found spatial and temporal differences in the presence and concentration of arthroconidia across a network of air sampling stations.<sup>22</sup> This network could be leveraged for studies of the relationship between weather and *Coccidioides* by co-locating environmental sensors to measure temperature, rainfall, wind speed, PM<sub>10</sub>, and other parameters. These studies could exploit the fine-scale heterogeneity in *Coccidioides* activity and weather (e.g., uneven distribution of precipitation) to elucidate the relationships between the two.

This work should be complemented by field studies using air sampling and environmental measurements (including small mammal activity, and soil moisture and temperature at multiple depths) at *Coccidioides* growth sites in native desert areas. A critical missing piece in the literature is a mechanistic explanation for the lagged relationships between environmental parameters (e.g., precipitation) and incidence; time between exposure and case report does not account for the one- to two-year lagged relationships observed in this study and by others.<sup>133</sup> Field studies could help fill in this gap and define the biological plausibility of long-term lagged relationships. Identifying a more widely measured correlate of airborne arthroconidia such  $PM_{10}$  would also be of great value to public health agencies.

Relating arthroconidia presence and concentration to human infections will be more challenging. At present, the viability and infectiousness of sampled arthroconidia has not been assessed (i.e., by culture or inoculation of laboratory animals). Moreover, no epidemiologic studies establishing whether concentration is linked or proportional to risk of infection have been conducted. There are several possible designs for such studies. An ecologic longitudinal analysis of census tract incidence rates and lagged modeled local arthroconidia concentration (e.g., using kernel density methods) would be a first step and could help identify a link between air sampled concentration and risk of infection.

Prospective cohort studies of individuals are a stronger design, but assembling a geographically dispersed cohort of susceptible persons would be very challenging because (1) past studies suggest high prevalence of immunity, (2) assessing immunity requires the use of a cumbersome skin test or a research laboratory-based assay, both with poorly defined performance characteristics in asymptomatic persons, and (3) the annual risk of infection is thought to be relatively low, necessitating large sample sizes. Special populations such as newly arrived military personnel, extensively studied in early seminal studies of coccidioidomycosis, or recent migrants to the endemic area could serve as a natural cohort. Performing such a study in animals (e.g., a cohort of puppies<sup>165</sup>) would also be feasible. Finally, it might be possible to compare genotypes of environmental strains, using metagenomics or sequencing of air sample-derived isolates, to isolates collected from human or animal cases. As nearly all sequenced

isolates, human and environmental, are unique genotypes, a match between an environmental isolate and a clinical isolate would provide evidence to support the link between the presence of fungal DNA in an air sample and human infections.

In Chapter 5, I examined the relationship between soil disturbance, operationalized as remotely sensed conversion of desert into developed land and recent building year of structures, and census tract rate of reported coccidioidomycosis. This is the first study to use Bayesian spatial regression methods to model coccidioidomycosis and produce small-area estimates of incidence. I hypothesized that greater land disturbance would be associated with higher incidence, and the magnitude of this effect would vary across the study area (Maricopa, Pima, and Pinal counties), given the focal distribution of *Coccidioides* in soil. A weak positive association between soil disturbance measures and incidence was observed, with no spatial variation of the effect.

Future studies of this relationship would benefit from a longitudinal design estimating the effect of soil disturbance on change in census tract incidence rate. Natural experiments might also be conducive to estimating this effect. A previous study examined the prevalence of immunity to coccidioidomycosis among healthcare workers at a facility adjacent to a construction site and a control facility where construction did not take place.<sup>47</sup> This design could be adapted to an area-level analysis of residential communities adjacent to suburban development of native desert. While it would be prohibitively expensive to conduct largescale serosurveys, rates of reported confirmed cases serve as an approximation of incidence. Patients might be more likely to spend time outdoors near their place of residence and thus, residential location might be a better measure of exposure.

133

There was marked heterogeneity in census tract incidence rate across the study area, with strong evidence of spatial patterning of incidence. Rates were higher in the peripheries of metropolitan Phoenix and Tucson. Higher rates were observed in tracts where a greater proportion of the population was over 65 years old while rates were inversely associated with census tract poverty level. These associations are unexplained and merit further study. Future analyses should include additional area-level sociodemographic predictors (e.g., health insurance, occupation class) to identify predictors of incidence. As place of residence represents only one site of exposure, developing other measures to capture spatial behavior, mobility patterns, and cumulative exposure to airborne arthroconidia would be useful.

Exposure has only been described in detail for cases associated with outbreaks (mostly point-source) and may not be generalizable to cases that occur during annual community-wide epidemics in Arizona. This represents a major gap in our understanding of how most people are exposed to *Coccidioides*. One possible approach is to collect activity space information: online mapping-based instruments allow subjects to geo-locate visited locations and describe the duration and frequency of visits.<sup>166</sup> Ideally, one would estimate the relationship between particular spatial behaviors and risk of infections in cases and susceptible controls. As noted above, identifying controls would be quite challenging. However, it might still be informative to compare the spatial behaviors of matched control residents (regardless of immune status) and cases in high and low incidence areas.

As noted in Chapter 1, migration of susceptible persons into endemic areas might have contributed to the increasing incidence of reported coccidioidomycosis. The populations of highly affected counties have grown substantially during the study period, primarily due to inmigration. This hypothesis requires investigation, yet few studies have examined this
phenomenon. Retrospectively estimating the contribution of in-migration to trends in incidence is difficult because of the unmeasured and unknown effects of weather and careseeking and/or testing practices. Additionally there are no data sources to estimate annual in-migration and outmigration by immune status. Future studies could quantify the risk of infection (symptomatic only or overall) in a cohort of recent in-migrants (e.g., students, military personnel, retirees).

I examined several possible explanations for the large increase in rates of reported coccidioidomycosis between 1998 and 2017. My analyses decomposed temporal trends into shorter- and longer-term components and considered their causes accordingly. Drivers of long-term components (e.g., the linear increase prior to surveillance changes) remain unknown. While surveillance changes dramatically affected reported case counts after 2009, artifacts do not appear to explain the long-term trend or all peaks in reported cases. Weather is a probable explanation for short-term increases (e.g., 2011). The longer-term components were unlikely to be related to weather as corresponding changes in weather were not observed. The role of land development in temporal trends has yet to be established.

Conducting trend analyses at smaller spatial resolutions might provide additional insights. The surveillance change and weather studies aggregated data at the county-level. The land development study used census tract as the unit of analysis, but lacked a time component. The interacting dynamics of weather, fungal growth and dispersal, soil disturbance, and behaviors of susceptible persons are no doubt heterogeneous at sub-county scales and might affect incidence at differing temporal horizons. Future studies should exploit spatiotemporal differences and jointly collect multi-year data on these factors at smaller spatial and temporal scales to elucidate their relative contributions to incidence. These findings might help public health agencies develop and target interventions to reduce the risk of infection and mitigate the burden of disease.

## REFERENCES

- 1. Nguyen C, Barker BM, Hoover S, et al. Recent advances in our understanding of the environmental, epidemiological, immunological, and clinical dimensions of Coccidioidomycosis. *Clin Microbiol Rev.* 2013;26(3):505-525. doi:10.1128/CMR.00005-13
- 2. Lewis ERG, Bowers JR, Barker BM. Dust devil: the life and times of the fungus that causes valley Fever. Hogan DA, ed. *PLoS Pathog*. 2015;11(5):e1004762. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1004762
- 3. Pappagianis D. Epidemiology of coccidioidomycosis. *Curr Top Med Mycol.* 1988;2:199-238.
- 4. Swatek FE, Omieczynski DT. Isolation and identification of *Coccidioides immitis* from natural sources. *Mycopathol Mycol Appl*. 1970;41(1):155-166.
- 5. Laniado-Laborin R. Expanding understanding of epidemiology of coccidioidomycosis in the Western hemisphere. *Ann N Y Acad Sci.* 2007;111(1):19-34. doi:10.1196/annals.1406.004
- 6. Maddy KT. Observations of *Coccidioides immitis* found growing naturally in soil. *Ariz Med.* 1965;22:281-288.
- 7. Lacy GH, Swatek FE. Soil ecology of *Coccidioides immitis* at Amerindian middens in California. *Appl Microbiol.* 1974;27(2):379-388.
- 8. Kolivras KN, Johnson PS, Comrie AC, Yool SR. Environmental variability and coccidioidomycosis. *Aerobiologia (Bologna)*. 2001;17:31-42.
- 9. Taylor JW, Barker BM. The endozoan, small-mammal reservoir hypothesis and the life cycle of *Coccidioides* species. *Med Mycol*. 2019;57(Supplement\_1):S16-S20. doi:10.1093/mmy/myy039
- Sharpton TJ, Stajich JE, Rounsley SD, et al. Comparative genomic analyses of the human fungal pathogens *Coccidioides* and their relatives. *Genome Res.* 2009;19(10):1722-1731. doi:10.1101/gr.087551.108
- Baptista-Rosas RC, Hinojosa A, Riquelme M. Ecological niche modeling of *Coccidioides* spp. in western North American deserts. *Ann N Y Acad Sci*. 2007;1111:35-46. doi:10.1196/annals.1406.003
- 12. Emmons CW. Coccidioidomycosis in wild rodents: A method of determining the extent of endemic areas. *Public Heal Reports*. 1943;58(1):1. doi:10.2307/4584326
- 13. Kollath DR, Teixeira MM, Funke A, Miller KJ, Barker BM. Investigating the role of animal burrows on the ecology and distribution of *Coccidioides* spp. in Arizona soils. *Mycopathologia*. October 2019. doi:10.1007/s11046-019-00391-2
- Catalán-Dibene J, Johnson SM, Eaton R, et al. Detection of coccidioidal antibodies in serum of a small rodent community in Baja California, Mexico. *Fungal Biol*. 2014;118(3):330-339. doi:10.1016/j.funbio.2014.01.006
- 15. Barker BM, Litvintseva AP, Riquelme M, Vargas-Gastélum L. *Coccidioides* ecology and genomics. *Med Mycol*. 2019;57(Supplement\_1):S21-S29. doi:10.1093/mmy/myy051
- 16. Fisher MC, Koenig GL, White TJ, Taylor JW. Molecular and phenotypic description of *Coccidioides* posadasii sp. nov., previously recognized as the non-California population of *Coccidioides immitis*. *Mycologia*. 94(1):73-84.

- 17. Engelthaler DM, Roe CC, Hepp CM, et al. Local population structure and patterns of western hemisphere dispersal for *Coccidioides* spp., the fungal cause of Valley Fever. *MBio*. 2016;7(2):e00550-16. doi:10.1128/mBio.00550-16
- 18. Mead HL, Teixeira M de M, Galgiani JN, Barker BM. Characterizing in vitro spherule morphogenesis of multiple strains of both species of *Coccidioides*. *Med Mycol*. July 2018. doi:10.1093/mmy/myy049
- 19. Burt A, Carter DA, Koenig GL, White TJ, Taylor JW. Molecular markers reveal cryptic sex in the human pathogen *Coccidioides immitis*. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 1996;93(2):770-773.
- 20. Jewell K, Cheshier R, Cage GD. Genetic diversity among clinical *Coccidioides* spp. isolates in Arizona. *Med Mycol*. 2008;46(5):449-455. doi:10.1080/13693780801961337
- 21. Chow N, Griffin D, Barker B, Loparev V, Litvintseva A. Molecular detection of airborne *Coccidioides* in Tuscon, Arizona. *Med Mycol*. 2016;54(6):584-592.
- 22. Gade L, McCotter OZ, Bowers JR, et al. The detection of *Coccidioides* from ambient air in Phoenix, Arizona: Evidence of uneven distribution and seasonality. *Med Mycol*. 2019. doi:10.1093/mmy/myz093
- 23. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Sources of Coccidioidomycosis. https://www.cdc.gov/fungal/diseases/coccidioidomycosis/causes.html. Accessed April 5, 2020.
- 24. Hirschmann J V. The early history of coccidioidomycosis: 1892-1945. *Clin Infect Dis.* 2007;44(9):1202-1207. doi:10.1086/513202
- 25. Kirkland T. Coccidioidomycosis: A reemerging infectious disease. *Emerg Infect Dis.* 1996;2(3):192-199. doi:10.3201/eid0203.960305
- 26. Galgiani JN, Ampel NM, Blair JE, et al. Coccidioidomycosis. *Clin Infect Dis.* 2005;41(9):1217-1223. doi:10.1086/496991
- 27. Malo J, Luraschi-Monjagatta C, Wolk DM, Thompson R, Hage CA, Knox KS. Update on the diagnosis of pulmonary coccidioidomycosis. *Ann Am Thorac Soc.* 2014;11(2):243-253. doi:10.1513/AnnalsATS.201308-286FR
- 28. Brown J, Benedict K, Park BJ, Thompson GR, III. Coccidioidomycosis: Epidemiology. *Clin Epidemiol*. 2013;5(1):185-197. doi:10.2147/CLEP.S34434
- 29. Gabe LM, Malo J, Knox KS. Diagnosis and management of coccidioidomycosis. *Clin Chest Med.* 2017;38(3):417-433. doi:10.1016/j.ccm.2017.04.005
- Galgiani JN, Ampel NM, Blair JE, et al. 2016 Infectious Diseases Society of America (IDSA) clinical practice guideline for the treatment of coccidioidomycosis. *Clin Infect Dis*. 2016;63(6):e112-e146. doi:10.1093/cid/ciw360
- Blair JE, Chang YHH, Cheng MR, et al. Characteristics of patients with mild to moderate primary pulmonary coccidioidomycosis. *Emerg Infect Dis.* 2014;20(6):983-990. doi:10.3201/eid2006.131842
- 32. Ampel NM. The complex immunology of human coccidioidomycosis. *Ann N Y Acad Sci*. 2007;1111(1):245-258. doi:10.1196/annals.1406.032

- 33. Stevens DA, Clemons K V., Levine HB, et al. Expert opinion: What to do when there is *Coccidioides* exposure in a laboratory. *Clin Infect Dis.* 2009;49(6):919-923. doi:10.1086/605441
- 34. Odio CD, Marciano BE, Galgiani JN, Holland SM. Risk factors for disseminated coccidioidomycosis, United States. *Emerg Infect Dis.* 2017;23(2). doi:10.3201/eid2302.160505
- 35. Sampaio EP, Hsu AP, Pechacek J, et al. Signal transducer and activator of transcription 1 (STAT1) gain-of-function mutations and disseminated coccidioidomycosis and histoplasmosis. *J Allergy Clin Immunol*. 2013;131(6):1624-1634.e17. doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2013.01.052
- 36. Goldstein EJC, Johnson RH, Einstein HE. Coccidioidal meningitis. *Clin Infect Dis.* 2006;42(1):103-107. doi:10.1086/497596
- 37. Pappagianis D, Zimmer BL. Serology of coccidioidomycosis. *Clin Microbiol Rev.* 1990;3(3):247-268.
- 38. Castro-Lopez N, Hung C-Y. Immune Response to Coccidioidomycosis and the Development of a Vaccine. *Microorganisms*. 2017;5(1):13. doi:10.3390/microorganisms5010013
- 39. Donovan FM, Shubitz L, Powell D, Orbach M, Frelinger J, Galgiani JN. Early events in coccidioidomycosis. *Clin Microbiol Rev.* 2020;33(1). doi:10.1128/CMR.00112-19
- 40. Durkin M, Connolly P, Kuberski T, et al. Diagnosis of Coccidioidomycosis with Use of the *Coccidioides* Antigen Enzyme Immunoassay. *Clin Infect Dis.* 2008;47(8):e69-e73. doi:10.1086/592073
- Lindsley MD, Ahn Y, McCotter O, et al. Evaluation of the specificity of two enzyme immunoassays for coccidioidomycosis by using sera from a region of endemicity and a region of nonendemicity. Wilkins PP, ed. *Clin Vaccine Immunol*. 2015;22(10):1090-1095. doi:10.1128/CVI.00375-15
- 42. Wieden MA, Lundergan LL, Blum J, et al. Detection of coccidioidal antibodies by 33-kDa spherule antigen, *Coccidioides* EIA, and standard serologic tests in sera from patients evaluated for coccidioidomycosis. *J Infect Dis.* 1996;173(5):1273-1277.
- 43. Kaufman L, Sekhon AS, Moledina N, Jalbert M, Pappagianis D. Comparative evaluation of commercial Premier EIA and microimmunodiffusion and complement fixation tests for *Coccidioides immitis* antibodies. *J Clin Microbiol*. 1995;33(3):618-619.
- 44. Malo J, Holbrook E, Zangeneh T, et al. Enhanced antibody detection and diagnosis of coccidioidomycosis with the MiraVista IgG and IgM detection enzyme immunoassay. *J Clin Microbiol*. 2017;55(3):893-901. doi:10.1128/JCM.01880-16
- 45. Arizona Department of Health Services. 2015 Valley Fever Annual Report. Phoenix, AZ; 2016. http://azdhs.gov/documents/preparedness/epidemiology-disease-control/valley-fever/reports/valley-fever-2015.pdf.
- 46. Smith C, Beard R. Varieties of coccidioidal infection in relation to the epidemiology and control of the diseases. *Am J Public Health Nations Health*. 1946;36(12):1394-1402.
- 47. Blair JE, Chang Y-HH, Ruiz Y, Duffy S, Heinrich BE, Lake DF. Distance from Construction Site and Risk for Coccidioidomycosis, Arizona, USA. *Emerg Infect Dis.* 2014;20(9):1464-1471. doi:10.3201/eid2009.131588

- Ampel NM, Mosley DG, England B, Vertz PD, Komatsu K, Hajjeh RA. Coccidioidomycosis in Arizona: Increase in Incidence from 1990 to 1995. *Clin Infect Dis.* 1998;27(6):1528-1530. doi:10.1086/515044
- 49. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Coccidioidomycosis--Arizona, 1990-1995. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep.* 1996;45(49):1069-1073.
- 50. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Increase in reported coccidioidomycosis--United States, 1998-2011. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep.* 2013;62(12):217-221.
- 51. Bezold CP, Khan MA, Adame G, Brady S, Sunenshine R, Komatsu K. Notes from the field: Increase in coccidioidomycosis - Arizona, October 2017-March 2018. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep.* 2018;67(44):1246-1247. doi:10.15585/mmwr.mm6744a6
- 52. Freedman M, Jackson BR, McCotter O, Benedict K. Coccidioidomycosis outbreaks, United States and worldwide, 1940–2015. *Emerg Infect Dis.* 2018;24(3):417-424. doi:10.3201/eid2403.170623
- 53. Thomas A, Sarosi G, Smith D. Coccidioidomycosis outbreak on the Salt River Indian Reservation. In: *Proceedings of the 37th Annual Coccidioidomycosis Study Group Meeting*. ; 1993:8.
- 54. Kerrick SS, Lundergan LL, Galgiani JN. Coccidioidomycosis at a university health service. *Am Rev Respir Dis.* 1985;131(1):100-102.
- 55. Hugenholtz P. Climate and coccidioidomycosis. In: *Proceedings of Symposium on Coccidioidomycosis, Phoenix, AZ. Public Health Service Publication No. 575.* Atlanta: U.S. Public Health Service; 1957:136-143.
- 56. Wack EE, Ampel NM, Sunenshine RH, Galgiani JN. The return of delayed-type hypersensitivity skin testing for coccidioidomycosis. *Clin Infect Dis.* 2015;61(5):787-791. doi:10.1093/cid/civ388
- 57. Edwards P, Palmer C. Prevalence of sensitivity to coccidioidin, with special reference to specific and nonspecific reactions to coccidioidin and to histoplasmin. *Dis Chest.* 1957;31(1):35-60. doi:10.1378/chest.31.1.35
- 58. Emmet J. Coccidioidin sensitivity among school children in Phoenix (skin test and x-ray survey). *Am J Public Health Nations Health*. 1952;42(3):241-245.
- 59. Maddy K, Doto I, Furcolow M, et al. Coccidioidin, histoplasmin, and tuberculin sensitivity of students in selected high schools and colleges in Arizona. In: *Proceedings of Symposium on Coccidioidomycosis, Phoenix, AZ. Public Health Service Publication No.* 575. ; 1957:121-126.
- 60. Doto IL, Tosh FE, Farnsworth SF, Furcolow ML. Coccidioidin, histoplasmin, and tuberculin sensitivity among school children in Maricopa County, Arizona. *Am J Epidemiol*. 1972;95(5):464-474.
- 61. Dodge RR, Lebowitz MD, Barbee R, Burrows B. Estimates of C. *immitis* infection by skin test reactivity in an endemic community. *Am J Public Health*. 1985;75(8):863-865. doi:10.2105/AJPH.75.8.863
- 62. Lebowitz MD, Knudson RJ, Burrows B. Tucson epidemiologic study of obstructive lung diseases. I: Methodology and prevalence of disease. *Am J Epidemiol*. 1975;102(2):137-152.
- 63. Tabor JA, O'Rourke MK. A risk factor study of coccidioidomycosis by controlling differential misclassifications of exposure and susceptibility using a landscape ecology approach. *Sci Total*

Environ. 2010;408(10):2199-2207. doi:10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2010.02.013

- 64. Tabor JA, O'rourke MK, Lebowitz MD, Harris RB. Landscape-epidemiological study design to investigate an environmentally based disease. *J Expo Sci Environ Epidemiol*. 2011;21(2):197-211. doi:10.1038/jes.2009.67
- 65. Park BJJ, Sigel K, Vaz V, et al. An epidemic of coccidioidomycosis in Arizona associated with climatic changes, 1998-2001. *J Infect Dis*. 2005;191(11):1981-1987. doi:10.1086/430092
- 66. Khan M, Adame G, Brady S, Komatsu K. The spatial distribution of reported coccidioidomycosis in three Arizona counties, 2013-2015. In: *Proceedings of the 61st Annual Coccidioidomycosis Study Group Meeting.*; 2017:14.
- 67. Chang L, Ahlquist A, Sunenshine R, et al. Investigation of an increased incidence of coccidioidomycosis in the Northwest Valley, Metropolitan Phoenix. In: *Proceedings of the 53rd Annual Coccidioidomycosis Study Group Meeting*. Bakersfield, CA; 2009:16.
- 68. Heidi E B, Wangshu M, Mohammed K, Clarisse T, Jian L, Daoqin T. Spatial scale in environmental risk mapping: A Valley fever case study. *J Public health Res.* 2017;6(2):886. doi:10.4081/jphr.2017.886
- 69. McCotter OZ, Benedict K, Engelthaler DM, et al. Update on the epidemiology of coccidioidomycosis in the United States. *Med Mycol*. 2019;57(Supplement\_1):S30-S40. doi:10.1093/mmy/myy095
- 70. Hector RF, Rutherford GW, Tsang CA, et al. The public health impact of coccidioidomycosis in Arizona and California. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. 2011;8(4):1150-1173. doi:10.3390/ijerph8041150
- 71. Blair JE, Mayer AP, Currier J, Files JA, Wu Q. Coccidioidomycosis in elderly persons. *Clin Infect Dis.* 2008;47(12):1513-1518. doi:10.1086/593192
- 72. Seitz AE, Prevots DR, Holland SM. Hospitalizations Associated with Disseminated Coccidioidomycosis, Arizona and California, USA. *Emerg Infect Dis.* 2012;18(9):1476-1479. doi:10.3201/eid1809.120151
- Noble JA, Nelson RG, Fufaa GD, Kang P, Shafir SC, Galgiani JN. Effect of Geography on the Analysis of Coccidioidomycosis-Associated Deaths, United States. *Emerg Infect Dis*. 2016;22(10):1821-1823. doi:10.3201/eid2210.160696
- 74. Leake JAD, Mosley DG, England B, et al. Risk factors for acute symptomatic coccidioidomycosis among elderly persons in Arizona, 1996–1997. *J Infect Dis*. 2000;181(4):1435-1440. doi:10.1086/315400
- 75. Tsang CA, Anderson SM, Imholte SB, et al. Enhanced Surveillance of Coccidioidomycosis, Arizona, USA, 2007–2008. *Emerg Infect Dis.* 2010;16(11):1738-1744. doi:10.3201/eid1611.100475
- 76. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). AIDS-Defining Conditions. *Morb Mortal Wkly Rep.* 2008;57(RR10):9.
- 77. Ampel NM, Dols CL, Galgiani JN. Coccidioidomycosis during human immunodeficiency virus infection: results of a prospective study in a coccidioidal endemic area. *Am J Med*. 1993;94(3):235-240. doi:10.1016/0002-9343(93)90054-s

- 78. Blair JE, Ampel NM, Hoover SE. Coccidioidomycosis in selected immunosuppressed hosts. *Med Mycol.* 2019;57(Supplement\_1):S56-S63. doi:10.1093/mmy/myy019
- 79. Sunenshine R, Bailey S, Porter B, Kelly P. Coccidioidomycosis in human immunodeficiency virus-infected individuals in Arizona. In: *Proceedings of the 51st Annual Coccidioidomycosis Study Group Meeting.*; 2007:24.
- Wack EE, Ampel NM, Galgiani JN, Bronnimann DA. Coccidioidomycosis during Pregnancy: An Analysis of Ten Cases Among 47,120 Pregnancies. *Chest.* 1988;94(2):376-379. doi:10.1378/CHEST.94.2.376
- 81. de Perio MA, Materna BL, Sondermeyer Cooksey GL, et al. Occupational coccidioidomycosis surveillance and recent outbreaks in California. *Med Mycol*. 2019;57(Supplement\_1):S41-S45. doi:10.1093/mmy/myy031
- 82. Haley L. Compensability of, and legal issues related to, coccidioidomycosis. *Ann N Y Acad Sci.* 2007;1111(1):129-132. doi:10.1196/annals.1406.002
- 83. Collins J, Narang J, Folwe N, Klein R, Sylvester T, Sunenshine R. Occupational and recreational dust exposures in Maricopa County residents with coccidioidomycosis. In: *Proceedings of the 61st Annual Coccidioidomycosis Study Group Meeting.*; 2017:38.
- 84. Stern NG, Galgiani JN. Coccidioidomycosis among scholarship athletes and other college students, Arizona, USA. *Emerg Infect Dis.* 2010;16(2):321-323. doi:10.3201/eid1602.090918
- 85. Chang DC, Anderson S, Wannemuehler K, et al. Testing for coccidioidomycosis among patients with community-acquired pneumonia. *Emerg Infect Dis.* 2008;14(7):1053-1059. doi:10.3201/eid1407.070832
- 86. Valdivia L, Nix D, Wright M, et al. Coccidioidomycosis as a common cause of communityacquired pneumonia. *Emerg Infect Dis.* 2006;12(6):958-962. doi:10.3201/eid1206.060028
- Donovan FM, Wightman P, Zong Y, et al. Delays in Coccidioidomycosis Diagnosis and Associated Healthcare Utilization, Tucson, Arizona, USA. *Emerg Infect Dis.* 2019;25(9):1745-1747. doi:10.3201/eid2509.190023
- 88. Arizona Department of Health Services. *Valley Fever 2012 Annual Report*. Phoenix, AZ; 2012. http://azdhs.gov/documents/preparedness/epidemiology-disease-control/valley-fever/reports/valley-fever-2012.pdf.
- Foley C, Tsang C, Christ C, Anderson S. Impact of disseminated coccidioidomycosis in Arizona, 2007-2008. In: Proceedings of the 55th Annual Coccidioidomycosis Study Group Meeting.; 2011:8.
- 90. Khan M, Brady S. Hospitalizations associated With coccidioidal meningitis in Arizona, 2008–2014. *Open Forum Infect Dis.* 2016;3(suppl\_1). doi:10.1093/ofid/ofw172.1307
- 91. Huang JY, Bristow B, Shafir S, Sorvillo F. Coccidioidomycosis-associated deaths, United States, 1990-2008. *Emerg Infect Dis.* 2012;18(11):1723-1728. doi:10.3201/eid1811.120752
- 92. Jones JM, Koski L, Khan M, Brady S, Sunenshine R, Komatsu KK. Coccidioidomycosis: An underreported cause of death—Arizona, 2008–2013. *Med Mycol.* June 2017. doi:10.1093/mmy/myx041

- 93. Kim MM, Blair JE, Carey EJ, Wu Q, Smilack JD. Coccidioidal pneumonia, Phoenix, Arizona, USA, 2000-2004. *Emerg Infect Dis*. 2009;15(3):397-401. doi:10.3201/eid1563.081007
- 94. Hoover S, Galgiani J, Bannister W. Valley Fever in persons with community-acquired pneumonia in Arizona. In: *Proceedings of the 52nd Annual Coccidioidomycosis Study Group Meeting*. ; 2008:9.
- 95. Hector RF, Rutherford GW, Tsang CA, et al. The public health impact of coccidioidomycosis in Arizona and California. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. 2011;8(4):1150-1173. doi:10.3390/ijerph8041150
- 96. Khan MA, Brady S, Komatsu KK. Testing for coccidioidomycosis in emergency departments in Arizona. *Med Mycol*. 2018;56(7):900-902. doi:10.1093/mmy/myx112
- 97. Arizona Department of Health Services. *Valley Fever 2015 Annual Report*. Phoenix, AZ; 2015. http://azdhs.gov/documents/preparedness/epidemiology-disease-control/valley-fever/reports/valley-fever-2015.pdf. Accessed October 21, 2017.
- 98. Chavez GF, Komatsu KK, Sewell CM, Chang DC, Chiller T. *Revision of the Surveillance Case Definition for Coccidioidomycosis.*; 2007.
- 99. Arizona Department of Health Services. *Case Definitions for Communicable Morbidities*. http://www.azdhs.gov/documents/preparedness/epidemiology-disease-control/disease-investigation-resources/case-definitions.pdf.
- Komatsu KK. Recent epidemiologic trends of coccidioidomycosis in Arizona. In: Galgiani JN, ed. *Proceedings of the 44th Annual Coccidioidomycosis Study Group Meeting*. Berkeley, CA; 2000:24.
- 101. California Department of Public Health. Guidance for managing select communicable diseases -Coccidioidomycosis (Valley Fever). https://www.cdph.ca.gov/Programs/CID/DCDC/CDPH Document Library/IDBGuidanceforCALHJs-Cocci.pdf. Published 2018. Accessed November 12, 2019.
- 102. Zartarian M, Peterson EM, de la Maza LM. Detection of antibodies to *Coccidioides immitis* by enzyme immunoassay. *Am J Clin Pathol*. 1997;107(2):148-153.
- 103. Martins TB, Jaskowski TD, Mouritsen CL, Hill HR. Comparison of commercially available enzyme immunoassay with traditional serological tests for detection of antibodies to *Coccidioides immitis*. *J Clin Microbiol*. 1995;33(4):940-943.
- 104. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Sources of Histoplasmosis. https://www.cdc.gov/fungal/diseases/histoplasmosis/causes.html. Accessed April 4, 2020.
- 105. Sunenshine R, Khan S, Saubolle M, et al. Reproducibility of coccidioidomycosis EIA in a multicenter investigation using confirmed cases and controls. In: *Infectious Diseases Week*. Philapdelphia; 2014:1458. doi:10.1128/JCM.01843-09.
- 106. Kuberski T, Herrig J, Pappagianis D. False-positive IgM serology in coccidioidomycosis. J Clin Microbiol. 2010;48(6):2047-2049. doi:10.1128/JCM.01843-09
- Crum NF, Lederman ER, Stafford CM, Parrish JS, Wallace MR. Coccidioidomycosis. *Medicine* (*Baltimore*). 2004;83(3):149-175. doi:10.1097/01.md.0000126762.91040.fd

- 108. Blair JE, Currier JT. Significance of Isolated Positive IgM Serologic Results by Enzyme Immunoassay for Coccidioidomycosis. *Mycopathologia*. 2008;166(2):77-82. doi:10.1007/s11046-008-9129-9
- 109. Blair JE, Mendoza N, Force S, Chang Y-HH, Grys TE. Clinical specificity of the enzyme immunoassay test for coccidioidomycosis varies according to the reason for its performance. *Clin Vaccine Immunol*. 2013;20(1):95-98. doi:10.1128/CVI.00531-12
- Oubsuntia V, Bogul N, Lancaster M. Utility of positive enzyme immunoassay results for detection of *Coccidioides* specific IgM. In: Blair JE, ed. *Proceedings of the 54th Annual Coccidioidomycosis Study Group Meeting*. Suprise, AZ; 2010:19.
- Petein N. Specificity of enzyme immunoassay for serologic coccidioidomycosis diagnosis gompared to immunodiffusion. 2011. http://arizona.openrepository.com/arizona/handle/10150/183699.
- 112. Grys TE, Brighton A, Chang Y-H, Liesman R, Bolster LaSalle C, Blair JE. Comparison of two FDA-cleared EIA assays for the detection of *Coccidioides* antibodies against a composite clinical standard. *Med Mycol*. 2019. doi:10.1093/mmy/myy094
- 113. Khan S, Saubolle MA, Oubsuntia T, et al. Interlaboratory agreement of coccidioidomycosis enzyme immunoassay from two different manufacturers. *Med Mycol*. 2018;(August):1-6. doi:10.1093/mmy/myy059
- 114. Elconin AF, Egeberg RO, Egeberg MC. Significance of soil salinity on the ecology of *Coccidioides immitis. J Bacteriol.* 1964;87:500-503.
- 115. Egeberg RO, Elconin AE, Egeberg MC. Effect of salinity and temperature on *Coccidioides immitis* and three antagonistic soil saprophytes. *J Bacteriol*. 1964;88:473-476.
- 116. Reed RE. Coccidioidomycosis in animals. Ariz Med. 1960;17:26-27.
- 117. Kolivras KN, Comrie AC. Modeling valley fever (coccidioidomycosis) incidence on the basis of climate conditions. *Int J Biometeorol.* 2003;47(2):87-101. doi:10.1007/s00484-002-0155-x
- 118. University of Arizona Water Resources Research Center. The El Niño-Southern Oscillation. https://wrrc.arizona.edu/el-niño-southern-oscillation.
- 119. Comrie AC. Climate factors influencing coccidioidomycosis seasonality and outbreaks. *Environ Health Perspect*. 2005;113(6):688-692. doi:10.1289/ehp.7786
- 120. Tamerius JD, Comrie AC. Coccidioidomycosis incidence in Arizona predicted by seasonal precipitation. *PLoS One*. 2011;6(6). doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0021009
- 121. Tong DQ, Wang JXL, Gill TE, Lei H, Wang B. Intensified dust storm activity and Valley fever infection in the southwestern United States. *Geophys Res Lett.* 2017;44(9):4304-4312. doi:10.1002/2017GL073524
- 122. Gorris M, Cat LA, Treseder K, Zender C, Randerson J. The spatiotemporal relationship between climate and Valley Fever in the Southwestern United States. In: *Eight Conference on Environment and Health*. Seattle, WA: American Meteorological Society; 2016.
- 123. Gorris ME, Cat LA, Zender CS, Treseder KK, Randerson JT. Coccidioidomycosis dynamics in relation to climate in the southwestern United States. *GeoHealth*. 2017.

doi:10.1002/2017GH000095

- Stacy PKR, Comrie AC, Yool SR. Modeling Valley Fever incidence in Arizona using a satellitederived soil moisture proxy. *GIScience Remote Sens*. 2012;49(2):299-316. doi:10.2747/1548-1603.49.2.299
- Coopersmith EJ, Bell JE, Benedict K, Shriber J, McCotter O, Cosh MH. Relating coccidioidomycosis (valley fever) incidence to soil moisture conditions. *GeoHealth*. 2017:51-63. doi:10.1002/2016GH000033
- 126. Swatek FE. Ecology of *Coccidioides immitis*. *Mycopathol Mycol Appl*. 1970;41(1-2):3-12. doi:10.1007/BF02051479
- Berman RJ, Friedman L, Pappagianis D, Smith CE. Survival of *Coccidioides immitis* under controlled conditions of temperature and humidity. *Am J Public Health Nations Health*. 1956;46(10):1317-1324.
- 128. Pappagianis D, Einstein H. Tempest from Tehachapi takes toll or *Coccidioides* conveyed aloft and afar. *West J Med.* 1978;129(6):527-530.
- 129. Schneider E, Hajjeh RA, Spiegel RA, et al. A coccidioidomycosis outbreak following the Northridge, Calif, earthquake. *JAMA*. 1997;277(11):904-908.
- 130. Smith CE, Beard RR. Effect of season and dust control on coccidioidomycosis. *J Am Med Assoc*. 1946;132(14):833-838.
- Tong DQ, Dan M, Wang T, Lee P. Long-term dust climatology in the western united states reconstructed from routine aerosol ground monitoring. *Atmos Chem Phys.* 2012;12(11):5189-5205. doi:10.5194/acp-12-5189-2012
- 132. Institute of Medicine. *The Influence Of Global Environmental Change on Infectious Disease Dynamics: Workshop Summary.*; 2014. doi:10.1371/image.pcbi.v01.i07.
- Comrie AC, Glueck MF. Assessment of climate-coccidioidomycosis model: Model sensitivity for assessing climatologic effects on the risk of acquiring coccidioidomycosis. *Ann N Y Acad Sci*. 2007;1111:83-95. doi:10.1196/annals.1406.024
- 134. U.S. Census Bureau. Census Bureau Regions and Divisions with State FIPS Codes. http://www2.census.gov/geo/docs/maps-data/maps/reg\_div.txt.
- 135. Entwisle B, Stern PC. The Urban Ecology of Metropolitan Phoenix: A Laboratory for Interdisciplinary Study. In: Entwisle B, Stern PC, eds. *Population, Land Use, and Environment: Research Directions*. Washington, DC: National Academies Press (US); 2005. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK22960/.
- 136. Pianalto F. Estimating sources of Valley Fever pathogen propagation in southern Arizona: A remote sensing approach. 2013. http://arizona.openrepository.com/arizona/handle/10150/311322.
- 137. Colson AJA, Vredenburgh L, Guevara RRE, Rangel NNP, Kloock CCT, Lauer A. Large-scale land development, fugitive dust, and increased Coccidioidomycosis incidence in the Antelope Valley of California, 1999-2014. *Mycopathologia*. 2017;182([Epub ahead of print]):1999-2014. doi:10.1007/s11046-016-0105-5
- 138. Guevara RE, Motala T, Terashita D. The changing epidemiology of coccidioidomycosis in Los

Angeles (LA) county, California, 1973-2011. *PLoS One*. 2015;10(8):e0136753. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0136753

- 139. Arizona Department of Health Services. *Valley Fever Annual Report 2007*. Phoenix, AZ; 2008. http://azdhs.gov/documents/preparedness/epidemiology-disease-control/valley-fever/reports/valley-fever-2007.pdf.
- 140. US Census. Census of Population and Housing. https://www.census.gov/prod/www/decennial.html.
- 141. IMMY. sōna *Coccidioides* Antibody Lateral Flow Assay (LFA). http://www.immy.com/sona-cocci-ab-lfa/. Accessed February 16, 2020.
- 142. Huang JY, Henao OL, Griffin PM, et al. Infection with pathogens transmitted commonly through food and the effect of increasing use of culture-independent diagnostic tests on surveillance — Foodborne Diseases Active Surveillance Network, 10 U.S. Sites, 2012–2015. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2016;65(14):368-371. doi:10.15585/mmwr.mm6514a2
- 143. Ampel NM. What's behind the increasing rates of coccidioidomycosis in Arizona and California? *Curr Infect Dis Rep.* 2010;12(3):211-216. doi:10.1007/s11908-010-0094-3
- 144. AZMET : The Arizona Meteorological Network The University of Arizona. https://cals.arizona.edu/AZMET/index.html. Accessed April 4, 2020.
- 145. US EPA. Air Data: Air Quality Data Collected at Outdoor Monitors Across the US.
- 146. Hyndam R, Athanasopoulos G. Forecasting: Principles and Practice, 2nd Edition. https://otexts.com/fpp2/. Published 2018. Accessed April 4, 2020.
- 147. Core Team R. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. 2019. http://www.r-project.org.
- 148. Talamantes J, Behseta S, Zender CS. Statistical modeling of valley fever data in Kern County, California. *Int J Biometeorol*. 2007;51(4):307-313. doi:10.1007/s00484-006-0065-4
- 149. Talamantes J, Behseta S, Zender CS. Fluctuations in climate and incidence of coccidioidomycosis in Kern County, California: A review. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2007;1111:73-82. doi:10.1196/annals.1406.028
- 150. Zender CS, Talamantes J. Climate controls on valley fever incidence in Kern County, California. *Int J Biometeorol.* 2006;50(3):174-182. doi:10.1007/s00484-005-0007-6
- 151. Van Dyke MCCC, Thompson GR, Galgiani JN, Barker BM. The rise of *Coccidioides*: Forces against the dust devil unleashed. *Front Immunol*. 2019;10:2188. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2019.02188
- 152. Kawachi I. Income inequality and economic residential segregation. *J Epidemiol Community Health.* 2002. doi:10.1136/jech.56.3.165
- 153. Yang L, Jin S, Danielson P, et al. A new generation of the United States National Land Cover Database: Requirements, research priorities, design, and implementation strategies. *ISPRS J Photogramm Remote Sens*. 2018. doi:10.1016/j.isprsjprs.2018.09.006
- 154. US Census Bureau. Cartographic Boundary Shapefiles. https://www.census.gov/geo/maps-data/data/tiger-cart-boundary.html. Accessed April 30, 2016.

- 155. Anselin L. Local Indicators of Spatial Association-LISA. *Geogr Anal.* 2010;27(2):93-115. doi:10.1111/j.1538-4632.1995.tb00338.x
- 156. Waller LA, Zhu L, Gotway CA, Gorman DM, Gruenewald PJ. Quantifying geographic variations in associations between alcohol distribution and violence: A comparison of geographically weighted regression and spatially varying coefficient models. *Stoch Environ Res Risk Assess*. 2007;21(5):573-588. doi:10.1007/s00477-007-0139-9
- 157. Besag J, York J, Mollié A. Bayesian image restoration, with two applications in spatial statistics. *Ann Inst Stat Math.* 1991. doi:10.1007/BF00116466
- 158. Wheeler DC, Waller LA. Comparing spatially varying coefficient models: A case study examining violent crime rates and their relationships to alcohol outlets and illegal drug arrests. *J Geogr Syst.* 2009;11(1):1-22. doi:10.1007/s10109-008-0073-5
- 159. Lindgren F, Rue H. Bayesian spatial modelling with R-INLA. *J Stat Softw.* 2015. doi:10.18637/jss.v063.i19
- 160. Anselin L, Syabri I, Kho Y. GeoDa: An introduction to spatial data analysis. *Geogr Anal.* 2006. doi:10.1111/j.0016-7363.2005.00671.x
- 161. Pianalto FS, Yool SR. Monitoring fugitive dust emission sources arising from construction: a remote-sensing approach. *GIScience Remote Sens*. 2013;50(3):251-270. doi:10.1080/15481603.2013.808517
- 162. Levine H, Winn W. Isolation of Coccidioides *immitis* from soil. *Heal Lab Sci*. 1964;January(1):29-32.
- 163. Gu W, Dutta V, Patrick M, et al. Statistical adjustment of culture-independent diagnostic tests for trend analysis in the Foodborne Diseases Active Surveillance Network (FoodNet), USA. Int J Epidemiol. 2018;47(5):1613-1622. doi:10.1093/ije/dyy041
- 164. Benedict K, Ireland M, Weinberg MP, et al. Enhanced surveillance for coccidioidomycosis, 14 US States, 2016. *Emerg Infect Dis.* 2018;24(8):1444-1452. doi:10.3201/eid2408.171595
- 165. Shubitz LF, Butkiewicz CD, Dial SM, Lindan CP. Incidence of *Coccidioides* infection among dogs residing in a region in which the organism is endemic. *J Am Vet Med Assoc*. 2005;226(11):1846-1850. doi:10.2460/javma.2005.226.1846
- 166. Chaix B, Kestens Y, Perchoux C, Karusisi N, Merlo J, Labadi K. An interactive mapping tool to assess individual mobility patterns in neighborhood studies. *Am J Prev Med.* 2012;43(4):440-450. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2012.06.026